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Unless otherwise indicated, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Form 10-K”) to “Enovis,” “the Company,” “we,” “our,” and “us” refer to
Enovis Corporation and its subsidiaries.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the statements contained in this Form 10-K that are not historical facts are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions
for forward-looking statements contained in Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date this Form 10-K is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). All statements other than
statements of historical fact are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements, including statements regarding: the recently completed spin-off
of ESAB Corporation (“ESAB”) into an independent publicly traded company (the “Separation”); the anticipated benefits of the Separation; the expected
financial and operating performance of, and future opportunities for the Company following the Separation; the impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic,
including the rise, prevalence and severity of variants of the virus, the actions by governments, businesses and individuals in response to the situation, on the
global and regional economies, financial markets, and overall demand for our products; projections of revenue, profit margins, expenses, tax provisions and
tax rates, earnings or losses from operations, impact of foreign exchange rates, cash flows, synergies or other financial items; plans, strategies and objectives
of management for future operations including statements relating to potential acquisitions, compensation plans or purchase commitments; developments,
performance, industry or market rankings relating to products or services; future economic conditions or performance, including the impact of increasing
inflationary pressures; the outcome of outstanding claims or legal proceedings; potential gains and recoveries of costs; assumptions underlying any of the
foregoing; and any other statements that address activities, events or developments that we intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in
the future. Forward-looking statements may be characterized by terminology such as “believe,” “anticipate,” “should,” “would,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,”
“expect,” “estimate,” “project,” “positioned,” “strategy,” “target,” “aim,” “seek,” “see,” and similar expressions. These statements are based on assumptions
and assessments made by our management as of the filing of this Form 10-K in light of their experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions,
expected future developments and other factors we believe to be appropriate. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks and
uncertainties and actual results could differ materially due to numerous factors, including but not limited to the risks discussed in “Risk Factor Summary”
below.

Any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and actual results, developments and business decisions may differ
materially from those envisaged by such forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date this Form 10-K is filed with
the SEC. We do not assume any obligation and do not intend to update any forward-looking statement except as required by law.

RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

The following summarizes the principal factors that make an investment in Enovis speculative or risky, all of which are more fully described in the “Risk
Factors” in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in Part I of this Form 10-K. This summary should be read in connection with the “Risk Factors” section and should not
be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material risks facing our business.

The following factors could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and the trading price of our common
stock.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

• An inability to identify suitable acquisition candidates, complete any proposed acquisitions or successfully integrate the businesses we acquire.
• The availability of additional capital and our inability to pursue our growth strategy without it.
• Our indebtedness and our debt agreements, which contain restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.
• Our restructuring activities, which may subject us to additional uncertainty in our operating results.
• Any impairment in the value of our intangible assets, including Goodwill.
• A material disruption at any of our manufacturing facilities.
• Any failure to maintain and protect our intellectual property rights or challenges to these rights by third parties.
• The effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic.
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• Significant movements in foreign currency exchange rates, which may harm our financial results.
• The availability of raw materials, as well as parts and components used in our products, as well as the impact of raw material, energy and labor price

fluctuations and supply shortages.
• The competitive environment in which we operate.
• Changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities.
• Our reliance on a variety of distribution methods to market and sell our medical device products.

Risks Related to Government Regulation and Litigation Government Regulation and Litigation

• Extensive government regulation and oversight of our products, including the requirement to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals and clearances
• Safety issues or recalls of our products.
• Failure to comply with federal and state regulations related to the manufacture of our products.
• Risks associated with improper marketing or promotion of our products.
• Impacts of potential legislative or regulatory reforms on our business.
• Risks associated with the clinical trial process.
• Risks associated with the failure to comply with governmental regulations for products for which we obtain clearance or approval.
• Risks associated with product liability lawsuits.
• Our ability to obtain coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement from third party payors for our medical device products.
• Audits or denials of claims by government agencies.
• Federal and state health reform and cost control efforts.
• Our failure or the failure of our employees or third parties with which we have relationships to comply with healthcare laws and regulations.
• Our relationships with leading surgeons who assist with the development and testing of our products and our ability to comply with enhanced

disclosure requirements regarding payments to physicians.
• Actual or perceived failures to comply with applicable data protection, privacy and security laws, regulations, standards and other requirements.
• Our information technology infrastructure could be subject to service interruptions, data corruption, cyber-based attacks or network security breaches,

which could result in the disruption of operations or the loss of data confidentiality.
• Failure to comply with anti-bribery and export control laws, economic sanctions or other trade laws.

Risks Relating to the Separation

• Our ability to achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the Separation.
• If the Separation and/or certain related transactions do not qualify as transactions that are generally tax-free for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we

and our stockholders could be subject to significant tax liabilities.
• Potential indemnification liabilities to ESAB pursuant to the separation and distribution agreement and other related agreements.

General and Other Risks

• Changes in the general economy.
• Disruptions in the global economy caused by the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine.
• The loss of key leadership or the inability to attract, develop, engage, and retain qualified employees.
• The issuances of additional Common and Preferred stock or the resale of previously restricted Common stock, which may adversely affect the market

price of common stock.
• Provisions in our governing documents and Delaware law, which may delay or prevent an acquisition of Enovis that may be beneficial to our

stockholders.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

General

Enovis Corporation (the “Company”, “Enovis”, “we” or “us”, and previously “Colfax Corporation” or “Colfax”) is a medical technology company
focused on developing clinically differentiated solutions that generate measurably better patient outcomes and transform workflows by manufacturing, and
distributing high-quality medical devices with a broad range of products used for reconstructive surgery, rehabilitation, pain management and physical therapy.
Our products address the continuum of patient care from injury prevention to rehabilitation after surgery or injury or from degenerative disease, enabling
people to regain or maintain their natural motion. We seek to leverage our Enovis Growth eXcellence business system (“EGX”), a set of tools, processes, and
culture, to continuously improve our ability to enable great patient outcomes and to drive and fuel growth.

On April 4, 2022, we completed the separation of the last of our industrial businesses, the fabrication technology business, through a tax-free, pro-rata
distribution of 90% of the outstanding common stock of ESAB Corporation (“ESAB”) to Colfax stockholders. Prior to the Separation, we were a leading
diversified technology company that provided fabrication technology and medical device products and services to customers around the world, principally
under the ESAB and DJO Brands. To affect the Separation, we distributed to our stockholders one share of ESAB common stock for every three shares of
Colfax common stock held at the close of business on March 22, 2022, with the Company retaining 10% of the shares of ESAB common stock immediately
following the Separation. Upon completion of the Separation, Colfax, which retained the Company’s specialty medical technology business, changed its name
to Enovis Corporation and began trading under the stock symbol “ENOV” on the New York Stock Exchange on April 5, 2022. Immediately following the
Separation, the Company effected a one-for-three reverse stock split of all issued and outstanding shares of Enovis common stock. Following the the
completion of the Separation, the Company revised its reporting structure and conducts its business through two operating segments, “Prevention &
Recovery” and “Reconstructive”.

We divested our remaining 10% ownership stake in ESAB on November 18, 2022 by exchanging with a lender under the Company’s Credit Agreement,
dated as of April 4, 2022 (the “Enovis Credit Agreement”), ESAB common stock for $230.5 million of the $450.0 million term loan outstanding under our
Credit Agreement.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we completed four acquisitions and one investment within our Prevention & Recovery segment, and two
acquisitions within our Reconstructive segment. See Note 5, “Acquisitions”, for further information.

Our business management system, EGX, is integral to our operations. EGX is our culture and incorporates our values and drives our behaviors. EGX
consists of a comprehensive set of tools, and repeatable, teachable processes that we use to drive continuous improvement and create superior value for our
customers, shareholders and associates. We believe that our management team’s access to, and experience in, the application of the EGX methodology is one
of our primary competitive strengths. EGX was referred to as Colfax Business Systems, or CBS, prior to the Separation.

Each year, Enovis associates in every business develop strategic and operating plans that are based on the principle of the Voice of the Customer. In these
plans, we are clear about our market realities, our threats, our risks, our opportunities and, most importantly, our vision. Our belief is that when we use the
tools of EGX to drive the implementation of these plans, we are able to uniquely provide customers with the world-class quality, delivery, cost and innovation
they require. We believe that performance ultimately helps our customers and Enovis sustainably grow and succeed.

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused economic disruptions since its emergence in 2020. The emergence of variants and outbreaks have continued to
cause some volatility which slowed the pace of recovery in 2022. The pandemic and actions taken in response to it, as well as other market dynamics in recent
periods, have had a variety of impacts on our results of operations during the periods presented, including adverse impacts on sales levels. We continue to
experience cost inflation, supply chain challenges, such as logistics delays, as well as staffing shortages experienced by our customers (healthcare providers)
that continue to reduce capacity and procedures. We are taking actions in an effort to mitigate impacts to our supply chain, including purchasing and producing
additional inventory to protect our ability to meet customer demand; however, we expect these pressures to continue. In addition, there may be developments
outside our control that require us to further adjust our operations. Given the potential dynamic nature of this situation, including the rise, prevalence and
severity of variants of the
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virus, we cannot reasonably estimate the full impacts of COVID-19 on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows in the future.

Reportable Segments

We report our operations through the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments. We develop, manufacture and distribute high-quality medical
devices and services across the continuum of patient care from injury prevention to joint replacement to rehabilitation after surgery, injury or from
degenerative disease, enabling people to regain or maintain their natural motion. We reach a diverse customer base through multiple distribution channels, that
include both independent distributors and direct salespeople, and provide a wide range of medical devices and related products to orthopedic specialists and
other healthcare professionals operating in a variety of patient treatment settings and to retail consumers.

Prevention & Recovery

Our Prevention & Recovery segment includes products that are used by orthopedic specialists, surgeons, primary care physicians, pain management
specialists, physical therapists, podiatrists, chiropractors, athletic trainers and other healthcare professionals to treat patients with musculoskeletal conditions
resulting from degenerative diseases, deformities, traumatic events and sports-related injuries. In addition, many of our non-surgical medical devices and
related accessories are used by athletes and patients for injury prevention and at-home physical therapy treatment. Our Prevention & Recovery product lines
include rigid and soft orthopedic bracing, hot and cold therapy, bone growth stimulators, vascular therapy systems and compression garments, therapeutic
shoes and inserts, electrical stimulators used for pain management and physical therapy products.

Reconstructive

Our Reconstructive segment is an innovation-driven leader offering a comprehensive suite of reconstructive joint products for the hip, knee, shoulder,
elbow, foot, ankle, and finger and surgical productivity tools.

The following discussion includes information that is common to both of our reportable segments, unless indicated otherwise.

Industry and Competition

Our Prevention & Recovery segment generates approximately 67% of its revenues in the U.S. and the majority of the remaining balance in Europe. The
markets in which our Prevention & Recovery segment competes are highly competitive and fragmented. We believe the principal elements of competition are
innovation to create better patient outcomes, product quality, product reliability, brand names, and price. Key competitors for our Prevention & Recovery
segment include Össur and Breg, Inc.

Our Reconstructive segment generates approximately 69% of its revenues in the U.S. and the majority of the remaining balance in Europe. The markets in
which our Reconstructive segment competes are highly competitive and fragmented. We believe the principal elements of competition are innovation to create
better patient outcomes, product quality, product reliability, brand names, and price. We compete in the Reconstructive segment with large companies that
have significantly greater financial, marketing and other resources than we do, as well as numerous smaller niche companies. Key competitors competitors for
our Reconstructive segment include Stryker, Zimmer Biomet, and DePuy Synthes, the medical device business within Johnson & Johnson.

Given our history of innovation and the experience of our management team, we are capable of effectively competing in our markets. The comprehensive
range of products we offer enables us to reach a diverse customer base through multiple distribution channels with numerous opportunities to increase our
growth across our markets. Our management believes that we are a leading competitor in each of our markets with leading and well-recognized brands.

International Operations

Our principal market for our Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments outside the U.S. is Europe. For the year ended December 31, 2022,
approximately 32% of our Net sales were derived from operations outside the U.S., the majority of which is in Europe with the remaining portion mostly in
the Asia-Pacific region.
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Our international operations subject us to certain risks. See Part I. Item 1A. “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Operations”. The majority
of our sales are derived from international operations. We are subject to specific risks associated with international operations.

Research and Development

Our research and development activities vary by operating segment, focusing on innovation; developing new products, software and services, as well as
the enhancement of existing products with the latest technology and updated designs; creating new applications for existing products; lowering the cost of
manufacturing our existing products; and redesigning existing product lines to increase efficiency, improve durability, enhance performance and usability.

We receive new product and invention ideas from orthopedic surgeons and other healthcare professionals. We seek to obtain rights to ideas we consider
promising from a clinical and commercial perspective through entering into either assignment or licensing agreements. We maintain contractual relationships
with orthopedic surgeons who assist us in developing our products and may also provide consulting services in connection with our products.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, including patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets and contractual provisions to protect our
intellectual property both in the U.S. and around the world for both segments. Although we highlight recent additions to our patent portfolio as part of our
marketing efforts, we do not consider any one patent or trademark or any group thereof essential to our business as a whole or to any of our business
operations. We also rely on proprietary product knowledge and manufacturing processes in our operations. We do not rely solely on our patents and other
intellectual property rights to maintain our competitive position. We believe that the development and marketing of new products and improvement of existing
ones is, and will continue to be, more important to our competitive position than relying solely on existing products and intellectual property.

Raw Materials

We obtain raw materials, component parts and supplies from a variety of global sources, generally each from more than one supplier. Our principal raw
materials and components for our Prevention & Recovery segment are ethylene-vinyl acetate copolymer form for our bracing and vascular products. Our
principal raw materials and components for our Reconstructive segment are cobalt-chromium alloy, stainless steel alloys, titanium alloy and ultra-high
molecular weight polyethylene for our surgical implant products. Recent global supply chain issues have created challenges in acquiring certain raw materials,
component parts and supplies; however, our general use of more than one supplier for these helps to mitigate the risk of shortages or delays in the global
supply chain. Refer to the Risk Factor captioned “We are dependent on the availability of raw materials, as well as parts and components used in our
products,” for more information on this risk. We believe our sources of raw materials are adequate for our needs for the foreseeable future and the loss of any
one supplier would not have a material adverse effect on our business or results of operations.

Seasonality

Our sales typically peak in the fourth quarter; however, the business impact caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has distorted the effects of historical
seasonality patterns.

Regulatory Environment

U.S. Food and Drug Administration Regulation

In the United States, our products generally are subject to regulation by the FDA as medical devices pursuant to the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act
(the “FDCA”). The FDA regulates the development, design, non-clinical and clinical research, manufacturing, safety, efficacy, labeling, packaging, storage,
installation, servicing, recordkeeping, premarket clearance or approval, adverse event reporting, advertising, promotion, marketing and distribution, and
import and export of medical devices to ensure that medical devices distributed domestically are safe and effective for their intended uses and otherwise meet
the requirements of the FDCA.
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FDA Premarket Clearance and Approval Requirements

Unless an exemption applies, each medical device commercially distributed in the United States requires either FDA clearance of a 510(k) premarket
notification, grant of a de novo application, or approval of a premarket approval (“PMA”). Under the FDCA, medical devices are classified into either Class I,
Class II or Class III, depending on the degree of associated risk and the extent of manufacturer and regulatory control needed to ensure safety and
effectiveness. Class I includes devices with the lowest patient risk and are those for which safety and effectiveness can be assured by adherence to the FDA’s
general controls for medical devices, including compliance with applicable portions of the Quality System Regulation (“QSR”) facility registration and
product listing, reporting of adverse medical events, and truthful and non-misleading labeling, advertising, and promotional materials. Class II devices are
subject to the FDA’s General Controls, and special controls as deemed necessary by the FDA to ensure safety and effectiveness. Special controls can include
performance standards, post-market surveillance, patient registries and FDA guidance documents.

While most Class I devices are exempt from 510(k) premarket notification, most Class II device manufacturers must submit to the FDA a premarket
notification under Section 510(k) of the FDCA requesting permission for commercial distribution. Permission for commercial distribution subject to a 510(k)
premarket notification is generally known as 510(k) clearance. Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the greatest risks, such as life sustaining, life supporting
or some implantable devices, devices that have a new intended use, or that use advanced technology not substantially equivalent to that of a legally marketed
device, are placed in Class III, requiring approval of a PMA. Some pre-amendment devices are unclassified but subject to FDA’s premarket notification and
clearance process in order to be commercially distributed.

510(k) Clearance Marketing Pathway

Many of our current products are subject to premarket notification and clearance. To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit to the FDA a premarket
notification submission demonstrating that the proposed device is “substantially equivalent” to a predicate marketed device. A predicate device is a legally
marketed device not subject to PMA, i.e., that (i) was legally marketed prior to May 28, 1976 (pre-amendments device) and for which a PMA is not required,
(ii) has been reclassified from Class III to Class II or I, or (iii) was found substantially equivalent through the 510(k) process. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance
process usually takes from three to twelve months, but often takes longer. The FDA may require additional information, including clinical data, to make a
determination regarding substantial equivalence. In addition, the FDA collects user fees for certain medical device submissions and annual fees for medical
device establishments.

If the FDA agrees that the device is substantially equivalent to a predicate device currently on the market, it will grant 510(k) clearance to commercially
market the device. If the FDA determines that the device is “not substantially equivalent” to a previously cleared device, the device is automatically
designated as a Class III device. The device sponsor must then fulfill more rigorous PMA requirements, or a risk-based classification determination can be
requested for the device in accordance with the “de novo” process, a route to market for novel medical devices that are low to moderate risk and not
substantially equivalent to a predicate.

After a device receives 510(k) marketing clearance, any modification that could significantly affect its safety or effectiveness, or that would constitute a
major change or modification in its intended use, will require either a new clearance or PMA approval. The FDA requires each manufacturer to determine
whether a proposed change requires submission of a 510(k) or a PMA in the first instance, but the FDA can review any such decision and disagree with a
manufacturer’s determination. If the FDA disagrees with a manufacturer’s determination, the FDA can require the manufacturer to cease marketing and/or
request the recall of the modified device until clearance or PMA approval is obtained. The manufacturer may also be subject to significant regulatory fines or
penalties.

De Novo Classification

Devices of a new type that FDA has not previously classified based on risk are automatically classified into Class III, regardless of the level of risk they
pose. To avoid requiring PMA review of low- to moderate-risk devices classified in Class III by operation of law, Congress enacted a provision allowing FDA
to classify a low- to moderate-risk device not previously classified into Class I or II. After de novo authorization, an authorized device may be used as a
predicate for future devices going through the 510(k) process.
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PMA Approval Pathway

Class III devices require approval of a PMA before they can be marketed, although some pre-amendment Class III devices for which the FDA has not yet
required a PMA are cleared through the 510(k) process. The PMA process is more demanding than the 510(k) process. In a PMA application, the
manufacturer must demonstrate that the device is safe and effective, and the PMA application must be supported by extensive data, including data from
preclinical studies and human clinical trials. The FDA will approve the device for commercial distribution if it determines that the data and information in the
PMA application constitute valid scientific evidence and that there is reasonable assurance that the device is safe and effective for its intended use(s).

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials are almost always required to support a PMA and are sometimes required to support a 510(k) submission. All clinical investigations of
devices to determine safety and effectiveness must be conducted in accordance with the FDA’s Investigational Device Exemption (“IDE”) regulations, which
govern investigational device labeling, prohibit promotion of the investigational device, and specify an array of recordkeeping, reporting and monitoring
responsibilities of study sponsors and study investigators. If the device presents a “significant risk” to human health, the FDA requires the device sponsor to
submit an IDE application to the FDA, which must become effective prior to commencing human clinical trials. A significant risk device is one that presents a
potential for serious risk to patient health, safety, or welfare and is implanted, used in supporting or sustaining human life, substantially important in
diagnosing, curing, mitigating or treating disease or otherwise preventing impairment of human health, or otherwise presents a potential for serious risk to a
subject. An IDE application must be supported by appropriate data, such as animal and laboratory test results, showing that it is safe to test the device in
humans and that the testing protocol is scientifically sound. An IDE will automatically become effective 30 days after the FDA’s receipt unless the FDA
notifies the company that the investigation may not begin. If the FDA finds deficiencies or other concerns with an IDE for which it requires modification, the
FDA may permit a clinical trial to proceed under a conditional approval.

During a study, the sponsor must comply with applicable FDA requirements, including, for example, trial monitoring, selecting clinical investigators and
providing them with the investigational plan, ensuring Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) review, adverse event reporting, record keeping, and prohibitions
on the promotion of investigational devices or on making safety or effectiveness claims for them. The clinical investigators are also subject to FDA
regulations and must obtain patient informed consent, rigorously follow the investigational plan and study protocol, control the disposition of the
investigational device, and comply with all reporting and recordkeeping requirements. Additionally, after a trial begins, we, the FDA, or the IRB could
suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that risks outweigh anticipated benefits.

Post-market Regulation

After a device is cleared or approved for marketing, numerous and pervasive regulatory requirements continue to apply. These include:

• establishment registration and device listing with the FDA;
• QSR requirements, which require manufacturers to follow stringent design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures

during the design and manufacturing process;
• labeling regulations and FDA prohibitions against the promotion of investigational products, or the promotion of “off-label” uses of cleared or

approved products;
• requirements related to promotional activities;
• clearance or approval of product modifications to 510(k)-cleared devices that could significantly affect safety or effectiveness or that would constitute

a major change in intended use of cleared devices, or approval of certain modifications to PMA-approved devices;
• medical device reporting regulations, which require that a manufacturer report to the FDA if a device it markets may have caused or contributed to a

death or serious injury, or has malfunctioned and the device or a similar device that it markets would be likely to cause or contribute to a death or
serious injury, if the malfunction were to recur;

• correction, removal and recall reporting regulations, which require that manufacturers report to the FDA field corrections and product recalls or
removals if undertaken to reduce a risk to health or to remedy a violation of the FDCA that may present a risk to health;

• the FDA’s recall authority, whereby the agency can order device manufacturers to recall from the market a product that violates governing laws and
regulations; and
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• post-market surveillance activities and regulations, which apply when deemed by the FDA to be necessary to protect the public health or to provide
additional safety and effectiveness data for the device.

Our failure to maintain compliance with FDA regulatory requirements could result in the shut-down of, or restrictions on, our manufacturing operations
and the recall or seizure of our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

The FDA has broad regulatory compliance and enforcement powers. If the FDA determines that we failed to comply with applicable regulatory
requirements, it can take a variety of compliance or enforcement actions, which may result in untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent
decrees and civil penalties, unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions, customer notifications or repair, replacement, refunds, recall,
detention or seizure of our products, operating restrictions, partial suspension or total shutdown of production, refusing or delaying our requests for regulatory
approvals or clearances of new products or modified products, withdrawing a PMA that has already been granted, refusal to grant export approval for our
products, or criminal prosecution.

Regulation of Medical Devices in the EU

In the EU, our products generally are regulated as medical devices under Regulation (EU) 2017/745 (“MDR”), which as of May 2021 repealed and
replaced the Medical Devices Directive (93/42/EEC) (“MDD”). Each EU Member State enforces the MDR’s requirements against manufacturers, importers,
authorized representatives and distributors, among others, that place or make medical devices available in the EU market. The MDR also includes provisions
for national authorities to inform other competent authorities, the European Commission (the “EC”), and certain other bodies of certain non-compliance.

Under the MDR, a medical device placed on the EU market must meet applicable General Safety and Performance Requirements (“GSPRs”), including
that the device’s risks to patient condition or safety or to the safety and health of others must not outweigh its benefits. Other GSPRs include requirements that
the device must achieve the manufacturer’s intended performance and be designed, manufactured and packaged in a suitable manner, and that the
manufacturer must establish, implement, document and maintain a risk management plan. To demonstrate GSPR compliance, manufacturers must undergo a
conformity assessment procedure that varies by medical device type and classification. These procedures require an assessment of available clinical evidence,
literature data, and post-market experience in respect of similar marketed products.

For all devices other than low risk devices, a conformity assessment procedure requires the involvement of a notified body to audit and examine technical
documentation and the manufacturer’s quality management system. If satisfied that the product conforms to the relevant GSPR and the company has an MDR-
compliant quality management system meeting, the notified body issues a CE Certificate of Conformity, which the manufacturer uses as a basis for its own
declaration of conformity. The manufacturer may then affix the CE mark to the device, which affirms conformity with applicable requirements and allows the
device to be placed on the market throughout the EU.

Once a device is placed on the market in the EU, strict post-marketing obligations apply, including requirements to maintain post-market surveillance and
vigilance systems, to report serious incidents and field safety corrective actions, and to submit periodic safety update reports or post-market surveillance
reports. Authorities in the EU closely monitor the marketing programs implemented by device companies. The MDR prohibits making misleading claims,
including promoting the product for or suggesting a use that is not part of its intended purpose.

Although the MDR now applies in the EU, transitional provisions apply to legacy devices CE marked under the MDD. During a transitional period,
certificates issued for medical devices under the MDD before May 26, 2021 remain valid until the earlier of the expiry date indicated on the Certificate of
Conformity and May 27, 2024. So long as there are no significant changes in the design and intended purpose of these devices, and provided that the
manufacturer comply with MDR provisions regarding vigilance, post-market surveillance and registration of economic operators and medical devices, such
devices can continue to be marketed in the EU until a revised EU MDR deadline in 2026. We are actively working toward being MDR-compliant and
interactions with our notified body are underway. Because of the permitted transitional periods, our medical devices will require recertification prior to the
dates on which the Certificates of Conformity under the MDD become void.

Regulation of Medical Devices in the United Kingdom

In the United Kingdom, medical devices are regulated under the largely MDD-derived Medical Devices Regulations 2002 (“UK MDR 2002”). The UK
route to market and UK Conformity Assessed (“UKCA”) marking requirements are thus based on
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the requirements derived from EU legislation, although the MDR does not apply in the UK. All medical devices must be registered with the UK Medicines
and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (“MHRA”) before being placed on the UK market, and must conform to the UK MDR 2002 in order to be
registered with the MHRA. In addition, devices that have been CE marked under the MDD will continue to be accepted on the UK market until June 30, 2024.
Although the MDR is not directly applicable in the UK, medical devices validly CE marked in accordance with the MDR can also be marketed in the UK.
From July 2024, devices that are placed on the Great Britain market will need to conform with UKCA marking requirements unless specific transitional
provisions apply (this is likely to be the case for products CE marked in the EU according to the MDR). The UKCA marking is a UK product marking used
for certain goods, including medical devices, being placed on the UK market. For the purposes of the UKCA marking, a UK Approved Body must be used in
cases where third party conformity assessment is required.

Other Healthcare Laws

Third-party Coverage and Reimbursement

Sales of our medical device products depend largely on whether there is coverage and adequate reimbursement by government healthcare programs, such
as Medicare and Medicaid, and by private payors.

Third-party payors review their coverage policies carefully and can, without notice, reduce or eliminate reimbursement. For instance, they may attempt to
control costs by (i) authorizing fewer elective surgical procedures, (ii) requiring the use of the least expensive product available, (iii) reducing the
reimbursement for, or limiting the number of, authorized visits for rehabilitation procedures, (iv) bundling reimbursement for all services related to an episode
of care, or (v) otherwise restricting coverage or reimbursement of our medical device products or procedures using these products. Further, payors may require
additional evidence, beyond the data required for FDA marketing authorization, to demonstrate that a device should be covered for a particular indication or
reimbursed at a higher rate than other technologies.

Medicare payment for Durable Medical Equipment, Prosthetics, Orthotics, and Supplies (“DMEPOS”) also can be impacted by the DMEPOS competitive
bidding program, under which Medicare rates are based on bid amounts for certain products in designated geographic areas, rather than the Medicare fee
schedule amount. Only those suppliers selected through the competitive bidding process within each designated competitive bidding area are eligible to have
their products reimbursed by Medicare. The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services also has adopted regulations to adjust national DMEPOS fee
schedules to take into account competitive bidding pricing.

Each payor has a unique process for determining whether to cover a device for a particular indication and how to set reimbursement rates for the device.
However, because many private payors model their coverage and reimbursement policies on Medicare, other third-party payors’ coverage of, and
reimbursement for, our medical device products also could be negatively impacted by legislative, regulatory or other measures that restrict Medicare coverage
or reduce Medicare reimbursement.

Additionally, federal and state legislatures and regulators have periodically considered proposals to limit which orthopedic professionals can fit or sell our
orthotic products or can seek reimbursement for them. Several states have adopted legislation imposing certification or licensing requirements on the
measuring, fitting, and adjusting of certain orthotic devices, and additional states may do so in the future. Some of these state laws do not exempt
manufacturers’ representatives. In addition, legislation has been adopted, but not yet implemented, requiring certain certification or licensing for individuals
and suppliers furnishing certain custom-fabricated orthotic devices as a condition of Medicare payment. Medicare currently follows state policies in those
states that require the use of an orthotist or prosthetist for furnishing of orthotics or prosthetics.

International sales of medical device products also depend in part upon the coverage and eligibility for reimbursement through government-sponsored
healthcare payment systems and third-party payors, the amount of reimbursement, and the cost allocation of payments between the patient and government-
sponsored healthcare payment systems and third-party payors. Coverage and reimbursement practices vary significantly by country, with certain countries
requiring products to undergo a lengthy regulatory review in order to be eligible for third-party coverage and reimbursement. In addition, healthcare cost
containment efforts similar to those we face in the United States are prevalent in many of the countries in which our products are sold, and these efforts are
expected to continue in the future, possibly resulting in the adoption of more stringent reimbursement standards. In order to obtain reimbursement in some
European Economic Area (“EEA”), countries, we may be required to compile additional data comparing the cost-effectiveness of our products to other
available therapies. Health Technology Assessment (“HTA”) of both medicinal products and medical devices is becoming an increasingly common part of
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pricing and reimbursement procedures in some EEA countries. The HTA process, which is currently governed by national laws in each EEA country, is the
assessment of therapeutic, economic, and societal impact of a medical product in the country. The outcome of an HTA will often influence pricing and
reimbursement status. The extent to which pricing and reimbursement decisions are influenced by the HTA currently varies between EEA countries. However,
a new EU HTA regulation applicable to all EEA countries beginning in January 2025 aims to harmonize the clinical benefit assessment of HTA across the
EEA and provides the basis for cooperation at the EEA level for joint clinical assessments.

Healthcare Reform

In the United States, there have been and continue to be legislative, regulatory, and other initiatives to contain healthcare costs or establish other policy
that have affected and could adversely affect our business. For example, the U.S. Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), enacted in 2010, was a
sweeping measure generally designed to expand access to affordable health insurance, control health care spending, and improve health care quality. Several
ACA provisions specifically affect the medical equipment industry. Among other things, the ACA established enhanced Medicare and Medicaid program
integrity provisions, including expanded documentation requirements for Medicare DMEPOS orders, more stringent procedures for screening Medicare and
Medicaid DMEPOS suppliers, and new disclosure requirements regarding manufacturer payments to physicians and teaching hospitals, along with broader
expansion of federal fraud and abuse authorities.

Some of the ACA’s provisions, or its implementing regulations, have been subject to judicial challenges as well as efforts to modify them or alter their
interpretation or implementation. For example, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 eliminated the tax-based shared responsibility payment imposed by the
ACA on certain individuals who fail to maintain qualifying health coverage for all or part of a year. Future efforts to modify or invalidate the ACA or its
implementing regulations, or portions thereof, remain possible and could affect our business. We cannot predict what effect further changes related to the ACA
would have on our business.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted since the ACA was enacted. The Budget Control Act of 2011 among other things resulted in
aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of, on average, 2% per fiscal year through the first half of fiscal year 2031 (with the exception of a
temporary suspension from May 2020 through March 2022, and a reduction to 1% thereafter through June 2022 due to the COVID-19 pandemic). These cuts
could adversely affect payment for any products we may commercialize in the future. Many states have adopted or are considering policies to reduce Medicaid
spending as a result of state budgetary shortfalls, which in some cases include reduced reimbursement for DMEPOS items and/or other Medicaid coverage
restrictions.

Additionally, changes in federal laws, regulations, and guidance can affect state policy. For instance, the 21st Century Cures Act prohibits federal
financial participation payments to states for certain Medicaid DME spending that exceeds what Medicare would have paid for such items. Any modification
or repeal of any provisions of the ACA, or its implementing regulations, may require states to modify their own laws and regulations. As states continue to
face significant financial pressures, it is possible that states will amend existing laws and regulations or enact new laws or promulgate new regulations aimed
at controlling costs or otherwise changing applicable policy, any of which could adversely affect our profitability.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

We are subject to various federal, state and foreign laws and regulations pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse, including false claims, self-referrals,
anti-kickback laws, physician payment transparency laws, and other health care laws and regulations. In particular, the promotion, sales, and marketing of
health care items and services is subject to extensive laws and regulations designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These
laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive and other
business arrangements and include the following:

• The U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully offering, paying, soliciting or receiving any
remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind to return for patient referrals or to
induce or in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the purchase, lease or order of any good, facility, item or
service reimbursable, in whole or in part, under Medicare, Medicaid or other federal health care programs. The term “remuneration” has been broadly
interpreted to include anything of value. Although a number of statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors protect some common activities from
prosecution, they are narrow. Practices that may be alleged to be intended to induce purchases or recommendations, including any payments of more
than fair market value, may be
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subject to scrutiny if they do not qualify for an exception or safe harbor. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of this statute or
specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation.

• The U.S. federal civil False Claims Act prohibits, among other things, any person or entity from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, a
false or fraudulent claim for payment of federal funds or knowingly making or causing to be made a false statement to improperly avoid, decrease or
conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. The government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a
violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal civil False Claims Act. The False
Claims Act also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of themselves and the federal government alleging
violations of the statute and to share in any monetary recovery.

• The U.S. civil monetary penalties statute prohibits, among other things, the offer or transfer of remuneration, including waivers of copayments and
deductible amounts (or any part thereof), to a Medicare or state healthcare program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to
influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider, practitioner or supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state healthcare
program, subject to certain exceptions.

• The U.S. Physician Self-Referral Law, commonly referred to as the Stark law, prohibits physicians from referring patients to receive certain
“designated health services” payable by Medicare or Medicaid, including DMEPOS products and supplies, from entities with which the physician or
an immediate family member has a financial relationship, unless an exception applies.

• The healthcare fraud provisions under the U.S. federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) impose criminal
liability for, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program,
including private third-party payors, or to obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any money or property
owned by, or under the custody or control of, any health care benefit program, including private third-party payors. Similar to the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, a violation does not require actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent.

• The U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act imposes reporting and disclosure requirements on device manufacturers with respect to ownership and
investment interests by physicians and members of their immediate family as well as certain payments or other “transfers of value” made to
physicians, certain non-physician practitioners and teaching hospitals.

• State and foreign equivalents of each of the health care laws described above, among others, some of which may be broader in scope including,
without limitation, state anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving health care
items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third party payors, including private insurers, or that apply regardless of payor; state laws that
require device companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the
federal government; state laws that require device manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians
and other health care providers, marketing expenditures; and state and local laws requiring the registration of device sales and medical
representatives.

Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal and/or civil sanctions, including, in some instances, fines, imprisonment and, within the United States,
exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and Veterans Administration health programs. Refer to the
Risk Factor captioned “Our relationships with customers, physicians and third-party payors are subject to federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws,
false claims laws, physician payment transparency laws and other health care laws and regulations” for a more fulsome discussion of these laws.

Many European countries also have healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations, which may vary greatly among countries. For example, the
advertising and promotion of our products is subject to EU Directives concerning misleading and comparative advertising and unfair commercial practices, as
well as other EU Member State legislation governing the advertising and promotion of medical devices. In the EU, failure to comply with advertising and
promotional laws may result in reputational damage, fines, exclusions from public tenders and actions for damages from competitors for unfair competition.

Data Privacy and Security Laws

Our business is subject to U.S. federal privacy and security laws and regulations. HIPAA governs the use, disclosure, and security of protected health
information (“PHI”) by HIPAA “covered entities” and their “business associates.” Covered entities are health plans, health care clearinghouses and health care
providers that engage in specific types of electronic transactions. A business associate is any person or entity (other than members of a covered entity’s
workforce) that performs a service for or on behalf of a covered entity that involve creating, receiving, maintaining or transmitting PHI. Healthcare providers
that prescribe our products and from which we obtain patient health information are subject to privacy and security requirements under
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HIPAA, as are we in certain circumstances. Further, various states, such as California and Massachusetts, have implemented similar privacy laws and
regulations that impose restrictive requirements regulating the use and disclosure of health information and other personally identifiable information. These
laws and regulations are not necessarily preempted by HIPAA, particularly if a state affords greater protection to individuals than HIPAA. If the states in
which we conduct our business are more protective, we may have to comply with the stricter provisions.

The legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data security continues to evolve, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data
security issues with the potential to affect our business. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), as amended by the California Privacy
Rights Act (“CPRA”), contains disclosure obligations for businesses that collect personal information about California residents and affords those individuals
new rights relating to their personal information that may affect our ability to use personal information. A November 2020 California ballot initiative
introduced amendments to the CCPA and established and funded a dedicated privacy regulator, the California Privacy Protection Agency (the “CPPA”). These
amendments become effective in January 2023, and we expect the CPPA to introduce implementing regulations. Failure to comply with the CCPA may result
in, among other things, significant civil penalties and injunctive relief or statutory or actual damages. In addition, California residents have the right to bring a
private right of action in connection with certain types of incidents. These claims may result in significant liability and potential damages. We have
implemented processes to manage compliance with the CCPA and continue to assess the impact of the CPRA on our business. Other states have enacted
similar privacy laws that impose new obligations or limitations in areas affecting our business and we continue to assess the impact of these state legislation,
on our business as additional information and guidance becomes available. Efforts at the federal level to enact similar laws are ongoing.

The Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) also sets expectations for failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure, or
failing to provide a level of security commensurate to promises made to individual about the security of their personal information (such as in a privacy
notice) may constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (the “FTC Act”). The FTC
expects a company’s data security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size
and complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Individually identifiable health information is
considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards. With respect to privacy, the FTC also sets expectations that companies honor the privacy promises
made to individuals about how the company handles consumers’ personal information; any failure to honor promises, such as the statements made in a privacy
policy or on a website, may also constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of the FTC Act.

We also operate in a number of foreign countries with laws in some cases more stringent than U.S. requirements. EEA regulation of the processing of
personal data and the free movement of such data includes the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), the E-Privacy Directive 2002/58/EC (the “E-
Privacy Directive”) and national laws implementing each. The GDPR imposes strict obligations and restrictions on the ability to collect, analyze and transfer
personal data, especially sensitive personal data, such as health data from clinical investigations, and safety reporting. We process employee and customer
data, including health and medical information.

The GDPR was retained in the UK post-Brexit as the UK GDPR. The “Data Protection and Digital Information Bill” was introduced to Parliament in July
2022, and we continue to monitor developments to assess comparability with the GDPR. Many EEA countries have also transposed the E-Privacy Directive’s
requirements and passed legislation addressing areas where the GDPR permits countries to derogate from the GDPR, leading to divergent requirements in
spite of the GDPR’s stated goal of EEA-wide uniformity.

In order to process and transfer data, explicit consent to the processing (including any cross-border transfer) may be required from the person to whom the
personal data relates, though in certain cases, and depending on the jurisdiction in which the data originate or are processed, such data may be processed
absent explicit consent for purposes of medical diagnosis, the interest of public health (including medical device safety and efficacy) or scientific research.
The same rules currently apply to us in the UK under the UK GDPR and in relation to transfers out of the UK. We continue to assess ongoing reform efforts
for changes. The EC and the United States announced in March 2022 agreement in principle on a new Trans-Atlantic Data Privacy Framework with respect to
data transfers to the United States, and, in October 2022, President Biden signed an Executive Order that implements the new framework. On this basis, the
EC will prepare a draft adequacy decision and then launch its own adoption procedure.

We depend on third parties in relation to provision of our services, a number of which process personal data on our behalf. We have a practice of entering
into contractual arrangements with such third parties to ensure that they process personal data
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only according to our instructions, and that they have instituted adequate security measures. Where personal data is being transferred outside the EEA (or the
UK), our policy is that it is done so in compliance with applicable data export requirements. Any failure by us or third parties to follow these policies or
practices, or otherwise comply with applicable data laws, could lead to a security or privacy breach, regulatory enforcement, or regulatory or financial harm.

Human Capital Management

As of December 31, 2022, we employed approximately 6,800 persons, of whom approximately 2,100 were employed in the United States and
approximately 4,700 were employed outside of the United States. None of our associates are covered by collective bargaining agreements with U.S. trade
unions. Approximately 46% of our associates are represented by foreign trade unions and work councils in Europe, Asia, Central America, and Australia,
which could subject us to arrangements very similar to collective bargaining agreements. We have not experienced any work stoppages or strikes that have had
a material adverse impact on operations. We consider our relations with our associates to be good.

At Enovis, we believe that the best team wins. Our growth model is focused in part on acquiring good companies, empowering our talent and using EGX
to make them great. Culture and associate development are critical to our success. We are a diverse team of associates around the world. We empower our
associates through our culture that is centered on our corporate purpose – “Creating Better Together,” which means we are committed to attracting and
developing great talent and rewarding our associates to build and sustain our company. Our internal human capital management programs center on the
following processes and objectives: (i) identifying, attracting, developing and enabling talent, (ii) promoting associate engagement and an open feedback
culture to foster continuous improvement, (iii) offering competitive compensation and benefit programs to motivate associates and reward performance, (iv)
building and supporting inclusion, diversity, and equity initiatives, and (v) protecting the health and safety of all of our associates across the world.

Company Information and Access to SEC Reports

We were organized as a Delaware corporation in 1998. Our principal executive offices are located at 2711 Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington,
Delaware, 19808, and our main telephone number at that address is (302) 252-9160. Our corporate website address is www.enovis.com.

We make available, free of charge through our website at ir.enovis.com/sec-filings, our annual and quarterly reports on Form 10-K and Form 10-Q
(including related filings in XBRL format), current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to those reports as soon as practicable after filing or furnishing
the material to the SEC. You may also request a copy of these filings, at no cost, by writing or telephoning us at: Investor Relations, Enovis Corporation, 2711
Centerville Road, Suite 400, Wilmington, Delaware, 19808, telephone (302) 252-9160. Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference
in this report and any references to our website are intended as inactive textual references only. Additionally, the SEC maintains an Internet site that contains
our reports, proxy statements and other information that we electronically file with, or furnish to, the SEC at www.sec.gov.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

An investment in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below,
together with the information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K and other documents we file with the SEC. The risks and uncertainties described below
are those that we have identified as material, but may not be the only risks to which Enovis might be exposed. Additional risks and uncertainties, which are
currently unknown to us or that we do not currently consider to be material, may materially affect the business of Enovis and could have material adverse
effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any of the following risks were to occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and liquidity could be materially adversely affected, the value of our Common stock could decline and investors could lose all or part of the value
of their investment in Enovis shares.

Risks in this section are grouped in the following categories: (1) Risks Related to Our Business and Operations; (2) Risks Related to Government
Regulation and Litigation; (3) Risks Related to the Separation; and (4) General and Other Risks. Many risks affect more than one category, and the risks are
not in order of significance or probability of occurrence because they have been grouped by categories.

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

Acquisitions have formed a significant part of our growth strategy in the past and are expected to continue to do so. If we are unable to identify
suitable acquisition candidates, complete any proposed acquisitions or successfully integrate the businesses we acquire, our growth strategy may not succeed
and we may not realize the anticipated benefits of our acquisitions.

We intend to seek acquisition opportunities both to expand into new markets and to enhance our position in our existing markets. However, our
ability to do so will depend on a number of steps, including our ability to: obtain debt or equity financing that we may need to complete proposed acquisitions;
identify suitable acquisition candidates; negotiate appropriate acquisition terms; complete the proposed acquisitions; and integrate the acquired business into
our existing operations. If we fail to achieve any of these steps, our growth strategy may not be successful.

Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the operations, systems, controls, technologies, personnel, services
and products of the acquired company, the potential loss of key employees, customers, suppliers and distributors of the acquired company, and the diversion of
our management’s attention from other business concerns. The failure to successfully integrate acquired businesses in a timely manner, or at all, or the
incurrence of significant unanticipated expenses associated with integration activities, including information technology integration fees, legal compliance
costs, facility closure costs and other restructuring expenses, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, the anticipated benefits of an acquisition may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than we expect. Actual
operating, technological, strategic and sales synergies, if achieved at all, may be less significant than we expect or may take longer to achieve than anticipated.
If we are not able to realize the anticipated benefits and synergies from our acquisitions within a reasonable time, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be adversely affected.

Additionally, we may underestimate or fail to discover liabilities relating to acquisitions during our due diligence investigations and we, as the
successor owner of an acquired company, might be responsible for those liabilities. Such liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We may require additional capital to finance our operating needs and to finance our growth, including acquisitions. If the terms on which the
additional capital is available are unsatisfactory, if the additional capital is not available at all or if we are not able to fully access credit under our Enovis
Credit Agreement, we may not be able to pursue our growth strategy.

Our growth strategy will require additional capital investment to complete acquisitions, integrate the completed acquisitions into our existing
operations and expand into new markets. We intend to pay for future acquisitions using cash, capital stock, notes, assumption of indebtedness or any
combination of the foregoing. To the extent that we do not generate sufficient cash internally to provide the capital we require to fund our growth strategy and
future operations, we will require additional debt or equity financing. This additional financing may not be available or, if available, may not be on terms
acceptable to us. Further, high volatility in the capital markets and in our stock price may make it difficult for us to access the capital markets at attractive
prices, if at all. If we are unable to obtain sufficient additional capital in the future, it may limit our ability to fully implement our growth strategy. Even if
future debt financing is available, it may result in (i) increased interest
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expense, (ii) increased term loan payments, (iii) increased leverage and (iv) decreased income available to fund further acquisitions and expansion. It may also
limit our ability to withstand competitive pressures and make us more vulnerable to economic downturns. If future equity financing is available, issuances of
our equity securities may significantly dilute our existing stockholders.

Our indebtedness could adversely affect our financial condition and restricts us in ways that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

We have outstanding debt and other financial obligations and significant unused borrowing capacity, and may incur or assume more debt in the
future. Our debt level and related debt service obligations could have negative consequences, including: requiring us to dedicate significant cash flow from
operations to the payment of amounts payable on our debt, which would reduce the funds we have available for other purposes; making it more difficult or
expensive for us to obtain any necessary future financing; increasing our leverage and reducing our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our
industry and market conditions; making us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business; and exposing us to interest rate risk given our debt
obligations at variable interest rates. In addition, our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our debt obligations depends on our financial
condition and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to financial, business, legislative, regulatory,
and other factors, some of which are beyond our control.

Additionally, the Enovis Credit Agreement, which governs our term loan and revolving credit facility, contains various covenants that limit our
ability to engage in specified types of transactions. These covenants limit the Company’s ability to incur debt or liens, merge or consolidate with others,
dispose of assets, or make investments or pay dividends. The Enovis Credit Agreement also contains financial covenants requiring the Company to satisfy and
maintain compliance with a total leverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. Upon an event of default, the lenders may, subject to various customary cure
rights, require the immediate payment of all amounts outstanding. These restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

Our restructuring activities may subject us to additional uncertainty in our operating results.

We have implemented, and plan to continue to implement, restructuring programs designed to facilitate key strategic initiatives and maintain long-
term sustainable growth. As such, we have incurred and expect to continue to incur expenses relating to restructuring activities. We may not achieve or sustain
the anticipated benefits, including any anticipated savings, of these restructuring programs or initiatives. Further, restructuring efforts are inherently risky, and
we may not be able to predict the cost and timing of such actions accurately or properly estimate their impact.

Any impairment in the value of our intangible assets, including Goodwill, would negatively affect our operating results and total capitalization.

Our Total assets reflect substantial intangible assets, primarily Goodwill. The Goodwill results from our acquisitions, representing the excess of cost
over the fair value of the net assets we have acquired. We assess at least annually whether there has been impairment in the value of our Goodwill. If future
operating performance at one or more of our business units were to fall significantly below current levels, if competing or alternative technologies emerge, or
if market conditions for an acquired business decline, we could incur, under current applicable accounting rules, a non-cash charge to operating earnings for
Goodwill impairment. Any determination requiring the write-off of a significant portion of intangible assets would adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations and total capitalization, the effect of which could be material.

A material disruption at any of our manufacturing facilities could adversely affect our ability to generate sales and meet customer demand.

If operations at any of our manufacturing facilities were to be disrupted as a result of a significant equipment failure, natural disaster or adverse
weather conditions (including events that may be caused or exacerbated by climate change), power outage, fire, explosion, terrorism, cyber-based attack,
health emergency, labor dispute or shortage or other reason, our financial performance could be adversely affected as a result of our inability to meet customer
demand for our products.

Interruptions in production could increase our costs and reduce our sales. Any interruption in production capability could require us to make
substantial capital expenditures to remedy the situation or rely on third-party manufacturers, which could negatively affect our profitability and financial
condition. Any recovery under our property damage and business
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interruption insurance policies may not offset the lost sales or increased costs that may be experienced during the disruption of operations, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to maintain and protect our intellectual property rights or challenges to these rights by third parties may affect our operations and financial
performance.

The market for many of our products, including our medical device products, is, in part, dependent upon patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret
laws, agreements with employees, customers and other third parties, including confidentiality agreements, invention assignment agreements and proprietary
information agreements, to establish and maintain our intellectual property rights, and the Goodwill engendered by our trademarks and trade names. The
failure to protect these rights may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Litigation may be required to
enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets or determine the validity and scope of proprietary rights of others. It may be particularly
difficult to enforce our intellectual property rights in countries where such rights are not highly developed or protected. Any action we take to protect or
enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly and could absorb significant management time and attention. As a result of any such litigation, we
could lose our proprietary rights.

In addition, third parties may claim that we or our customers are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. Claims of intellectual property
infringement and litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property rights are commonplace in the medical technology industry. Any claims of
intellectual property infringement may subject us to costly and time-consuming defense actions and, should our defenses not be successful, may result in the
payment of damages, redesign of affected products, entry into settlement or license agreements, or a temporary or permanent injunction prohibiting us from
manufacturing, marketing or selling certain of our products. It is also possible that others will independently develop technology that will compete with our
patented or unpatented technology. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

The effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic have adversely affected our results of operations, financial condition, and business and continue to
adversely affect us effects of the COVID-19 global pandemic have adversely affected our results of operations, financial condition, and business and continue
to adversely affect us.

We continue to be adversely affected by the economic and other challenges created by the COVID-19 pandemic and actions taken in response
thereto. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced adverse impacts on sales in 2020 and 2021, as well as material delays and periodic
cancellations of elective medical procedures, orthopedic clinics and physical therapy centers operating at reduced levels, and periodic cancellation of sports
programs impacting our business. Although restrictions in most jurisdictions have eased and some impacts of the pandemic have abated, cost inflation, supply
chain challenges such as logistics delays, and healthcare provider staffing shortages, all of which are attributable in some part to the pandemic, continue to
impact us, including by reducing capacity and the number of medical procedures. It is uncertain when and to what extent lingering conditions will completely
subside. The degree to which the COVID-19 situation will continue to impact our businesses, results of operations, and financial condition, including the
duration and magnitude of such impacts, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including how quickly and
to what extent normal economic conditions resume in full.

Significant movements in foreign currency exchange rates may harm our financial results.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. During the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately 32% of our sales were derived
from operations outside the United States. Large fluctuations in the rate of exchange between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Changes in the currency exchange rates may impact our financial results
positively or negatively in one period and not another, which may make it difficult to compare our operating results from different periods.

We also face exchange risk from transactions with customers in countries outside the United States and from intercompany transactions between
affiliates. Although we use the U.S. dollar as our functional currency for reporting purposes, we have manufacturing sites throughout the world and a large
portion of our costs are incurred and sales are generated in foreign currencies. Costs incurred and sales recorded by subsidiaries operating outside of the
United States are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates effective during the respective period. As a result, we are exposed to movements in the
exchange rates of various currencies against the U.S. dollar. Further, we may be subject to foreign currency translation losses depending upon whether foreign
nations devalue their currencies.

17



We are dependent on the availability of raw materials, as well as parts and components used in our products.

While we manufacture many of the parts and components used in our products, we purchase a substantial amount of raw materials, parts and
components from suppliers. The availability and prices for raw materials, parts and components may be subject to curtailment or change due to, among other
things, suppliers’ allocations to other purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, changes in exchange rates and prevailing price levels, trade disputes
and increased tariffs. Additionally, FDA regulations may require additional testing of any raw materials or components from new suppliers prior to the use of
those materials or components in certain medical device products. In addition, in the case of a device that is the subject of a pre-market approval, we may also
be required to obtain prior FDA permission, which may not be given and could delay or prevent access or use of such raw materials or components. Any
significant change in the supply of, or price for, these raw materials, parts or components could materially affect our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Certain of our products use components obtained from single sources. For example, the microprocessor used in our OL1000 and SpinaLogic devices
is from a single manufacturer. Establishment of replacement suppliers for these components cannot be accomplished quickly and the loss of a single-source
supplier, the deterioration of our relationship with a single-source supplier, or any unilateral modification to the contractual terms under which we are supplied
components by a single-source supplier could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we rely
on third parties to manufacture some of our medical device products. For example, we use a single source for many of the consumer devices our Prevention &
Recovery segment distributes in a particular country. If our agreements with these manufacturing companies were terminated, we may not be able to find
suitable replacements within a reasonable amount of time or at all. Any such cessation, interruption or delay may impair our ability to meet scheduled
deliveries of our products to our customers and may cause our customers to cancel orders.

Additionally, political and economic instability and changes in government regulations in China and other parts of Asia or any health emergencies
could affect our ability to continue to receive materials from suppliers in those locations or affected by those emergencies. The loss of such suppliers, any
other interruption or delay in the supply of required materials or our inability to obtain these materials at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of
time could impair our ability to meet scheduled product deliveries to our customers and could hurt our reputation and cause customers to cancel orders.

We are vulnerable to raw material, energy and labor price fluctuations and supply shortages, which have impacted and could continue to impact our
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In the normal course of our business, we are exposed to market risks related to the availability of and price fluctuations in the purchase of raw
materials, energy and commodities used in the manufacturing of our products. The availability and prices for raw materials, energy and commodities are
subject to volatility and are influenced by worldwide economic conditions, including the current rising inflationary pressure. They are also influenced by
import duties and tariffs speculative action, world supply and demand balances, inventory levels, availability of substitute materials, currency exchange rates,
anticipated or perceived shortages, geopolitical tensions, government trade practices and regulations and other factors. Further, the labor market for skilled
manufacturing remains tight and our labor costs have increased as a result. Energy, commodity, raw material energy, labor and other cost inflation has
impacted and could continue to impact our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The markets we serve are highly competitive and some of our competitors may have superior resources. If we are unable to respond successfully to
this competition, this could reduce our sales and operating margins.

Our business operates in highly fragmented and competitive markets. In order to maintain and enhance our competitive position, we intend to, among
other things, continue investing in manufacturing quality, marketing, customer service and support, distribution networks, and research and development. We
may not have sufficient resources to continue to make these investments and we may not be able to maintain our competitive position. Our competitors may
develop products that are superior to our products or more widely accepted, develop methods of more efficiently and effectively providing products and
services, adapt more quickly than us to new technologies or evolving customer requirements or have a larger product portfolio. Some of our competitors may
also have greater financial, marketing and research and development resources than we have or stronger name recognition. As a result, those competitors may
be better able to withstand the effects of periodic economic downturns. In addition, pricing pressures could cause us to adjust the prices of some of our
products to stay competitive. The development of new technologies by competitors that may compete with our technologies could reduce demand for our
products and affect our financial performance. For example, our present and future medical device products could be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by
technological advances by one or more of our present or future competitors or by other therapies,
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including biological therapies. Should we not be able to maintain or enhance the competitive values of our products or develop and introduce new products or
technologies successfully, or if new products or technologies fail to generate sufficient revenues to offset research and development costs, our business,
financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.

The success of our medical device products depends heavily on acceptance by healthcare professionals who prescribe and recommend these products,
and our failure to maintain relationships with key healthcare professionals or maintain a high level of confidence by key healthcare professionals in our
products could adversely affect our business.

We may not be able to compete successfully with our existing competitors or with new competitors. If we fail to compete successfully, the failure
may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Please see Part I, Item 1. “Business - Industry and
Competition” for additional information about the competitive markets in which we operate.

Changes in our tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could adversely affect our financial results.

Our future effective income tax rates could be unfavorably affected by various factors, including, among others, changes in the tax rates, rules and
regulations in jurisdictions in which we generate income. A number of countries where we do business, including the United States and many countries in the
European Union, have implemented, and are considering implementing, changes in relevant tax, accounting and other laws, regulations and interpretations.
Additionally, longstanding international tax norms that determine each country’s jurisdiction to tax cross-border international trade are subject to potential
evolution. For example, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, a global coalition of member countries, proposed a two-pillar plan to
reform international taxation. The proposals aim to ensure a fairer distribution of profits among countries and to impose a floor on tax competition through the
introduction of a global minimum tax. On December 12, 2022, European Union member states reached agreement in principle to implement the minimum tax
component, known as Pillar 2. The directive has to be transposed into member states’ national law by the end of 2023. As these and other tax laws, regulations
and norms change or evolve, our financial results could be materially impacted. Given the unpredictability of these possible changes, it is very difficult to
assess whether the overall effect of such potential tax changes would be cumulatively positive or negative for our earnings and cash flow, but such changes
could adversely impact our financial results.

In addition, the amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by U.S. federal, state and local tax authorities and by non-U.S. tax
authorities. If these audits result in assessments different from amounts recorded, our future financial results may include unfavorable tax adjustments.

We rely on a variety of distribution methods to market and sell our medical device products and if we fail to effectively manage the distribution of
such products, our results of operations and future growth could be adversely impacted.

We use a variety of distribution methods to market and sell our medical device products, each of which has distinct risks. For example, to market and
sell certain of the orthopedic rehabilitation products that are intended for use in the home and in rehabilitation clinics, we rely on our own direct sales force of
representatives in the United States and in Europe. A direct sales force may subject us to higher fixed costs than those of companies that market competing
products through independent third parties due to the costs associated with employee benefits, training, and managing sales personnel. As a result, we could be
at a competitive disadvantage compared to certain competitors that rely predominately on independent sales agents and third-party distributors. Additionally,
these fixed costs may slow our ability to reduce costs in the face of a sudden decline in demand for such products, which could have a material adverse impact
on our results of operations. However, for certain orthopedic products, CMF bone growth stimulator products and surgical implant products, we rely on third-
party distributors and independent commissioned sales representatives that maintain the customer relationships with the hospitals, orthopedic surgeons,
physical therapists and other healthcare professionals that purchase, use and recommend the use of such products. Although our internal sales staff trains and
manages these third-party distributors and independent sales representatives, we do not directly monitor the efforts that they make to sell our products. In
addition, some of the independent sales representatives that we use to sell our surgical implant products also sell products that directly compete with our
product offerings. These sales representatives may not dedicate the necessary time or effort to market and sell our products. If we fail to attract and maintain
relationships with third-party distributors and skilled independent sales representatives or fail to adequately train and monitor the efforts of the third-party
distributors and sales representatives that market and sell our products, or if our existing third-party distributors and independent sales representatives choose
not to carry our products, our results of operations and future growth could be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation and Litigation

Our products and our operations are subject to extensive government regulation and oversight, and if we fail to maintain regulatory approvals and
clearances, or are unable to obtain, or experience significant delays in obtaining, FDA clearances or approvals or their foreign equivalent for our current and
future products or product enhancements, our ability to commercially distribute and market these products could suffer.

Our products are subject to rigorous regulation by the FDA and numerous other federal, state and foreign governmental authorities, as discussed
under “Regulatory Environment – Medical Device Regulation” in Part I, Item 1. The process of obtaining regulatory clearances or approvals to market a
medical device can be costly and time consuming, and we may not be able to obtain these clearances or approvals on a timely basis, if at all.

In the EU, our notified body issues the certificates that allow CE marking for the sale of our products. To continue to place products on the market in
the EU and United Kingdom after expiry of our existing notified body certificate[s], we will need to apply for their certification under the MDR and UK
MDR. We may not be able to continue to place our devices on the market in the EU and/or United Kingdom for any current use if we cannot obtain
certification for their current use under the MDR or under the UK MDR 2002 when required, if we are unable to do so before the current certificates for our
products expire, or if our technical documentation does not meet the new (and more stringent) requirements under the MDR.

Modifications to our products may require new regulatory clearances or approvals in the United States and EU or may require us to recall or cease
marketing our products until clearances or approvals are obtained.

If the FDA requires us to obtain PMAs, PMA supplements, or pre-market clearances for any modification to a previously cleared or approved device,
we may be required to cease manufacturing and marketing of the modified device or to recall such modified device until we obtain FDA clearance or
approval. Any of these actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In the EU, we must notify our EU notified body of significant changes to products or to our quality assurance systems affecting those products. For
devices covered by CE Certificates of Conformity issued under the EU MDD, no significant changes in design or intended purpose are allowed. If changes are
anticipated, new certificates must be obtained under the MDR.

Obtaining new clearances and approvals can be a time-consuming process, and delays in obtaining required future clearances or approvals would
adversely affect our ability to introduce new or enhanced products in a timely manner, which could harm our future growth.

The discovery of serious safety issues with our products, or a recall of our products either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or another
governmental authority, could have a negative impact on us, and failure to report adverse medical events or failures or malfunctions to the FDA as required
would subject us to sanctions that could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations and similar foreign regulations, which require us to report to the FDA when we
receive or become aware of information that reasonably suggests that one or more of our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury
or malfunctioned in a way that, if the malfunction were to recur, could cause or contribute to a death or serious injury. The timing of our obligation to report is
triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as well as the nature of the event. We may fail to report adverse events of which we become aware
within the prescribed timeframe. We may also fail to recognize awareness of a reportable adverse event, especially if it is not reported to us as an adverse
event or if it is unexpected or removed in time from the use of the product. If we fail to comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA could take action,
including warning letters, untitled letters, administrative actions, criminal prosecution, imposition of civil monetary penalties, revocation of our device
clearance or approval, seizure of our products or delay in clearance or approval of future products.

We also are required to comply with strict post-marketing obligations for our CE marked medical devices in the EU. The MDR provides various
requirements relating to post-market surveillance and vigilance, including the obligation for manufacturers to implement a post-market surveillance system, in
a manner proportionate to the risk class and appropriate for the type of device. Once a device is on the EEA market, manufacturers must comply with certain
vigilance requirements, such
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as reporting serious incidents and fielding safety corrective actions. Noncompliance could lead to penalties and a suspension or withdrawal of our CE
Certificate of Conformity.

Our products must be manufactured in accordance with federal and state regulations, and we could be forced to recall our devices or terminate
production if we fail to comply with these regulations.

The methods used in, and the facilities used for, the manufacture of our products must comply with the FDA’s QSR, a complex regulatory scheme
covering the procedures and documentation of design, testing, production, process controls, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, handling, storage,
distribution, installation, servicing and shipping of medical devices. We must also verify that our suppliers maintain facilities, procedures, and operations that
comply with our quality standards and applicable regulatory requirements. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced or unannounced
inspections of medical device manufacturing facilities, which may include subcontractor facilities. Our products are also subject to similar state regulations
and various laws and regulations of foreign countries governing manufacturing.

Our third-party manufacturers may not take the necessary steps to comply with applicable regulations, which could cause delays in the delivery of
our products. In addition, failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements or later discovery of previously unknown problems with our products or
manufacturing processes could result in actions, as discussed in “Regulatory Environment – Medical Device Regulation” in Part I, Item 1. Any of these
actions could significantly and negatively affect supply of our products, harm our reputation, and expose us to product liability claims, and we could lose
customers and experience reduced sales and increased costs.

We may be subject to regulatory or enforcement actions if we engage in improper marketing or promotion of our products.

Our promotional activities must comply with FDA and other applicable laws, including prohibition of the promotion of a medical device for a use
that has not been FDA-cleared or approved. Use of a device outside of its cleared or approved indications is known as “off-label” use. Physicians may use our
products off-label in their professional medical judgment, as the FDA does not restrict or regulate a physician’s choice of treatment within the practice of
medicine. However, if the FDA determines that our educational and promotional activities or training constitutes promotion of an off-label use, it could
request that we modify our training or promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, as discussed in “Regulatory Environment –
Medical Device Regulation” in Part I, Item 1.

Other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities also might take action, including, but not limited to, through a whistleblower action under the
FCA, if they consider our business activities constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant penalties. For example, in the EU, the
MDR expressly prohibits misleading claims via off-label promotion and grants enforcement power to national competent authorities. In addition, off-label use
of our products may increase the risk of product liability claims, which are expensive to defend and could divert our management’s attention, result in
substantial damage awards against us, and harm our reputation.

It is also possible that other federal, state or foreign enforcement authorities might take action under other regulatory authority, such as false claims
laws or consumer protection laws, if they consider our business activities to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant
penalties, including, but not limited to, criminal, civil and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in government
healthcare programs and the curtailment of our operations.

Legislative or regulatory reforms may make it more difficult and costly for us to obtain regulatory clearance or approval of any future products and
to manufacture, market and distribute our products after clearance or approval is obtained.

From time to time, legislation is introduced in Congress that could significantly change the governance of the regulatory approval, manufacture and
marketing of regulated products or the reimbursement thereof. In addition, the FDA may change clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations
or revise existing regulations, or take other actions, which may prevent or delay approval or clearance of our future products under development or impact our
ability to modify our currently cleared products on a timely basis. Any new regulations or revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose
additional costs or lengthen review times of planned or future products. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted or FDA
regulations, guidance or interpretations changed, and what the impact of such changes, if any, may be.
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The clinical trial process is lengthy and expensive with uncertain outcomes, often requires the enrollment of large numbers of patients, suitable
patients may be difficult to identify and recruit, and delays or failures will prevent us from commercializing new or modified products and will adversely affect
our business, operating results and prospects.

Initiating and completing clinical trials necessary to support any future PMAs, or additional safety and efficacy data beyond that typically required
for a 510(k) clearance for our possible future product candidates, will be time-consuming and expensive and the outcome uncertain. Moreover, the results of
early clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of future results, and any product we advance into clinical trials may not have favorable results in later
clinical trials. The results of preclinical studies and clinical trials of our products conducted to date and ongoing or future studies and trials of our current,
planned, or future products may not be predictive of the results of later clinical trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final
results. In addition, the initiation and completion of any of clinical studies may be prevented, delayed, or halted for numerous reasons. We may experience
delays in our ongoing clinical trials for a number of reasons, which could adversely affect the costs, timing or successful completion of our clinical trials.

Development of sufficient and appropriate clinical protocols to demonstrate safety and efficacy is required and we may not adequately develop such
protocols to support clearance and approval. Further, the FDA or our notified body may require us to submit data on a greater number of patients than we
originally anticipated or for a longer follow-up period or change the data collection requirements or data analysis applicable to our clinical trials. Delays in
patient enrollment or failure of patients to continue to participate in a clinical trial may cause an increase in costs and delays in the approval and attempted
commercialization of our products or result in the failure of the clinical trial. In addition, despite considerable time and expense invested in our clinical trials,
the FDA or our notified body may not consider our data adequate to demonstrate safety and efficacy. Such increased costs and delays or failures could
adversely affect our business, operating results and prospects.

The results of our clinical trials may not support our product candidate claims or may result in the discovery of adverse side effects.

The results of our future clinical trials may not support our future product claims and the FDA may not agree with our conclusions regarding them.
Success in pre-clinical studies and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trial success, and we cannot be sure that later trials will replicate the
results of prior trials and pre-clinical studies. The clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that our product candidates are safe and effective for the
proposed indicated uses, which could cause us to abandon a product candidate and may delay development of others. Any delay or termination of our clinical
trials will delay the filing of our product submissions and, ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues. It is also
possible that patients enrolled in clinical trials will experience adverse side effects that are not currently part of the future product’s profile.

Our failure to comply with U.S. federal, state and foreign governmental regulations, including in the EU, could lead to the issuance of warning
letters or untitled letters, the imposition of injunctions, suspensions or loss of regulatory clearance, certificates or approvals, product recalls, termination of
distribution, product seizures, civil penalties, and in extreme cases, criminal sanctions or closure of manufacturing facilities.

Any product for which we obtain clearance or approval, and the manufacturing processes, post-market surveillance, post-approval clinical data and
promotional activities for such product will be subject to continued regulatory review, oversight, requirements, and periodic inspections by the FDA and other
domestic and foreign regulatory bodies. In particular, we and our suppliers are required to comply with FDA’s QSR and other regulations enforced outside the
United States that cover the manufacture of our products and the methods and documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance,
labeling, packaging, storage and shipping of medical devices. Regulatory bodies, such as the FDA, enforce the QSR and other regulations through periodic
inspections. The failure by us or one of our suppliers to comply with applicable statutes and regulations administered by the FDA and other regulatory bodies,
or the failure to timely and adequately respond to any adverse inspectional observations or product safety issues, could result in, among other things, any of
the enforcement actions discussed in “Regulatory Environment – Medical Device Regulation” in Part I, Item 1. These enforcement actions include, for the
EU, the suspension or withdrawal of CE Certificate of Conformity in the EU and the refusal or delay in CE certification and CE marking or new products or
modified products. If any of these actions were to occur, it would harm our reputation and cause our product sales and profitability to suffer and may prevent
us from generating revenue.
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Our medical device businesses subject us to the possibility of product liability lawsuits, which could harm our business.

Our business exposes us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture and marketing of medical devices. Component
failures, manufacturing nonconformances, design defects, or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or product-related information with respect to our
products could result in unsafe conditions, injury or death. In addition, some of our products contain components manufactured by third parties, which may
also have defects. From time to time, our business has historically been, and is currently, subject to a number of product liability claims alleging that the use of
its products resulted in adverse effects. Our product liability insurance policies have limits that may not be sufficient to cover claims made. In addition, this
insurance may not continue to be available at a reasonable cost. With respect to components manufactured by third-party suppliers, the contractual
indemnification that we seek from our third-party suppliers may be limited and thus insufficient to cover claims made against us. If insurance coverage or
contractual indemnification is insufficient to satisfy product liability claims made against us, the claims could have an adverse effect on our business and
financial condition. Even claims without merit could harm our reputation, reduce demand for our products, cause us to incur substantial legal costs and distract
the attention of our management. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

If coverage and adequate levels of reimbursement from third-party payors for our medical device products are not obtained, healthcare providers and
patients may be reluctant to use our medical device products, our margins may suffer and revenue and profits may decline.

As explained in greater detail in “ Regulatory Environment” in Part I, Item 1, the sales of our medical device products depend largely on whether
there is coverage and adequate reimbursement by government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and by private payors. Surgeons,
hospitals, physical therapists and other healthcare providers may not use, purchase or prescribe our products and patients may not purchase these products if
these third-party payors do not provide satisfactory coverage of, and reimbursement for, the costs of our medical device products or the procedures involving
the use of such products. Reduced reimbursement rates will also lower our margins on product sales and could adversely impact the profitability and viability
of the affected products.

Medicare payment for DMEPOS also can be impacted by the DMEPOS competitive bidding program, under which Medicare rates are based on bid
amounts for certain products in designated geographic areas, rather than the Medicare fee schedule amount. If any of our medical device products are included
in competitive bidding and we are not selected as a contract supplier (or subcontractor) in a particular region, or if contract or fee schedule prices are
significantly below current Medicare fee schedule reimbursement levels, it could have an adverse impact on our sales and profitability.

Additionally, federal and state legislation and regulation may limit the types of orthopedic professionals who can fit or sell our orthotic products or
who can seek reimbursement for them or impose certification or licensing requirements on the measuring, fitting and adjusting of certain orthotic devices, and
additional states may do so in the future. Although some of these state laws exempt manufacturers’ representatives, others do not. Such laws could reduce the
number of potential customers by restricting our sales representatives’ activities in those jurisdictions or reduce demand for our products by reducing the
number of professionals who fit and sell them.

Audits or denials of claims by government agencies could reduce our revenues or profits.

We submit claims on behalf of patients directly to, and receive payments directly from, the Medicare and Medicaid programs and private payors.
Therefore, we are subject to extensive government regulation, including detailed requirements for submitting reimbursement claims under appropriate codes
and maintaining certain documentation to support our claims. Medicare contractors and Medicaid agencies periodically conduct pre- and post-payment
reviews and other audits of claims and are under increasing pressure to more closely scrutinize healthcare claims and supporting documentation. Such reviews
or similar audits of our claims including by Recovery Audit Contractors, or private companies operating on a contingent fee basis to identify and recoup
Medicare overpayments, and Zone Program Integrity Contractors, or contractors charged with investigating potential fraud and abuse, could result in material
delays in payment, as well as material recoupment or denials, which would reduce our Net sales and profitability, investigations, potential liability under fraud
or abuse laws or exclusion from participation in the Medicare and/or Medicaid programs. Private payors may conduct similar reviews and audits.

Additionally, we participate in the government’s Federal Supply Schedule program for medical equipment, whereby we contract with the government
to supply certain of our medical products. Participation in this program requires us to follow
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certain pricing practices and other contract requirements. Failure to comply with such pricing practices and/or other contract requirements could result in
delays in payment or fines or penalties, which could reduce our revenues or profits.

Federal and state health reform and cost control efforts could adversely impact our business and results of operations, and federal and state
legislatures and agencies continue to consider further reforms and cost control efforts that could adversely impact our business and results of operations.

As discussed in “Regulatory Environment – Healthcare Reform” in Part I, Item 1, there have been a variety of federal and state healthcare reform and
cost control efforts that have affected and could in the future adversely affect our business. We cannot be sure whether additional legislative changes will be
enacted, or whether government regulations or other policy will be changed, or what the impact of such changes would be on the marketing approvals, sales,
pricing, or reimbursement of our products. We expect that any such health care reform measures that may be adopted in the future may result in more rigorous
coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we receive for our products. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other
government health care programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or
other health care reforms may prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize our product candidates.

Our relationships with customers, physicians and third-party payors are subject to federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws, false claims
laws, physician payment transparency laws and other health care laws and regulations. If we or our employees, independent contractors, consultants,
commercial partners, or vendors violate these laws we could face substantial penalties.

Our relationships with customers, physicians and third-party payors are subject to federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws, false claims
laws, physician payment transparency laws and other health care laws and regulations. The U.S. health care laws and regulations that may affect our ability to
operate include, but are not limited to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal civil False Claims Act, the civil monetary penalties statute, the Physician
Self-Referral Law, the healthcare fraud provisions under HIPAA, the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, and state and foreign equivalents of each of
these laws. Refer to “Regulatory Environment – Other Healthcare Laws – Fraud and Abuse Laws” in Part I, Item 1 for a more fulsome description of these
laws. Violations of these laws are punishable by criminal and/or civil sanctions, including, in some instances, fines, imprisonment and, within the United
States, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, including Medicare, Medicaid and Veterans Administration health programs.

Greater scrutiny of marketing practices in the medical device industry has resulted in numerous government investigations, and this enforcement
activity is expected to continue. For example, the Department of Justice recently entered into a settlement with a diabetic shoe company and its president and
CEO to resolve allegations that the company violated the False Claims Act by selling custom diabetic shoe inserts that were not actually custom-fabricated in
accordance with Medicare standards. As a DME supplier, we submit claims for reimbursement from federal health care programs, which can present increased
risks under the False Claims Act if not conducted in a compliant manner. These laws and regulations, among other things, constrain our business, marketing
and other promotional activities by limiting the kinds of financial arrangements we have with hospitals, physicians or other potential purchasers of our
products, including marketing and consulting arrangements, payment of royalties for product development, and our OfficeCare consignment stock and bill
program.

Because of the breadth of these laws and the narrowness of available statutory exceptions and regulatory safe harbors, our business, marketing and
other promotional activities could be subject to challenge under one or more of such laws. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct
or business noncompliance, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or
unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with
such laws or regulations. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements will comply with applicable health care laws may involve substantial costs. It is
possible that governmental and enforcement authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or
case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other health care laws and regulations.

If we or our employees, agents, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors violate these laws, we may be subject to
investigations, enforcement actions and/or significant penalties, including the imposition of significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages,
disgorgement, monetary fines, imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal health care programs, contractual
damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, additional reporting requirements and/or oversight if we become subject to a
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corporate integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws, and curtailment of our operations, any of which
could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.

The success of our surgical implant products depends on our relationships with leading surgeons who assist with the development and testing of our
products, and our ability to comply with enhanced disclosure requirements regarding payments to physicians.

A key aspect of the development of our surgical implant products is the use of designing and consulting arrangements with orthopedic surgeons who
are highly qualified and experienced in their field. These surgeons assist in the development and clinical testing of new surgical implant products. They also
participate in symposia and seminars introducing new surgical implant products and assist in the training of healthcare professionals in using our new
products. Our arrangements with orthopedic surgeons also must comply with the fraud and abuse and transparency laws discussed above, which may be an
impediment for some surgeons we seek to engage. We may not be successful in maintaining or renewing our current designing and consulting arrangements
with these surgeons or in developing similar arrangements with new surgeons. In that event, our ability to develop, test and market new surgical implant
products could be adversely affected.

To enforce compliance with the healthcare regulatory laws, certain enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between
healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare
industry. For example, the EU Member States closely monitor perceived unlawful marketing activity by companies, including inducement to prescribe and the
encouragement of off-label use of devices. Responding to investigations can be time- and resource-consuming and can divert management’s attention from the
business. Additionally, as a result of these investigations, healthcare providers and entities may have to agree to additional compliance and reporting
requirements as part of a consent decree or corporate integrity agreement. Any such investigation or settlement could increase our costs or otherwise have an
adverse effect on our business. Even an unsuccessful challenge or investigation into our practices could cause adverse publicity and be costly to respond to. If
our operations are found to be in violation of any of the healthcare laws or regulations described above or any other healthcare regulations that apply to us, we
may be subject to penalties, including administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from participation in government healthcare
programs, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational harm, disgorgement and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Moreover, industry
associations closely monitor the activities of their member companies. If these organizations or national authorities were to name us as having breached our
obligations under their laws, regulations, rules or standards, our reputation would suffer and our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and
prospects could be adversely affected.

Actual or perceived failures to comply with applicable data protection, privacy and security laws, regulations, standards and other requirements
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business is subject to U.S. federal privacy and security laws and regulations, including HIPAA, as more fully described in “Regulatory
Environment – Other Healthcare Laws – Data Privacy and Security Laws” in Part I, Item 1. Healthcare providers who prescribe our products and from whom
we obtain patient health information are subject to privacy and security requirements under HIPAA, as are we in certain circumstances. The U.S. Department
of Health and Human Services has direct enforcement authority against covered entities and business associates with regard to compliance with HIPAA
regulations. We also could be subject to criminal penalties if we knowingly obtain individually identifiable health information from a covered entity in a
manner that is not authorized or permitted by HIPAA or for aiding and abetting and/or conspiring to commit a violation of HIPAA. We are unable to predict
whether our actions could be subject to prosecution in the event of an impermissible disclosure of health information to us. There are costs and administrative
burdens associated with ongoing compliance with HIPAA regulations and similar state law requirements. Any failure to comply with current and applicable
future requirements could adversely affect our profitability. As described in further detail in “Regulatory Environment – Other Healthcare Laws – Data
Privacy and Security Laws” in Part I, Item 1, various states have implemented similar privacy laws and regulations that are not necessarily preempted by
HIPAA. If the states in which we conduct our business are more protective, we may have to comply with the stricter provisions. Failure to comply with these
laws and regulations may result in, among other things, significant civil penalties and injunctive relief, or potential statutory or actual damages. There can be
no assurance that the processes we have implemented to manage compliance with these laws and regulations will be successful.

The FTC also sets expectations for failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure, or failing to provide a level of
security commensurate to promises made to individual about the security of their personal information (such as in a privacy notice) may constitute unfair or
deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the
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FTC Act. While we do not intend to engage in unfair or deceptive acts or practices, the FTC has the power to enforce promises as it interprets them, and
events that we cannot fully control, such as data breaches, may be result in FTC enforcement. Enforcement by the FTC under the FTC Act can result in civil
penalties or enforcement actions.

Any actual or perceived failure by us or the third parties with whom we work to comply with data privacy or security laws, policies, legal obligations
or industry standards, or any security incident that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of information concerning individuals, may result in
governmental enforcement actions and investigations, including by European data protection authorities and U.S. federal and state regulatory authorities, fines
and penalties, litigation and/or adverse publicity, including by consumer advocacy groups, and could cause our customers, their patients and other healthcare
professionals to lose trust in us, which could harm our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, the landscape of laws regulating personal data is constantly evolving, compliance requires a flexible privacy framework and
substantial resources, and compliance efforts will likely be an increasing and substantial cost in the future.

Our information technology infrastructure could be subject to service interruptions, data corruption, cyber-based attacks, or network security
breaches, which could result in the disruption of operations or the loss of data confidentiality.

We rely on information technology networks and systems, including the Internet, cloud-based services and third-party service providers, to process,
transmit and store electronic information (including PHI), personally identifiable information, credit card and other financial information, and to manage or
support a variety of business processes and activities, including procurement, manufacturing, distribution, invoicing, collection, communication with our
employees, customers, dealers and suppliers, business acquisitions and other corporate transactions, compliance with regulatory, legal and tax requirements,
and research and development. For example, in the ordinary course of business, our business collects, stores, and transmits certain sensitive data, including
PHI, personally identifiable information, and patient data. These information technology networks and systems may be susceptible to damage, disruptions or
shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing software, databases or components, power outages, hardware failures or computer
viruses. If these information technology systems suffer severe damage, disruption or shutdown and business continuity plans do not effectively resolve the
issues in a timely manner, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity could be materially adversely affected.

Our information technology networks and systems are subject to security threats and sophisticated cyber-based attacks, including, but not limited to,
denial-of-service attacks, hacking, “phishing” attacks, computer viruses, ransomware, malware, employee or insider error, malfeasance, social engineering, or
physical breaches, that can cause deliberate or unintentional damage, destruction or misuse, manipulation, denial of access to or disclosure of confidential or
important information by our employees, suppliers or third-party service providers. Additionally, advanced persistent attempts to gain unauthorized access or
deny access to, or otherwise disrupt, our systems and those of third-party service providers we rely on are increasing in sophistication and frequency. We have
experienced, and expect to continue to confront, efforts by hackers and other third parties to gain unauthorized access or deny access to, or otherwise disrupt,
our information technology systems and networks. Any such future attacks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity. We can provide no assurance that our efforts to actively manage technology risks potentially affecting our systems and networks will
be successful in eliminating or mitigating risks to our systems, networks and data or in effectively resolving such risks when they materialize. A failure of or
breach in information technology security of our own systems, or those of our third-party vendors, could expose us and our employees, customers, dealers and
suppliers to risks of misuse of information or systems, the compromise of confidential information, manipulation and destruction of data, defective products,
production downtimes and operations disruptions. Any of these events in turn could adversely affect our reputation, competitive position, including loss of
customers and revenue, business, results of operations and liquidity. In addition, such breaches in security could result in litigation, regulatory action and
potential liability, including liability under federal or state laws that protect the privacy of personal information, such as HIPAA, as well as the costs and
operational consequences of implementing further data protection measures.

Additionally, to conduct our operations, we regularly move data across national borders, and consequently we are subject to a variety of continuously
evolving and developing laws and regulations in the United States and abroad regarding privacy, data protection and data security. The scope of the laws that
may be applicable to us is often uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect to foreign laws. For example, some of the data we handle and
aspects of our operations are subject to the European Union’s GDPR, which greatly increases the jurisdictional reach of European Union law and adds a broad
array of requirements for handling personal data, including the public disclosure of significant data breaches and provides for significant potential penalties
and remedies for violations. Other countries have enacted or are enacting data localization
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laws that require data to stay within their borders. All of these evolving compliance and operational requirements impose significant costs that are likely to
increase over time.

We are subject to anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act as well as export controls, economic sanctions, and other trade
laws, the violation of which could lead to serious adverse consequences.

We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions that
generally prohibit companies and those acting on their behalf from authorizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or
anything else of value to government officials to obtain or retain business or other commercial advantage, and the U.K. Bribery Act and other anti-bribery
laws also prohibit similar conduct between private parties. The FCPA also imposes obligations on publicly traded U.S. corporations that are intended to
prevent the diversion of corporate funds for improper payments and the establishment of “off the books” slush funds from which such payments can be made
and to provide assurance that transactions are accurately recorded, lawful and in accordance with management’s authorization. Because of the predominance
of government-sponsored health care systems around the world, many of our customer relationships outside of the United States are with government entities.
As a result, interactions with those customers present compliance risk under the FCPA and other anti-bribery laws. In addition, anti-bribery laws can pose
unique challenges for companies with foreign operations in countries where corruption is a recognized problem. While we believe we have implemented
appropriate policies and procedures to mitigate risk of non-compliance with the FCPA and other applicable anti-bribery laws by the Company and persons or
entities acting on our behalf, we cannot assure that such policies, procedures, and training will always protect us from violations by our employees,
distributors or other agents. In addition, we may be exposed to liability due to pre-acquisition conduct of businesses or operations we acquire, as well as the
conduct of their employees, distributors or other agents. Violations of anti-bribery laws, or allegations thereof, could disrupt our operations, distract
management, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We also could be subject to criminal
and civil penalties, disgorgement, substantial expenditures related to remedial actions, and reputational harm.

We are also subject to U.S. export controls and economic sanctions laws, regulations and other legal requirements, including the Export
Administration Regulations and economic sanctions administered and enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control, as well as other laws and regulations
that limit our ability to market, sell, distribute or otherwise transfer our products or technology directly or indirectly to restricted persons and prohibited
countries or regions. Our efforts to comply with U.S. and other applicable export controls and economic sanctions laws, regulations and other legal
requirements may not prevent violations. Noncompliance with these laws could result in substantial civil and criminal penalties, including fines and the
disgorgement of profits, the imposition of a court-appointed monitor, the denial of export privileges, and debarment from participation in government
contracts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our international operations or on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows.

Risks Related to the Separation

We may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the Separation, and the Separation may adversely affect our businesses.

We may not be able to achieve the full strategic and financial benefits from the Separation that were expected, or such benefits may be delayed or not
occur at all. The following benefits, among others, were expected to result from the Separation:

• the Separation is expected to allow investors to value the Company based on its distinct investment identity, and enable investors to evaluate the
merits, performance and future prospects of the Company’s businesses based on their distinct characteristics;

• the Separation is expected to facilitate incentive compensation structures for employees more directly tied to the performance of the Company’s
businesses, and may enhance employee hiring and retention by, among other things, improving the alignment of management and employee
incentives with performance and growth objectives; and

• the Separation is expected to allow us to more effectively pursue our operating priorities and strategies, and enable management to focus on unique
opportunities for long-term growth and profitability.
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We may not achieve these and other anticipated benefits for a variety of reasons, including, among others:

• certain costs and liabilities that were otherwise less significant to the Company prior to the Separation will be more significant for us as a separate
company after the Separation

• we may be more susceptible to market fluctuations and other adverse events than we were prior to the Separation; and
• following the Separation, our businesses are less diversified than they were prior to the Separation.

If we fail to achieve some or all of the benefits we expected to result from the Separation, or if such benefits are delayed, our businesses, operating
results and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We could incur significant liability if the separation and distribution of ESAB is determined to be a taxable transaction.

We have received (i) a private letter ruling from the IRS and (ii) an opinion from outside tax counsel regarding the qualification of the separation and
distribution of ESAB as a transaction that is described in Sections 355(a) and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Internal Revenue Code. The private letter ruling and opinion
each relies on certain facts, assumptions, representations and undertakings from ESAB and us regarding the past and future conduct of the companies’
respective businesses and other matters. If any of these facts, assumptions, representations or undertakings are incorrect or not satisfied, we may not be able to
rely on the private letter ruling or opinion of tax counsel. In addition, the private letter ruling does not address all the requirements for determining whether the
separation and distribution qualify under Sections 355(a) and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Internal Revenue Code, and the opinion, which addresses all such
requirements, relies on the private letter ruling as to matters covered by the ruling and will not be binding on the IRS or the courts. Notwithstanding the private
letter ruling or the opinion of tax counsel we have received, the IRS could determine on audit that the separation and distribution are taxable if it determines
that any of these facts, assumptions, representations or undertakings are not correct or have been violated or if it disagrees with the conclusions not addressed
in the ruling. If the separation and distribution of ESAB are determined to be taxable for U.S. federal income tax purposes, our stockholders that received the
distribution and are subject to U.S. federal income tax and we could be subject to significant U.S. federal income tax liabilities.

Potential indemnification liabilities to ESAB pursuant to the separation agreement could materially and adversely affect our businesses, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

We entered into a separation and distribution agreement and related agreements with ESAB to govern the separation and distribution of ESAB and
the relationship between the two companies going forward. These agreements provide for specific indemnity and liability obligations of each party and could
lead to disputes between us. If we are required to indemnify ESAB under the circumstances set forth in these agreements, we may be subject to substantial
liabilities. In addition, with respect to the liabilities for which ESAB has agreed to indemnify us under these agreements, there can be no assurance that the
indemnity rights we have against ESAB will be sufficient to protect us against the full amount of the liabilities, or that ESAB will be able to fully satisfy its
indemnification obligations. Each of these risks could negatively affect our businesses, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

General Risk Factors and Other Risks

Changes in the general economy could negatively impact the demand for our products and services and harm our operations and financial
performance.

Our financial performance depends, in large part, on conditions in the markets we serve and on the general condition of the global economy, which
impacts these markets. Any sustained weakness in demand for our products and services resulting from a downturn of or uncertainty in the global economy
could reduce our sales and profitability. In addition, we believe that many of our customers and suppliers are reliant on liquidity from global credit markets
and, in some cases, require external financing to purchase products or finance operations. If our customers lack liquidity or are unable to access the credit
markets, it may impact customer demand for our products and services and we may not be able to collect amounts owed to us. The occurrence of any of the
foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by disruptions in the global economy caused by the ongoing
conflict between Russia and Ukraine.

The global economy has been negatively impacted by the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine. Furthermore, governments in the United
States, United Kingdom and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and financial and economic sanctions on certain industry
sectors and parties in Russia, and Russia has imposed counter-sanctions in response. Although we have no direct operations in Russia or Ukraine or
government-imposed sanctions on our products currently, we could experience the impact of sanctions in the future and/or shortages in materials, increased
costs for raw material and other supply chain issues due in part to the negative impact of the Russia-Ukraine military conflict on the global economy. Further
escalation of geopolitical tensions related to the military conflict, including increased trade barriers or restrictions on global trade, could result in, among other
things, cyberattacks, additional supply disruptions, lower consumer demand and changes to foreign exchange rates and financial markets, any of which may
adversely affect our business and supply chain.

The loss of key leadership or the inability to attract, develop, engage, and retain qualified employees could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to run our business.

We may be adversely affected if we lose members of our senior leadership. We are highly dependent on our senior leadership team as a result of their
expertise in our industry and our business. The loss of key leadership or the inability to attract, retain and motivate sufficient numbers of qualified
management personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, our continued success
depends, in part, on our ability to identify and attract qualified candidates with the requisite education, background, and experience as well as our ability to
develop, engage, and retain qualified employees. Failure to attract, develop, engage, and retain qualified employees, whether as a result of an insufficient
number of qualified applicants, difficulty in recruiting new employees, or inadequate resources to train, integrate, and retain qualified employees, could impair
our ability to execute our business strategy and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The issuances of additional Common and Preferred stock or the resale of previously restricted Common stock may adversely affect the market price
of our Common stock.

Pursuant to certain registration rights agreements we have entered into with Mitchell P. Rales and Steven M. Rales (collectively, the “Investors”), the
Investors and their permitted transferees have registration rights for the resale of certain shares of our Common stock. These registration rights would facilitate
the resale of such securities into the public market, and any such resale would increase the number of shares of our Common stock available for public trading.
Sales by the Investors or their permitted transferees of a substantial number of shares of our Common stock in the public market, or the perception that such
sales might occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of our Common stock.

Additionally, under our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, there are additional authorized shares of our Common stock.
Furthermore, we may issue a significant number of additional shares, in connection with acquisitions or otherwise. We also may issue a significant number of
additional shares, either into the marketplace through an existing shelf registration statement or through other mechanisms. Additional shares issued would
have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share.

Provisions in our governing documents and Delaware law may delay or prevent an acquisition of Enovis that may be beneficial to our stockholders.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Amended and Restated Bylaws, and Delaware law contain provisions that may make it
difficult for a third-party to acquire us without the consent of our Board of Directors. These include provisions prohibiting stockholders from taking action by
written consent, prohibiting special meetings of stockholders called by stockholders, prohibiting stockholder nominations and approvals without complying
with specific advance notice requirements, and mandating certain procedural steps for stockholders who wish to introduce business or nominate a director
candidate. In addition, our Board of Directors has the right to issue Preferred stock without stockholder approval, which our Board of Directors could use to
affect a rights plan or “poison pill” that could dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer and may have the effect of delaying, discouraging or
preventing an acquisition of Enovis.

29



Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are located in Wilmington, Delaware in a facility that we lease.

As of December 31, 2022, our Prevention & Recovery segment had a total of eight facilities used in production, distribution and warehousing in the U.S.,
representing a total of 115,000 and 577,000 square feet of owned and leased space, respectively, and thirteen facilities used in production, distribution and
warehousing outside the U.S., representing a total of 784,000 square feet of leased space in ten countries in North America, Africa, Europe and Asia.

As of December 31, 2022, our Reconstructive segment had a total of four facilities used in production, distribution and warehousing in the U.S.,
representing a total of 213,000 square feet of leased space, and four facilities used in production, distribution and warehousing outside the U.S., representing a
total of 84,000 and 23,000 square feet of owned and leased space, respectively, in two countries in Europe.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Discussion of legal matters is incorporated by reference to Part II, Item 8, Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies,” in the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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INFORMATION ABOUT OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Set forth below are the names, ages, positions and experience of our executive officers. All of our executive officers hold office at the pleasure of our
Board of Directors.

Name Age Position
Matthew L. Trerotola 55 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Brady R. Shirley 57 President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
Phillip B. Berry 44 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Daniel A. Pryor 54 Executive Vice President, Strategy and Business Development
Bradley J. Tandy 64 Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Patricia Lang 59 Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer

Matthew L. Trerotola has been Chief Executive Officer since July 2015. Prior to joining Enovis, Mr. Trerotola was an Executive Vice President and a
member of DuPont’s Office of the Chief Executive, responsible for DuPont’s Electronics & Communications and Safety & Protection segments. Mr. Trerotola
also had corporate responsibility for DuPont’s Asia-Pacific business. Many of Mr. Trerotola’s roles at DuPont involved applying innovation to improve
margins and accelerate organic growth in global businesses. Prior to rejoining DuPont in 2013, Mr. Trerotola had served in leadership roles at Danaher
Corporation since 2007, and was most recently Vice President and Group Executive for Life Sciences. Previously, Mr. Trerotola was Group Executive for
Product Identification from 2009 to 2012, and President of the Videojet business from 2007 to 2009. While at McKinsey & Company from 1995 to 1999, Mr.
Trerotola focused primarily on helping industrial companies accelerate growth. Mr. Trerotola earned his Masters of Business Administration (“M.B.A.”) from
Harvard Business School and his Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of Virginia. Mr. Trerotola is a director of AptarGroup, Inc.

Brady R. Shirley has been President and Chief Operating Officer, and has served as a director of the Company, since April 2022. Prior to this, Mr. Shirley
was DJO Chief Executive Officer from 2016 to 2022 and served as the President of the DJO Surgical business, a position he was appointed to in March of
2014. From 2009 to 2013, Mr. Shirley was the CEO and Director of Innovative Medical Device Solutions (“IMDS”), a company that provides comprehensive
product development, manufacturing and supply chain management solutions for medical device companies within the orthopedic medical device industry. At
IMDS, Mr. Shirley managed the integration of four companies, consolidated the capital structure and led a successful sale of the business in 2013. From
December 1992 to August 2009, Mr. Shirley had several key leadership positions with Stryker Corporation, including President of Stryker Communications
and Senior Vice President of Stryker Endoscopy. Mr. Shirley received a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance from the University of Texas, Austin.

Phillip B. Berry has been Chief Financial Officer since January 1, 2023. He joined the Company in 2020, initially serving as chief financial officer of the
Company’s medical technology segment, and serving as chief financial officer of those business units following the Separation. Previously, he spent 18 years
in the medical technologies sector with Novartis/Alcon, which included its launch of Alcon as an independent public company in 2019. During his tenure at
Alcon, Mr. Berry served in finance leadership roles of increasing responsibility in strategy, operations and business process improvement. Mr. Berry holds a
master’s degree in business administration from Kennesaw State University.

Daniel A. Pryor has been Executive Vice President‚ Strategy and Business Development since July 2013. Mr. Pryor was Senior Vice President, Strategy
and Business Development from January 2011 through July 2013. Prior to joining Enovis‚ he was a Partner and Managing Director with The Carlyle Group‚ a
global alternative asset manager, where he focused on industrial leveraged buyouts and led numerous portfolio company and follow-on acquisitions. While at
The Carlyle Group, he served on the boards of portfolio companies Veyance Technologies, Inc., John Maneely Co., and HD Supply Inc. Prior to The Carlyle
Group, he spent 11 years at Danaher Corporation in roles of increasing responsibility most recently as Vice President - Strategic Development. Mr. Pryor
earned his M.B.A. from Harvard Business School and his Bachelor of Arts in Economics from Williams College.

Bradley J. Tandy has been Senior Vice President and General Counsel since July 2019. From February 2019 through June 2019, he served as our interim
general counsel. From February 2020 to April 2022, he served as our Corporate Secretary. Mr. Tandy also served in his capacity as Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary of DJO. Prior to joining DJO, Mr. Tandy served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of Biomet, Inc. from
2006 through 2014. Prior to
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serving as General Counsel, Mr. Tandy served as Vice President, Assistant General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer of Biomet from 1999 through
2006. He joined Biomet as Assistant General Counsel in 1992. Prior to his employment at Biomet, Mr. Tandy was a partner in the law firm of Rasor, Harris,
Lemon & Reed in Warsaw, Indiana, focusing his practice on representation of medical device and healthcare companies. He was an elected public official in
Kosciusko County, Indiana, serving as a County Councilman for 22 years. He received his undergraduate degree in Political Science from DePauw University
and earned his Doctorate of Jurisprudence at Indiana University School of Law in Bloomington, Indiana.

Patricia Lang was appointed Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer in January 2019, and also leads the Company’s branding and
communications initiatives. Most recently Ms. Lang was the Chief People Officer for Diebold Nixdorf and was responsible for managing employee-focused
initiatives across the organization. Prior to joining Diebold Nixdorf, Ms. Lang held a number of human resource and operations leadership positions at
companies such as Mylan Pharmaceuticals, Consol Energy, Mercer Consulting and Cigna. Ms. Lang holds a business degree with a concentration in
information technology and management from Duquesne University. Additionally, she holds various certifications in human capital management, mergers and
acquisitions, global employee benefits including C.E.B.S, as well as complex project management, lean manufacturing business systems and the Toyota
production system.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ENOV on April 4, 2022, and previously traded under the symbol
CFX since May 8, 2008. As of February 24, 2023, there were 1,305 holders of record of our Common stock. The number of holders of record is based upon
the actual number of holders registered at such date and does not include holders of shares in “street name” or persons, partnerships, associates, corporations
or other entities identified in security position listings maintained by depositories.

Performance Graph
 

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our Common stock with the cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s
(“S&P”) 400 Industrial Index and the S&P Industrial Machinery Index. The graph assumes that $100 was invested on December 31, 2017 in our Common
stock, the S&P 400 Industrial Index and the S&P Industrial Machinery Index, and that all dividends were reinvested.
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Issuer Repurchase of Equity Securities
 
On February 12, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100.0 million of the Company’s Common stock from time-

to-time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The Board of Directors increased the repurchase authorization by an additional $100
million on June 6, 2018, and again for an additional $100 million on July 19, 2018. The timing and amount of shares repurchased is to be determined by
management based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors. The repurchase program has no expiration date and does not obligate the
Company to acquire any specific number of shares. The repurchase program was conducted pursuant to SEC Rule 10b-18.

There have been no repurchases made under the repurchase program except the Company’s repurchase of shares of its Common stock under the
repurchase program in open market transactions for $200.0 million in 2018. As of December 31, 2022, there are authorized Common stock repurchases of
approximately $100 million remaining.

Period
Total Number of

Shares Purchased
Average Price Paid

per Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be Purchased
under the Plans or

Programs
09/30/22 - 10/27/22 — $ — — $ 99,997,744 
10/28/22 - 11/24/22 — — — 99,997,744 
11/25/22 - 12/31/22 — — — 99,997,744 
Total — $ — — $ 99,997,744 

Represents the repurchase program limit authorized by the Board of Directors of $300 million less the value of purchases made under the repurchase program.

Item 6. [RESERVED]

(1)

(1) 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is designed to provide a reader of our financial
statements with a narrative from the perspective of Company’s management. This MD&A is divided into four main sections:

• Overview
• Results of Operations
• Liquidity and Capital Resources
• Critical Accounting Policies

MD&A should be read together with Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8. of this Form 10-K. The MD&A includes forward-looking statements. For a discussion of important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from the results referred to in these forward-looking statements, see “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements.”

Overview

Enovis is a medical technology company focused on developing clinically differentiated solutions that generate measurably better patient outcomes and
transform workflows by manufacturing and distributing high-quality medical devices with a broad range of products used for reconstructive surgery,
rehabilitation, pain management and physical therapy. Our products address the continuum of patient care from injury prevention to rehabilitation after surgery
or injury or from degenerative disease, enabling people to regain or maintain their natural motion. Please see Part I, Item 1. “Business” for a discussion of
Enovis’s objectives and methodologies for delivering shareholder value.

Post-Separation, Enovis conducts its operations through two operating segments: Prevention & Recovery (“P&R”) and Reconstructive (“Recon”).

• Prevention & Recovery - a leader in orthopedic solutions, providing devices, software and services across the patient care continuum from injury
prevention to rehabilitation after surgery, injury, or from degenerative disease.

• Reconstructive - innovation market-leader positioned in the fast-growing surgical implant business, offering a comprehensive suite of
reconstructive joint products for the hip, knee, shoulder, elbow, foot, ankle, and finger and surgical productivity tools.

We have a global footprint, with production facilities in North America, Europe, Africa, and Asia. We serve a global customer base across multiple
markets through a combination of direct sales and third-party distribution channels. Our customer base is highly diversified in the medical markets.

Integral to our operations is our business management system, EGX. EGX is our culture and includes our values and behaviors, a comprehensive set of
tools, and repeatable, teachable processes that we use to drive continuous improvement and create superior value for our customers, shareholders and
associates. We believe that our management team’s access to, and experience in, the application of the EGX methodology is one of our primary competitive
strengths.

Results of Operations

The following discussion of Results of Operations addresses the comparison of the periods presented. Our management evaluates the operating results of
each of its reportable segments based upon Net sales and Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the “Non-GAAP Measures” section.

Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results

Our financial performance and growth are driven by many factors, principally our ability to serve customers with market-leading delivery and innovation;
the mix of products sold in any period; the impact of competitive forces, economic and market conditions; reimbursement levels for products in certain
medical sales channels; availability of capital and attractive acquisition opportunities; our ability to continuously improve our cost structure; fluctuations in the
relationship of foreign currencies to the U.S. dollar; and our ability to pass cost increases on to customers through pricing. These key factors have impacted
our results
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of operations in the past and are likely to affect them in the future. The comparability of our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2022 to the
comparable periods is affected by the following additional significant items:

The Separation

On April 4, 2022, we completed the Separation through a tax-free, pro-rata distribution of 90% of the outstanding common stock of ESAB to our
stockholders. We initially retained 10% of the shares of ESAB common stock immediately following the Separation. On November 18, 2022, we completed
an exchange with a lender under our Enovis Credit Agreement of 6,003,431 shares of common stock of ESAB, representing all of our retained shares, for
$230.5 million in term loan outstanding under our Enovis Credit Agreement. We recorded a gain of $102.7 million on the exchange of the shares representing
the excess of fair value, less cost to sell, over our cost basis in the investment.

Once the Separation was completed in the second quarter of 2022, we began classifying the results from the fabrication technology business for the
comparable periods presented as a discontinued operation in our financial statements. Accordingly, the results of our fabrication technology businesses are
excluded from continuing operations in the accompanying financials for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

We expect that the Separation allows each company to: (1) optimize capital allocation for internal investment, mergers and acquisitions, and return of
capital to shareholders; (2) tailor investment to its specific business profile and strategic priorities in the most efficient manner possible; (3) increase operating
flexibility and resources to capitalize on growth opportunities in its respective markets; and (4) improve both investor alignment with its clear value
proposition and the ability for investors to value it based on its distinct strategic, operational and financial characteristics. The Separation also provides each
company with an appropriately valued acquisition currency that can be used for larger, transformational transactions. Please see Part I. Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” in this Form 10-K for further discussion of the Company’s risks relating to the Separation.

Strategic Acquisitions

We complement our organic growth plans with strategic acquisitions and other investments. Acquisitions can significantly affect our reported results, and
we report the change in our Net sales between periods both from existing and acquired businesses. The change in Net sales due to acquisitions for the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 presented in this filing represents the incremental sales in comparison to the portion of the prior period during which we
did not own the business.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company completed two business acquisitions for aggregate net cash consideration of $50.5 million. In
the second quarter of 2022, the Company acquired KICo Knee Innovation Company Pty Limited and subsidiaries, an Australian private company doing
business as 360 Med Care, which is a medical device distributor that bundles certain computer-assisted surgery and patient experience enhancement programs
to add value to the device supply arrangements with surgeons, hospitals, and insurers. In the third quarter of 2022, the Company acquired a controlling interest
in Insight Medical Systems, the flagship product of which is the ARVIS surgical navigation system.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company completed five acquisitions for aggregate net cash consideration of $201.6 million and
aggregate equity consideration of $285.7 million. In the first quarter of 2021, the Company acquired Trilliant Surgical, a national provider of foot and ankle
orthopedic implants. In the second quarter of 2021, the Company acquired MedShape, Inc., a provider of innovative surgical solutions for foot and ankle
surgeons using its patented superelastic nickel titanium (NiTiNOL) and shape memory polymer technologies. These two acquisitions were completed for total
consideration, net of cash received, of $204.1 million, subject to certain adjustments. The Trilliant and MedShape acquisitions, along with the 2020 acquisition
of the Scandinavian Total Ankle Replacement System and Finger Joint Arthroplasty Portfolio, created our growth product portfolio in the foot and ankle
surgical market. In the third quarter of 2021, the Company acquired Mathys AG Bettlach (“Mathys”), a Switzerland-based company that develops and
distributes innovative products for artificial joint replacement, synthetic bone graft solutions and sports medicine, for total acquisition equity consideration of
$285.7 million of Colfax Common stock. The Mathys acquisition expanded our reconstructive product portfolio with its complementary surgical solutions and
broadened our reach outside the U.S.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company completed five acquisitions for total consideration, net of cash received, of $67.5 million,
subject to certain purchase price adjustments. This included the fourth quarter acquisition of LiteCure LLC, a U.S. leader in high-powered laser rehab products
for human and veterinary medical applications for net cash consideration after purchase price adjustments of $39.6 million.

36



Global Operations
 
During 2022, approximately 32% of our sales are derived from operations outside the U.S., the majority of which is in Europe with the remaining portion

mostly in the Asia-Pacific region. Accordingly, we can be affected by market demand, economic and political factors in countries in Europe and the Asia-
Pacific region, and significant movements in foreign exchange rates. Our ability to grow and our financial performance will be affected by our ability to
address challenges and opportunities that are a consequence of expanding our global operations through our recent acquisitions, including efficiently utilizing
our international sales channels, manufacturing and distribution capabilities, participating in the expansion of market opportunities, successfully completing
global acquisitions and engineering innovative new product applications to create better patient outcomes. 

The majority of our Net sales derived from operations outside the U.S. are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Similar portions of our
manufacturing and employee costs are also outside the U.S. and denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Changes in foreign exchange rates can
impact our results of operations and are quantified when significant. For the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021, fluctuations in foreign
currencies decreased Net sales and Gross profit by approximately 2.5% and decreased operating expenses by approximately 2%.

Seasonality

Although sales in our Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments typically peak in the fourth quarter, these historical seasonality trends were
disrupted by the commercial impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. General economic conditions may, however, impact future seasonal variations.

Material Costs
 
Our principal raw materials and components are foam ethylene vinyl acetate, copolymer for our bracing and vascular products in our Prevention &

Recovery segment and cobalt chromium alloy, stainless steel alloys, titanium alloy and ultra high molecular weight polyethylene in our Reconstructive
segment. Prices for raw materials, energy and commodities are subject to volatility and are influenced by worldwide economic conditions. Input cost inflation
historically has not been a material factor to our gross margin; however, inflation effects have increased since 2021 and are expected to continue to remain
elevated for at least the near term. In response, we have been enacting tactical price increases to certain products, mainly in the Prevention & Recovery
segment. Although we seek to proactively manage inflation risk, future changes in component and raw material costs may adversely impact earnings or our
margins. Prices for raw materials, energy and commodities are also influenced by import duties and tariffs, world supply and demand balances, inventory
levels, availability of substitute materials, currency exchange rates, anticipated or perceived shortages, geopolitical tensions, government trade practices and
regulations and other factors.

 
Sales and Cost Mix
 
Gross profit margins within our operating segments vary primarily based on the type of product and distribution channel. Reconstructive products tend to

have higher gross margins than the Prevention & Recovery products.

The mix of sales was as follows for the periods presented:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Prevention & Recovery 66 % 72 % 77 %
Reconstructive 34 % 28 % 23 %

The changes from the year ended December 31, 2020 to 2022 reflects the impact from acquisitions and double-digit growth.

(1)

(1) 
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Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin, two non-GAAP performance measures, are included in this report because they are key metrics used
by our management to assess our operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA excludes from Net income (loss) from continuing operations the effect of income
tax expense (benefit), Other income, non-operating (gain) loss on investments, debt extinguishment charges, interest expense, net, restructuring and other
charges, Medical Device Regulation (MDR) fees and other costs, strategic transaction costs, stock-based compensation, depreciation and other amortization,
acquisition-related intangible asset amortization, insurance settlement (gain) loss, and fair value charges on acquired inventory. We also present Adjusted
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin by operating segment, which are subject to the same adjustments. Operating income (loss), adjusted EBITDA and
adjusted EBITDA margins at the operating segment level also include allocations of certain central function expenses not directly attributable to either
operating segment. Adjusted EBITDA assists our management in comparing operating performance over time because certain items may obscure underlying
business trends and make comparisons of long-term performance difficult, as they are of a nature and/or size that occur with inconsistent frequency or relate to
discrete restructuring plans and other initiatives that are fundamentally different from our ongoing productivity improvements. Our management also believes
that presenting these measures allows investors to view our performance using the same measures that we use in evaluating our financial and business
performance and trends.

Non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information calculated in accordance with
GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review the reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. The
following tables set forth a reconciliation of net loss from continuing operations, the most directly comparable financial statement measure, to Adjusted
EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Prevention &

Recovery Reconstructive Total
(Dollars in millions)

Net loss from continuing operations (GAAP) $ (38.2)
    Income tax expense 36.1
    Other income (2.1)
    Gain on cost basis investment (8.8)
    Gain on investment in ESAB Corporation (102.7)
    Debt extinguishment charges 20.4
    Interest expense, net 24.1
Operating loss (GAAP) $ (18.2) $ (52.9) (71.2)
Operating loss margin (1.8)% (9.9)% (4.6)%
Adjusted to add (deduct):
    Restructuring and other charges 9.6 9.4 19.0 
    MDR and other costs 9.8 6.9 16.7 
    Strategic transaction costs 39.9 21.2 61.0 
    Stock-based compensation 20.2 11.3 31.5 
    Depreciation and other amortization 24.4 52.3 76.7 
    Amortization of acquired intangibles 80.1 46.2 126.3 
    Insurance settlement gain (24.4) (12.3) (36.7)
    Inventory step-up — 12.8 12.8 
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 141.3 $ 94.7 $ 236.1 

Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 13.8 % 17.7 % 15.1 %

Non-operating components of Net loss from continuing operations are not allocated to the segments.
Restructuring and other charges in the Prevention & Recovery segment includes $1.7 million of expense classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Certain amounts are allocated to the segments as a percentage of revenue as the costs or gain are not discrete to either segment.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

38



Year Ended December 31, 2021
Prevention &

Recovery Reconstructive Total
(Dollars in millions)

Net loss from continuing operations (GAAP) $ (102.3)
    Income tax benefit (19.5)
    Debt extinguishment charges 29.9 
    Interest expense, net 29.1 
Operating loss (GAAP) $ (14.9) $ (47.9) (62.8)
Operating loss margin (1.5)% (12.0)% (4.4)%
Adjusted to add:
    Restructuring and other charges 11.5 2.4 13.9 
    MDR and other costs 5.7 2.2 7.9 
    Strategic transaction costs 14.8 8.6 23.4 
    Stock-based compensation 17.8 7.9 25.7 
    Depreciation and other amortization 25.3 44.8 70.1 
    Amortization of acquired intangibles 72.6 44.3 116.9 
    Inventory step-up 0.7 10.1 10.8 
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 133.5 $ 72.5 $ 206.0 

Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 13.0 % 18.1 % 14.4 %

Non-operating components of Net loss from continuing operations are not allocated to the segments.
Restructuring and other charges in the Prevention & Recovery segment includes $5.2 million of expense classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Certain amounts are allocated to the segments as a percentage of revenue as the costs or gain are not discrete to either segment.

Year Ended December 31, 2020
Prevention &

Recovery Reconstructive Total
(Dollars in millions)

Net loss from continuing operations (GAAP) $ (74.4)
    Income tax benefit (44.6)
    Interest expense, net 52.8 
Operating loss (GAAP) $ (43.9) $ (22.3) (66.2)
Operating loss margin (5.1)% (8.6)% (5.9)%
Adjusted to add:
    Restructuring and other charges 19.6 3.8 23.3 
    MDR and other costs 5.0 1.9 6.9 
    Strategic transaction costs 2.2 0.6 2.8 
    Stock-based compensation 17.3 5.2 22.5 
    Depreciation and other amortization 25.2 39.3 64.6 
    Amortization of acquired intangibles 82.9 20.4 103.3 
    Inventory step-up 4.3 — 4.3 
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 112.6 $ 49.0 $ 161.5 

Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 13.0 % 19.0 % 14.4 %

Non-operating components of Net loss from continuing operations are not allocated to the segments.
Restructuring and other charges in the Prevention & Recovery segment includes $6.6 million of expense classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Certain amounts are allocated to the segments as a percentage of revenue as the costs or gain are not discrete to either segment.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(3)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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Total Company

Sales

Net sales from continuing operations increased to $1.6 billion in 2022 from $1.4 billion in 2021. The following table presents the components of changes
in our consolidated Net sales.

Net Sales
$ %

(Dollars in millions)
For the year ended December 31, 2020 $ 1,120.7 
Components of Change:
Existing businesses 154.3 13.8 %
Acquisitions 139.5 12.4 %
Foreign currency translation 11.7 1.0 %

 305.5 27.2 %
For the year ended December 31, 2021 $ 1,426.2 
Components of Change:
Existing businesses 79.6 5.6 %
Acquisitions 93.3 6.5 %
Foreign currency translation (36.0) (2.5)%

136.9 9.6 %

For the year ended December 31, 2022 $ 1,563.1 

Excludes the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations and acquisitions, thus providing a measure of change due to factors such as price, product mix and volume.
Represents the incremental sales as a result of acquisitions closed subsequent to the beginning of the prior year period.
Represents the difference between prior year sales valued at the actual prior year foreign exchange rates and prior year sales valued at current year foreign exchange
rates.

2022 Compared to 2021

Net sales increased during 2022 as compared to 2021 primarily due to an increase in sales from existing businesses across both of our segments and sales
from acquired businesses in our Reconstructive segment, partially offset by foreign currency headwinds primarily in our Prevention & Recovery segment. In
our Reconstructive segment, existing business sales increased $47.1 million, or 11.8%, due to significantly higher sales volumes than the prior year across all
product lines driven by market outperformance, new product launches, and reduced COVID impacts. In our Prevention & Recovery segment, existing
business sales increased $32.5 million, or 3.2%, due to improved sales volumes and inflation-related pricing increases. Net sales from acquisitions increased
during 2022 as compared to 2021 primarily due to the Mathys, Trilliant, and Medshape acquisitions in our Reconstructive segment that closed in 2021. The
strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies, most notably the Euro, caused a $36.0 million unfavorable currency translation impact.

2021 Compared to 2020

Net sales increased during 2021 as compared to 2020 due to the recovery from the COVID-related sales downturn in 2020, inflation-related pricing
increases, sales from acquisitions, new product sales, and foreign currency tailwinds. In our Reconstructive segment, existing business sales increased $36.1
million, or 14.0%, primarily due to a recovery in sales volumes from the decline related to COVID-19 and expansion in the reconstructive product group from
market outperformance and new product launches. In our Prevention & Recovery segment, existing business sales increased $117.6 million, or 13.6%,
primarily due to a recovery in sales volumes from the decline related to COVID, as well as inflation-related pricing increases and foreign currency tailwinds.
Net sales from acquisitions increased during 2021 as compared to 2020 primarily due to acquisitions that closed in 2021 and the fourth quarter of 2020. The
weakening of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies, most notably the Euro, led to an $11.7 million favorable currency translation impact.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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Operating Results

The following table summarizes our results from continuing operations for the comparable three-year period.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(Dollars in millions)
Gross profit $ 869.4 $ 777.7 $ 603.6 
Gross profit margin 55.6 % 54.5 % 53.9 %
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 772.9 $ 665.8 $ 515.5 
Research and development expense $ 60.8 $ 49.1 $ 34.3 
Operating loss $ (71.2) $ (62.8) $ (66.2)
Operating loss margin (4.6)% (4.4)% (5.9)%
Net loss from continuing operations $ (38.2) $ (102.3) $ (74.4)
Net loss margin from continuing operations (GAAP) (2.4)% (7.2)% (6.6)%
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 236.1 $ 206.0 $ 161.5 
Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 15.1 % 14.4 % 14.4 %
Items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA:

Restructuring and other charges $ 19.0 $ 13.9 $ 23.3 
MDR and other costs $ 16.7 $ 7.9 $ 6.9 

     Strategic transaction costs $ 61.0 $ 23.4 $ 2.8 
     Stock-based compensation $ 31.5 $ 25.7 $ 22.5 

Depreciation and other amortization $ 76.7 $ 70.1 $ 64.6 
Amortization of acquired intangibles $ 126.3 $ 116.9 $ 103.3 
Insurance settlement gain $ (36.7) $ — $ — 
Inventory step-up $ 12.8 $ 10.8 $ 4.3 

Interest expense, net $ 24.1 $ 29.1 $ 52.8 
Debt extinguishment charges $ 20.4 $ 29.9 $ — 
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 36.1 $ (19.5) $ (44.6)

Restructuring and other charges includes $1.7 million, $5.2 million and $6.6 million of expense classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

2022 Compared to 2021

Gross profit increased $91.7 million during 2022 in comparison to 2021 due to an $89.5 million increase in our Reconstructive segment. The Gross profit
increase was attributable to contributions from recent business acquisitions and increased sales in our existing businesses, partially offset by inflation of
supply chain, logistics, and other costs, unfavorable foreign currency translation effects, and higher inventory step-up charges of $2.0 million. Gross profit
margin increased due to segment performance, including pricing and other benefits, offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs.

Selling, general and administrative expense increased $107.1 million primarily due to a $50.3 million increase in costs associated with acquisitions and
the related integration costs from the newly acquired businesses within our Reconstructive segment and a $37.6 million increase in strategic transaction costs,
driven by Separation-related costs incurred in the first half of 2022. Research and development costs also increased compared to the prior year period
primarily due to increased spend within recently acquired businesses in our Reconstructive segment. Amortization of acquired intangibles and Depreciation
and other amortization also increased compared to the prior year period due to acquisition-related increases.

On November 18, 2022, we completed an exchange with a lender under our Enovis Credit Agreement of 6,003,431 shares of common stock of ESAB,
representing all of our retained interest in ESAB, for $230.5 million of the $450 million in term loan outstanding under the Enovis Credit Agreement. We
recorded a gain of $102.7 million on the disposition of the investment representing the fair value in excess of cost basis.

(1)

(1) 
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recorded a net insurance settlement gain of $36.7 million which was related to the 2019 acquisition of DJO
and which, along with the aforementioned gain on the disposition of the ESAB investment, significantly impacted our results.

Debt extinguishment charges of $20.4 million were recorded in the year ended December 31, 2022. Charges of $20.1 million were recorded in the second
quarter of 2022, comprised of $12.7 million in redemption premiums and $7.4 million in noncash write-offs of original issue discount and deferred financing
fees in conjunction with the Separation. Additionally, $0.3 million of noncash write-offs of deferred financing fees were recorded in conjunction with the
aforementioned debt-for-equity exchange during the fourth quarter of 2022. Debt extinguishment charges of $29.9 million were recorded in the second quarter
of 2021 due to an early redemption of certain senior notes.

Interest expense, net decreased by $5.0 million, primarily due to a reduction in debt balances as a result of the Separation-related debt redemptions at the
beginning of the second quarter of 2022.

The effective tax rate for Net income from continuing operations during 2022 was (1,745.8)% on a loss from continuing operations before income taxes,
which was different than the 2022 U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21% mainly due to the net impact of U.S. tax on non-deductible costs and capital gains on
current year transactions. These were partially offset by the reduction of valuation allowances on U.S. and German net operating losses, and interest limitation
carryforwards. The effective tax rate for 2021 was 16.0% on a loss from continuing operations before income taxes, which was lower than the 2021 U.S.
federal statutory tax rate of 21% mainly due to the impact of additional U.S. tax on international operations and certain non-deductible expenses. These were
offset by the net impact of reduction of valuation allowance on U.S. federal net operating losses.

Net loss from continuing operations decreased primarily due to the gain on the ESAB common stock, as well as the insurance settlement gain and
acquisition-related sales, offset by costs associated with the Separation and acquisition-related costs. Net loss margin from continuing operations decreased by
480 basis points due to the aforementioned factors. Adjusted EBITDA increased due to organic growth and lower operating expenses in existing businesses,
partially offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs. Adjusted EBITDA margin excluding the effects of recent acquisitions and foreign
currency pressures increased by approximately 150 basis points. Our recent acquisitions were dilutive to the margin by approximately 70 basis points and are
expected to be accretive to margins in future years.

2021 Compared to 2020

Gross profit increased $174.0 million during 2021 in comparison to 2020 due to an $87.3 million increase in our Prevention & Recovery Segment and an
$86.8 million increase in our Reconstructive segment. The Gross profit increase was primarily attributable to higher sales volumes and related improved
production efficiencies compared to 2020 during which sales volumes were negatively impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. During 2021, Gross profit and
gross profit margin also increased due to acquisitions, new product initiatives and favorable foreign currency impacts, partially offset by increased supply
chain and logistic costs in both segments.

Selling, general and administrative expense increased $150.3 million primarily due to a $103.7 million increase in costs associated with acquisitions and
the related integration costs from the newly acquired businesses, primarily within our Reconstructive segment, the cessation of prior year temporary cost
reduction measures that were taken in response to COVID-19, and increased sales commissions from higher sales levels. A $20.6 million increase in strategic
transaction costs primarily related to the Separation also increased Selling, general and administrative expense during 2021.

Debt extinguishment charges of $29.9 million were recorded in the second quarter of 2021 due to an early redemption of certain senior notes. Interest
expense, net decreased by $23.7 million, primarily due to an overall reduction in debt balances during the current year as a result of the aforementioned
redemption of senior notes.

The effective tax rate for 2021 was 16.0% on a loss from continuing operations before income taxes, which was lower than the 2021 U.S. federal statutory
tax rate of 21% mainly due to the impact of additional U.S. tax on international operations and certain non-deductible expenses. These were offset by the
impact of the reduction of valuation allowance on U.S federal net operating losses. The effective tax rate for 2020 was 37.5% on a loss from continuing
operations before income taxes, which was higher than the 2020 U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21% mainly due to the net impact of reduction of valuation
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allowance on U.S. federal, state and foreign net operating losses. These were offset by the impact of additional U.S. tax on international operations and certain
non-deductible expenses.

Net loss from continuing operations increased in 2021 compared to 2020, largely due to the cessation of aforementioned temporary cost reductions
implemented during 2020 in reaction to COVID-driven sales reductions, higher income tax expense, as well as increased supply chain and logistic costs, offset
by increased sales from the 2021 COVID recovery. During 2021, we also incurred debt extinguishment charges, increased strategic transaction costs related to
the Separation, and higher sales commissions related to greater sales. Net loss margin from continuing operations increased by 60 basis points due to the
aforementioned factors. Adjusted EBITDA increased primarily due to the improved sales volumes and new product initiatives, partially offset by the
aforementioned supply chain and logistic costs and sales commission increases, and the cessation of the aforementioned temporary cost reductions. Adjusted
EBITDA margin remained flat due to the above reasons, the impacts of which were offset by costs associated with recent acquisitions which were dilutive to
the margin, but are expected to be accretive in future years.

43



Business Segments

As discussed further above, we report results in two reportable segments: Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive. Operating loss, adjusted EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA margins at the operating segment level also include allocations of certain central function expenses not directly attributable to either
operating segment. See See Item 7. “Non-GAAP Measures” for a further discussion and reconciliation of these non-GAAP measures to their most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures.

Prevention & Recovery

We develop, manufacture, and distribute rigid bracing products, orthopedic soft goods, vascular systems and compression garments, and hot and cold
therapy products and offer robust recovery sciences products in the clinical rehabilitation and sports medicine markets such as bone growth stimulators and
electrical stimulators used for pain management. Our Prevention & Recovery products are marketed under several brand names, most notably DJO, to
orthopedic specialists, primary care physicians, pain management specialists, physical therapists, podiatrists, chiropractors, athletic trainers, and other
healthcare professionals who treat patients with a variety of treatment needs including musculoskeletal conditions resulting from degenerative diseases,
deformities, traumatic events and sports-related injuries. Many of our medical devices and related accessories are used by athletes and other patients for injury
prevention and at-home physical therapy treatments. We reach a diverse customer base through multiple distribution channels, including independent
distributors, direct salespeople, and directly to patients.

The following table summarizes selected financial data for our Prevention & Recovery segment:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(Dollars in millions)
Net sales $ 1,027.6 $ 1,026.0 $ 863.2 
Gross profit $ 518.2 $ 516.1 $ 428.8 
Gross profit margin 50.4 % 50.3 % 49.7 
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 438.9 $ 421.9 $ 352.8 
Research and development expense $ 33.5 $ 30.2 $ 24.1 

Operating loss (GAAP) $ (18.2) $ (14.9) $ (43.9)
Operating loss margin (GAAP) (1.8)% (1.5)% (5.1)
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 141.3 $ 133.5 $ 112.6 
Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 13.8 % 13.0 % 13.0 

2022 Compared to 2021

Net sales in our Prevention & Recovery segment increased $1.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared with the prior year period, driven
by organic growth in existing businesses which was aided by pricing increases to mitigate inflation, mostly offset by $30.9 million of currency translation
pressure. Gross profit increased $2.1 million due to the improved sales, offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs and unfavorable foreign
currency effects. Gross profit margin increased 10 basis points for the same reasons. Selling, general and administrative expense increased primarily due to
increased costs related to the Separation, offset by lower central costs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin increased due to the reduction in
central cost allocations, partially offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs.

2021 Compared to 2020

Net sales in our Prevention & Recovery segment increased $162.9 million during 2021 compared to 2020 due to the strong recovery from the COVID-19
effects that impacted 2020, as well as new product initiatives, acquisition-related sales growth of $33.5 million, and a $11.2 million favorable foreign currency
translation impact. Gross profit increased $87.3 million as a result of improved sales volumes and production efficiencies, offset by inflation-related pricing
and cost increases. Gross profit margin increased 60 basis points for the same reasons. Selling, general and administrative expense increased primarily due to
the cessation of temporary cost reductions implemented in 2020 and higher sales commissions in the current year. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
margin increased due to the improved sales volumes, partially offset by increased Selling, general and administrative costs and cost increases over the same
period.
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Reconstructive
We develop, manufacture, and market a wide variety of knee, hip, shoulder, elbow, foot, ankle, and finger implant products and surgical productivity

solutions that serve the orthopedic reconstructive joint implant market. Our products are primarily used by surgeons for surgical procedures.

The following table summarizes the selected financial data for our Reconstructive segment:
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
(Dollars in millions)

Net sales $ 535.5 $ 400.2 $ 257.6 
Gross profit $ 351.1 $ 261.6 $ 174.8 
Gross profit margin 65.6 % 65.4 % 67.9 
Selling, general and administrative expense $ 334.0 $ 243.8 $ 162.6 
Research and development expense $ 27.4 $ 18.9 $ 10.1 

Operating loss (GAAP) $ (52.9) $ (47.9) $ (22.3)
Operating loss margin (GAAP) (9.9)% (12.0)% (8.6)
Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 94.7 $ 72.5 $ 49.0 
Adjusted EBITDA margin (non-GAAP) 17.7 % 18.1 % 19.0 

 
2022 Compared to 2021

Net sales increased for our Reconstructive segment in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared with the prior year, primarily due to acquisition-
related sales growth of $93.3 million and existing business sales growth of $47.1 million. Sales were negatively impacted in 2021, most notably the second
half of the year, due to COVID-19 surges and a related deceleration in elective surgical procedure volumes. Gross profit and gross profit margin increased
primarily due to acquisition and existing business growth, partially offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs. Selling, general and
administrative expense also increased primarily due to $50.3 million of costs from acquisitions, including integration costs for the newly-acquired businesses,
as well as increased central costs, including costs associated with the Separation. Adjusted EBITDA increased primarily due to growth in existing businesses,
partially offset by inflation of supply chain, logistics, and other costs. Without the impact of recent acquisition, Adjusted EBITDA margin increased 260 basis
points compared to prior year. Recent acquisitions were dilutive to the margin by approximately 300 basis points, but are expected to be accretive to margins
in future years.

2021 Compared to 2020

Net sales increased for our Reconstructive segment during year ended December 31, 2021 compared with the prior year due to a recovery in sales
volumes from the COVID-19-related declines during 2020, as well as continued expansion from market outperformance and new product launches,
acquisition-related sales growth of $106.0 million and a favorable foreign currency translation impact of $0.5 million. After a surge of COVID-19 cases in the
fourth quarter of 2020, which negatively impacted sales volumes early in 2021, sales volumes began normalizing late in the first quarter and through the
second quarter of 2021. However, as a result of the increase in cases of COVID-19 variants during the second half of 2021, recovery slowed during this
period, primarily due to a deceleration in elective surgical procedure volumes. Gross profit increased due to improved sales volumes and acquisition-related
growth, partially offset by increased supply chain and logistic costs. Gross profit margin decreased because of recent acquisitions, which were dilutive to the
2021 margins, but are expected to be accretive in future years. Selling, general and administrative expense also increased primarily due to the additional costs
from newly-acquired businesses and related integration costs, the cessation of temporary employee cost reductions implemented during 2020, and higher sales
commissions in 2021. Adjusted EBITDA margin decreased because of recent acquisitions, which were dilutive to the 2021 margins, but are expected to be
accretive in future years.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

We finance our long-term capital and working capital requirements through a combination of cash flows from operating activities, various borrowings and
the issuances of equity. We expect that our primary ongoing requirements for cash will be for working capital, funding of acquisitions, capital expenditures,
restructuring cash outflows, and interest and principal repayments on amounts drawn on our revolving credit facility. We believe we could raise additional
funds in the form of debt or equity if it was determined to be appropriate for strategic acquisitions or other corporate purposes.

ESAB Separation

We completed the separation of ESAB on April 4, 2022, through a tax-free, pro-rata distribution of 90% of the outstanding common stock of ESAB to our
shareholders. At the time of the Separation, we retained 10% of the shares of ESAB common stock.

In connection with the Separation, ESAB issued $1.2 billion of new debt securities, the proceeds from which were used to fund a $1.2 billion cash
distribution to us upon Separation. We used the distribution proceeds in conjunction with $450 million of borrowings on a term loan under our Enovis Credit
Agreement and $52.3 million of cash on hand to repay $1.4 billion of outstanding debt and accrued interest on our prior credit facility, $302.8 million of
outstanding debt and accrued interest on our senior notes due February 15, 2026 (“2026 Notes”), as well as a redemption premium at 103.188% of the
principal amount of our 2026 Notes, and other fees and expenses due at closing. Additionally, on April 7, 2022, we completed the redemption of our senior
unsecured notes due April 2025 (“Euro Senior Notes”) representing all of our outstanding €350 million principal 3.250% Senior Notes due 2025 at a
redemption price of 100.813% of the principal amount and accrued interest for $391.2 million. See section Enovis Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility in
Note 13, “Debt” in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more detail on the new Enovis Credit Agreement.

In the second quarter of 2022, we recorded Debt extinguishment charges of $20.1 million, including $12.7 million of redemption premiums on the retired
debt instruments and $7.4 million in noncash write-offs of original issue discount and deferred financing fees.

On November 18, 2022, we divested the retained ESAB shares to a lender under the Enovis Credit Agreement in a tax-efficient exchange for
extinguishing $230.5 million of our outstanding term loan under the Enovis Credit Agreement.

Equity Capital
    

In connection with the Separation, we effected a one-for-three reverse stock split of all issued and outstanding shares of Enovis common stock. As a result
of the reverse stock split, all share and per share figures, as applicable, contained in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations have been retroactively restated as if the reverse stock split occurred
at the beginning of the periods presented.

On March 19, 2021, we completed the underwritten public offering of 5.4 million shares of our Common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split,
resulting in net proceeds of $711.3 million, after deducting offering expenses and underwriters’ discount and commissions. We used the proceeds to pay down
a certain portion of our senior notes.

On July 28, 2021, the Company issued 2.2 million shares of Common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, to the former shareholders of Mathys
for acquisition consideration of $285.7 million.

In 2018, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of our Common stock from time-to-time on the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions. No stock repurchases have been made under this plan since the third quarter of 2018. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining stock repurchase
authorization provided by our Board of Directors was $100.0 million. The timing, amount, and method of shares repurchased is determined by management
based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors. There is no term associated with the remaining repurchase authorization.

Enovis Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On April 4, 2022, we entered into a new credit agreement (the “Enovis Credit Agreement”), consisting of a $900 million revolving credit facility (the
“Revolver”) with an April 4, 2027 maturity date and a term loan with an initial aggregate principal
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amount of $450 million and an April 4, 2023 maturity date (the “Enovis Term Loan”). The Revolver contains a $50 million swing line loan sub-facility.
Certain U.S. subsidiaries of the Company guarantee the obligations under the Enovis Credit Agreement.

On November 18, 2022, the Company completed an exchange with a lender under the Enovis Credit Agreement of 6,003,431 shares of common stock of
ESAB, representing all of the retained shares in ESAB following the Separation, for $230.5 million of the $450.0 million in Enovis Term Loan outstanding
under the Enovis Credit Agreement, net of cost to sell. The remaining $219.5 million outstanding balance on the Enovis Term Loan matures on April 4, 2023,
and we expect to use the Revolver to pay the balance due.

The Enovis Credit Agreement contains customary covenants limiting the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur debt or
liens, merge or consolidate with others, dispose of assets, make investments or pay dividends. In addition, the Enovis Credit Agreement contains financial
covenants requiring the Company to maintain (i) a maximum total leverage ratio of not more than 4.00:1.00, with a step-down to 3.75:1.00 commencing with
the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2023, and a step-down to 3.50:1.00 commencing with the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2024, and (ii) a minimum interest
coverage ratio of 3.00:1.00. The Enovis Credit Agreement contains various events of default (including failure to comply with the covenants under the Enovis
Credit Agreement and related agreements) and upon an event of default the lenders may, subject to various customary cure rights, require the immediate
payment of all amounts outstanding under the Enovis Term Loan and the Revolver. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the
covenants under the Enovis Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2022, the weighted-average interest rate of borrowings under the Enovis Credit Agreement was 5.71%, excluding accretion of
original issue discount and deferred financing fees, and there was $860.0 million available on the Revolver.

Euro Notes

In 2017, we issued senior unsecured notes with an aggregate principal amount of €350 million due in May 2025, with an interest rate of 3.25% (the “Euro
Notes”). The Euro Notes were redeemed on April 7, 2022 at 100.813% of the principal amount after the completion of the Separation.

Tangible Equity Unit (“TEU”) Amortizing Notes

In 2019, we issued 5.75% TEU amortizing notes due in January 2022 at an initial principal amount of $15.6099 per note with equal quarterly cash
installments of $1.4375 per note representing a payment of interest and partial payment of principal. The Company paid $6.5 million, $25.0 million, and $23.4
million of principal on the TEU amortizing notes in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. The final installment payment was
made on January 15, 2022. Additionally, in the first quarter of 2022, all of the remaining related TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts were converted to
shares of common stock. See Note 14, “Equity” for further information.

2024 Notes and 2026 Notes

The Company had senior notes with a remaining principal amount of $300 million, which were due on February 15, 2026 and had an interest rate of
6.375%. The 2026 Notes were redeemed on April 7, 2022 at 103.188% of the principal amount after the completion of the Separation.

On April 24, 2021, the Company used the proceeds from its March 2021 equity offering to redeem all of its $600 million 6.0% senior notes due February
14, 2024 (the “2024 Notes”) and $100 million of the outstanding principal of its 2026 Notes for $724.4 million. The 2024 Notes were redeemed at a
redemption price of 103.000% of their principal amount and the 2026 Notes were redeemed at a redemption price of 106.375% of their principal amount, plus,
in each case, accrued and unpaid interest through the date of redemption. In the second quarter of 2021, a net loss on the early extinguishment of debt of
$29.9 million was recorded and included $24.4 million of call premium on the retired debt.

Other Indebtedness

In addition, we are party to various bilateral credit facilities with a borrowing capacity of $30.0 million. As of December 31, 2022, there were no
outstanding borrowings under these facilities.
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We are also party to letter of credit facilities with an aggregate capacity of $15.0 million. Total letters of credit of $7.1 million were outstanding as of
December 31, 2022.

We believe that our sources of liquidity are adequate to fund our operations for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future.

Cash Flows

As of December 31, 2022, we had $24.3 million of Cash and cash equivalents, a decrease of $695.1 million from the $719.4 million of Cash and cash
equivalents on hand as of December 31, 2021. The Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2021 include $39.1 million related to the ESAB business
reported in Total current assets associated with discontinued operations on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The following table summarizes the change in
Cash and cash equivalents during the periods indicated and includes cash flows related to discontinued operations:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(Dollars in millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ (55.9) $ 356.1 $ 301.9 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangibles (105.5) (104.2) (114.8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2.7 7.0 9.6 
Acquisitions, net of cash received, and investments (73.7) (223.3) (69.8)
Net cash used in investing activities (176.4) (320.5) (175.1)
Repayments of debt, net (1,591.2) (126.0) (118.3)
Distribution from ESAB Corporation, net 1,143.4 — — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 5.8 745.2 3.5 
Payment of debt extinguishment costs (12.7) (24.4) — 
Deferred consideration payments and other (10.4) (9.9) (16.8)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (465.1) 584.9 (131.7)
Effect of foreign exchange rates on Cash and cash equivalents 2.3 (2.2) (3.8)
Increase (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalents $ (695.1) $ 618.3 $ (8.6)

    

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $(27)
million, $224 million, and $302 million, respectively.

Cash flows from operating activities can fluctuate significantly from period to period due to changes in working capital and the timing of payments for
items such as restructuring and strategic transaction costs such as Separation costs. Changes in significant operating cash flow items are discussed below.

• Operating cash flows from continuing operations working capital was a use of $116.0 million in 2022, primarily due to business growth and increases
in inventory to insulate for supply chain volatility. Comparative results was a net inflow of $8.2 million for 2021 and a net outflow of $33.9 million
for 2020.

• During 2022 and 2021, cash paid for strategic transaction costs in our continuing operations were $61.0 million and $23.4 million, respectively.
These costs were primarily related to the Separation.

• Cash paid for interest was $37.1 million, $85.5 million and $104.6 million for 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease from 2021 to 2022 is
primarily a result of the change in our capital structure due to the Separation. At the time of the Separation, the Company’s total debt of $2.1 billion
was repaid and replaced with a $450 million term loan. The decrease from 2020 to 2021 is primarily due to debt repaid in 2021 with the $745.2
million of proceeds from the issuance of our common stock.

• During 2022, 2021, and 2020 cash payments of $18.5 million, $8.0 million and $22.5 million, respectively, were made related to our restructuring
initiatives.
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• Cash provided by operating activities for 2022 included a net one-time $36.7 million inflow attributable to insurance settlements and 2021 includes a
one-time cash inflow from a $36.0 million U.S. federal tax refund received in the first quarter of 2021.

Cash flows used in investing activities for 2022, 2021 and 2020 include $73.7 million, $223.3 million and $69.8 million, respectively, for acquisitions and
investments. Refer to Note 5 “Acquisitions” in the accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information. Additionally, cash
flows used in investing activities in 2022, 2021, and 2020 include $105.5 million, $104.2 million and $114.8 million, respectively, for purchases of property,
plant, equipment, and intangibles. Included in these amounts is $5.9 million, $35.6 million and $40.1 million for 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to
discontinued operations.

Cash flows used in financing activities in 2022 includes $1.6 billion net repayment of borrowings, which included the outstanding debt on our prior credit
facility, 2026 Notes and Euro Senior Notes, partially offset by borrowings on a term loan under our new credit facility. The repayments were primarily funded
by a $1.2 billion cash distribution from ESAB to us upon Separation. Cash flows provided by financing activities in 2021 include $745.2 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, partially offset by net debt repayments of $126.0 million. Cash flows used in financing activities for 2020 include net
debt repayments of $118.3 million.

Our Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 include $12.6 million held in jurisdictions outside the U.S. Cash repatriation of non-U.S. cash
into the U.S. may be subject to taxes, other local statutory restrictions and minority owner distributions.

Contractual Obligations

Debt

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s Term Loan and Revolver had principal amounts outstanding of $219.5 million and $40.0 million, respectively.
The Term Loan matures on April 4, 2023. There are no required principal payments due on the Revolver within 12 months and it matures on April 4, 2027.

Interest Payments on Debt

Based on December 31, 2022 outstanding balances and our expectation to repay the Term Loan with borrowings on the Revolver on April 4, 2023, we
estimate future interest payments associated with the Term Loan and Revolver of $3.3 million and $60.3 million, respectively, with $3.3 million and $11.7
million payable within 12 months. Variable interest payments are estimated using a static rate of 5.89% for the Term Loan and 5.68% for the Revolver,
respectively.

Operating Leases

The Company leases certain office spaces, warehouses, facilities, vehicles, and equipment. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had fixed lease
payment obligations of $75.9 million, with $22.3 million payable within 12 months.

Purchase Obligations

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had other purchase obligations of $162.0 million, with $156.8 million payable within 12 months. Purchase
obligations herein exclude open purchase orders for goods or services that are provided on demand as the timing of which is not certain.

We have funding requirements associated with our pension plans as of December 31, 2022, which are estimated to be $3.3 million for the year ending
December 31, 2023. Other long-term liabilities, such as those for other legal claims, employee benefit plan obligations, deferred income taxes and liabilities
for unrecognized income tax benefits, are excluded from this disclosure since they are not contractually fixed as to timing and amount.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that provide liquidity, capital resources, market or credit risk support that expose us to any liability
that is not reflected in our Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2022 other than outstanding letters of credit of $7.1 million and unconditional
purchase obligations with suppliers of $162.0 million.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The methods, estimates and judgments we use in applying our critical accounting policies have a significant impact on our results of operations and
financial position. We evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based upon our historical experience, our evaluation of
business and macroeconomic trends and information from other outside sources, as appropriate. Our experience and assumptions form the basis for our
judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may vary from what our
management anticipates and different assumptions or estimates about the future could have a material impact on our results of operations and financial
position.

 
We believe the following accounting policies are the most critical in that they are important to the financial statements and they require the most difficult,

subjective or complex judgments in the preparation of the financial statements. For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting
policies, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this Form 10-K.
 
Goodwill and Intangible Assets

 
Goodwill represents the costs in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired associated with our business acquisitions. Our business acquisitions

typically result in the recognition of Goodwill, developed technology, trade name or trademark, and customer relationship intangible assets, which affect the
amount of future period amortization expense and possible impairment charges that we may incur. The fair values of acquired intangibles are determined using
estimates and assumptions based on information available near the acquisition date. Significant assumptions include the discount rates, projected net sales and
operating income metrics, royalty rates and technology obsolescence rates. These assumptions are forward looking and could be affected by future economic
and market conditions. We engage third-party valuation specialists who review the critical assumptions and calculations of the fair value of acquired intangible
assets in connection with our significant acquisitions. In connection with our acquisitions of 360 Med Care and Insight during the year ended December 31,
2022, we recognized aggregate Goodwill of approximately $53 million and identifiable intangible assets of approximately $57 million. Refer to Notes 2, 5 and
9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the Company’s policies relating to Goodwill and intangible assets.

 
We evaluate the recoverability of Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change

in the interim that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the asset below its carrying amount. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are
considered to be impaired when the carrying value of a reporting unit or asset exceeds its value.

 
In the evaluation of Goodwill for impairment, we first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a

reporting entity is less than its carrying value. If we determine that it is more likely than not for a reporting unit’s fair value to be greater than its carrying
value, a calculation of the fair value is not performed. If we determine that it is more likely than not for a reporting unit’s fair value to be less than its carrying
value, a calculation of the fair value is performed and compared to the carrying value of that reporting unit. In certain instances, we may elect to forgo the
qualitative assessment and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, Goodwill of that
reporting unit is impaired and an impairment loss is recorded equal to the excess of the carrying value over its fair value.

Generally, we measure fair value of reporting units based on a present value of future discounted cash flows and a market valuation approach. The
discounted cash flow models indicate the fair value of the reporting units based on the present value of the cash flows that the reporting units are expected to
generate in the future. Significant estimates in the discounted cash flow models include the weighted average cost of capital, revenue growth rates, long-term
rate of growth, profitability of our business, tax rates, and working capital effects. The market valuation approach indicates the fair value of the business based
on a comparison against certain market information. Significant estimates in the market approach model include identifying appropriate market multiples and
assessing earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.

Due to overall market declines as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, management decided to forgo the qualitative assessment and performed
quantitative Goodwill impairment tests for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, which resulted in no impairment.

Upon the Separation in April 2022, Goodwill was allocated on a relative fair value basis between the Company’s new reporting units Reconstructive and
Prevention & Recovery.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, management performed a quantitative assessment of Goodwill for the Reconstructive and Prevention & Recovery
reporting units, both of which indicated no impairment existed. The carrying amount of Goodwill of the Reconstructive and Prevention & Recovery reporting
units for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $0.9 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. We determined the fair value of the reporting units by equally
weighting a discounted cash flow approach and market valuation approach, and the reporting unit’s fair value exceeded its carrying amount by approximately
8% and 9%, respectively. Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires the application of judgment and involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions which can be affected by changes in business climate, economic conditions, the competitive environment and other factors. We base these fair
value estimates on assumptions our management believes to be reasonable but which are unpredictable and inherently uncertain. Future changes in the
judgment, assumptions and estimates could result in significantly different estimates of fair value in the future. An increase in discount rates, a reduction in
projected cash flows or a combination of the two could lead to a reduction in the estimated fair values, which may result in impairment charges that could
materially affect our financial statements in any given year. For sensitivity analysis, we estimated the fair value of the Prevention & Recovery and
Reconstructive reporting units if we reduced the long-term revenue growth rate by 25 basis points, and the resulting excess fair value over carrying value
decreased by 120 and 130 basis points, respectively.

A sustained decline in our end-markets and geographic markets could increase the risk of impairments in future years. Actual results could differ from our
estimates and projections, which would also affect the assessment of impairment. As of December 31, 2022, we have Goodwill of $2.0 billion that is subject
to at least annual review for impairment. See Note 9, “Goodwill and Intangible Assets”, in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information.

Income Taxes
 
We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires that deferred tax assets and liabilities be recognized using enacted tax

rates for the effect of temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation
allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, we
consider various factors, including the expected level of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If actual results differ from the
assumptions made in the evaluation of our valuation allowance, we record a change in valuation allowance through income tax expense in the period such
determination is made.

 
Accounting Standards Codification 740, “Income Taxes” prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for a position taken in a tax return.

Under this standard, we must presume the income tax position will be examined by a relevant tax authority and determine whether it is more likely than not
that the income tax position will be sustained upon examination based on its technical merits. An income tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold is then measured to determine the amount of the benefit to be recognized in the financial statements. Liabilities for unrecognized income
tax benefits are reviewed periodically and are adjusted as events occur that affect our estimates, such as the availability of new information, the lapsing of
applicable statutes of limitations, the conclusion of tax audits and, if applicable, the conclusion of any court proceedings. To the extent we prevail in matters
for which liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits have been established or are required to pay amounts in excess of our liabilities for unrecognized tax
benefits, our effective income tax rate in a given period could be materially affected. We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits
in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as part of Income tax expense (benefit). Net liabilities for unrecognized income tax benefits, including accrued
interest and penalties, were $42.1 million as of December 31, 2022 and are included in Other liabilities or as a reduction to deferred tax assets in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet.

 
Revenue Recognition

 
We account for revenue in accordance with Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. We recognize revenue when control of promised

goods or services is transferred to the customer. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services. The nature of our contracts gives rise to certain types of variable consideration, including rebates and other discounts. We
include estimated amounts of variable consideration in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable there will not be a significant reversal of revenue.
Estimates are based on historical or anticipated performance and represent our best judgment at the time. Any estimates are evaluated on a quarterly basis until
the uncertainty is resolved. Additionally, related to sales of our medical device products and services, we maintain provisions for estimated contractual
allowances for reimbursement amounts from certain third-party payors based on negotiated contracts, historical experience for non-contracted payors, and the
impact of new contract terms or modifications of existing arrangements with these customers. We report these allowances as a reduction to Net sales.
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We provide a variety of products and services to our customers. Most of our contracts consist of a single, distinct performance obligation or promise to
transfer goods or services to a customer. For contracts that include multiple performance obligations, we allocate the total transaction price to each
performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each identified performance obligation.

A majority of the revenue we recognize relates to contracts with customers for standard or off-the-shelf products. As control typically transfers to the
customer upon shipment of the product in these circumstances, revenue is generally recognized at that point in time. For service contracts, we recognize
revenue ratably over the period of performance as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the services provided.

Any recognized revenues in excess of customer billings are recorded as a component of Trade receivables. Billings to customers in excess of recognized
revenues are recorded as a component of Accrued liabilities. Each contract is evaluated individually to determine the net asset or net liability position.
Substantially all of our revenue is recognized at a point in time, and revenue recognition and billing typically occur simultaneously.

The period of benefit for our incremental costs of obtaining a contract would generally have less than a one-year duration; therefore, we apply the
practical expedient available and expense costs to obtain a contract when incurred.

 
Trade receivables are presented net of an allowance for credit losses. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses

(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments as of January 1, 2020. The estimate of current expected credit losses on trade receivables
considers historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The allowance for credit losses was
$8.0 million, $6.6 million, and $6.8 million as of December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 
For detailed information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements and the expected impact on our financial statements, see Note 3, “Recently

Issued Accounting Pronouncements” in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes in short-term interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices that could impact our
results of operations and financial condition. We address our exposure to these risks through our normal operating and financing activities. We do not enter
into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to exposure from changes in short-term interest rates related to interest payments on our borrowing arrangements. All of our borrowings as
of December 31, 2022 are variable rate facilities based on Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”). In order to mitigate our interest rate risk, we may
enter into interest rate swap or collar agreements. A hypothetical increase in the interest rate of 1.00% during 2022 would have increased Interest expense on
our variable-rate debt by approximately $4.6 million.

Exchange Rate Risk

We have manufacturing sites in Europe, Africa, and Asia and sell our products internationally. As a result, we are exposed to movements in the exchange
rates of various currencies against the U.S. dollar and against the currencies of other countries in which we manufacture and sell products and services. During
2022, approximately 32% of our sales were derived from operations outside the U.S. We also have manufacturing operations in European countries that are
not part of the Eurozone. We also have significant contractual obligations in U.S. dollars that are met with cash flows in other currencies as well as U.S.
dollars. To better match revenue and expense as well as cash needs from contractual liabilities, we may enter into foreign currency swaps and forward
contracts.

We also face exchange rate risk from our investments in subsidiaries owned and operated in foreign countries. We have the ability to borrow in Euros
under our Credit Facility. The effect of a change in currency exchange rates on our net investment in international subsidiaries is reflected in the Accumulated
other comprehensive loss component of Equity. A 10% depreciation in major currencies, relative to the U.S. dollar as of December 31, 2022 would result in a
reduction in Equity of approximately $90 million.

We also face exchange rate risk from transactions with customers in countries outside the U.S. and from intercompany transactions between affiliates.
Although we use the U.S. dollar as our functional currency for reporting purposes, we have manufacturing sites in Europe, Africa, and Asia, and a portion of
our costs are incurred and sales are generated in foreign currencies. Costs incurred and sales recorded by subsidiaries operating outside of the U.S. are
translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates effective during the respective period. As a result, we are exposed to movements in the exchange rates of
various currencies against the U.S. dollar.

Commodity Price Risk

We are exposed to changes in the prices of raw materials used in our production processes. In order to manage commodity price risk, we periodically
enter into fixed price contracts directly with suppliers.

See Note 17, “Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements” in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Form 10-K for additional information regarding our derivative instruments.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Enovis Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Enovis Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, Enovis Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of Enovis Corporation as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
Index 15(A)(2) and our report dated March 1, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 1, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Enovis Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enovis Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(A)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated March 1, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our
especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.
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Goodwill
Description of the
Matter

At December 31, 2022, the Company’s goodwill allocated to the Prevention & Recovery reporting unit and Reconstructive
reporting unit was $1.1 billion and $0.9 billion, respectively. As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill is not amortized, but rather is subject to an annual impairment test, or more frequent tests if events and circumstances
indicate an impairment exists.

Auditing the Company's goodwill impairment test was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required
by management to determine the fair value of the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive reporting units. In particular, the fair
value estimate was sensitive to significant assumptions, such as changes in the discount rates, market multiples, projected
revenues and projected operating income metrics that are forward-looking and affected by future economic and market conditions.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company's controls over its
annual goodwill impairment testing process, including controls over management’s determination of the significant assumptions
described above. We also tested management’s controls over the completeness and accuracy of the data used in the model.

To test the estimated fair value of the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive reporting units, we performed audit procedures
that included, among others, assessing methodologies and testing the significant assumptions used in the Company’s analyses, as
well as testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data. For example, we compared the significant assumptions to
current third-party industry data, and to the historical results of the two reporting units. We performed sensitivity analyses of
significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the two reporting units that would result from changes in key
assumptions. We also involved internal valuation specialists to assist in our evaluation of the methodologies and significant
assumptions used by the Company. In addition, we tested management’s reconciliation of the fair value of both reporting units to
the market capitalization of the Company.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 1, 2023
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Net sales $ 1,563,101 $ 1,426,188 $ 1,120,700 
Cost of sales 693,718 648,513 517,060 
Gross profit 869,383 777,675 603,640 
Selling, general and administrative expense 772,913 665,775 515,467 
Research and development expense 60,827 49,094 34,268 
Amortization of acquired intangibles 126,301 116,920 103,306 
Insurance settlement gain (36,705) — — 
Restructuring and other charges 17,225 8,685 16,781 
Operating loss (71,178) (62,799) (66,182)
Interest expense, net 24,052 29,112 52,824 
Debt extinguishment charges 20,396 29,870 — 
Gain on investment in ESAB Corporation (102,669) — — 
Gain on cost basis investment (8,800) — — 
Other income (2,088) — — 
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (2,069) (121,781) (119,006)
Income tax expense (benefit) 36,120 (19,528) (44,579)
Net loss from continuing operations (38,189) (102,253) (74,427)
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 26,430 178,531 120,198 
Net income (loss) (11,759) 76,278 45,771 
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing operations - net of taxes 567 1,052 692 
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued operations - net of taxes 966 3,569 2,454 
Net income (loss) attributable to Enovis Corporation $ (13,292) $ 71,657 $ 42,625 
Net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted

Continuing operations $ (0.72) $ (2.02) $ (1.65)
Discontinued operations $ 0.47 $ 3.42 $ 2.58 
Consolidated operations $ (0.25) $ 1.40 $ 0.93 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Dollars in thousands
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net income (loss) $ (11,759) $ 76,278 $ 45,771 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation, net of tax expense (benefit) of $338, $3,449 and $(25) (61,378) (114,389) 59,880 
Unrealized gain (loss) on hedging activities, net of tax expense (benefit) of $2,711, $6,980 and
$(9,120) 9,028 23,247 (26,268)
Changes in unrecognized pension and other post-retirement benefit (cost), net of tax expense (benefit)
of $2,333, $3,368 and $(1,502) 12,207 20,870 (8,169)
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Amortization of pension and other post-retirement net actuarial gain, net of tax expense of $199,
$1,148 and $883 629 5,025 3,735 

Other comprehensive income (loss) (39,514) (65,247) 29,178 
Comprehensive income (loss) (51,273) 11,031 74,949 
Less: comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interest (583) 3,281 585 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Enovis Corporation $ (50,690) $ 7,750 $ 74,364 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Dollars in thousands, except share amounts

December 31,
2022 2021

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 24,295 $ 680,252 
Trade receivables, less allowance for credit losses of $7,965 and $6,589 267,380 254,958 
Inventories, net 426,643 356,233 
Prepaid expenses 28,550 26,046 
Other current assets 48,155 29,176 
Total current assets associated with discontinued operations — 956,614 

Total current assets 795,023 2,303,279 
Property, plant and equipment, net 236,741 235,113 
Goodwill 1,983,588 1,934,258 
Intangible assets, net 1,110,727 1,154,028 
Lease asset - right of use 66,881 76,485 
Other assets 80,288 74,700 
Total non-current assets associated with discontinued operations — 2,738,049 

Total assets $ 4,273,248 $ 8,515,912 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 219,279 $ 7,701 
Accounts payable 135,628 155,208 
Accrued liabilities 210,292 225,391 
Total current liabilities associated with discontinued operations — 635,284 

Total current liabilities 565,199 1,023,584 
Long-term debt, less current portion 40,000 2,078,625 
Non-current lease liability 51,259 56,549 
Other liabilities 166,989 122,159 
Total non-current liabilities associated with discontinued operations — 573,562 

Total liabilities 823,447 3,854,479 
Equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 133,333,333 shares authorized; 54,228,619 and 52,083,078 issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively 54 52 
Additional paid-in capital 2,925,729 4,544,315 
Retained earnings 575,732 589,024 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (53,430) (516,013)

Total Enovis Corporation equity 3,448,085 4,617,378 
Noncontrolling interest 1,716 44,055 
Total equity 3,449,801 4,661,433 
Total liabilities and equity $ 4,273,248 $ 8,515,912 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

Dollars in thousands, except share amounts and as noted

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Noncontrolling
Interest TotalShares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2020 39,353,027 $ 40 $ 3,445,675 $ 479,560 $ (483,845) $ 48,198 $ 3,489,628 
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — (4,818) — — (4,818)
Net income — — — 42,625 — 3,146 45,771 
Distributions to noncontrolling owners — — — — — (4,296) (4,296)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax benefit of
$9,764 — — — — 31,739 (2,561) 29,178 
Common stock-based award activity 145,869 — 32,411 — — — 32,411 

Balance at December 31, 2020 39,498,896 40 3,478,086 517,367 (452,106) 44,487 3,587,874 
Net income — — — 71,657 — 4,621 76,278 
Distributions to noncontrolling owners — — — — — (3,713) (3,713)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax expense of
$14,945 — — — — (63,907) (1,340) (65,247)
Common stock offering, net of issuance costs 5,366,667 5 711,334 — — — 711,339 
Conversion of tangible equity units into common stock 4,441,488 4 (4) — — — — 
Common stock issued for acquisition, net of issuance
costs 2,181,507 2 285,678 — — — 285,680 
Common stock-based award activity 594,520 1 69,221 — — — 69,222 

Balance at December 31, 2021 52,083,078 52 4,544,315 589,024 (516,013) 44,055 4,661,433 
Net income — — — (13,292) — 1,533 (11,759)
Distributions to noncontrolling owners — — — — — (1,591) (1,591)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax expense of
$5,581 — — — — (37,398) (2,116) (39,514)
Distribution of ESAB Corporation — — (1,662,795) — 499,981 (40,510) (1,203,324)
Conversion of tangible equity units into common stock 1,691,845 2 (2) — — — — 
Acquisition — — — — — 345 345 
Common stock-based award activity 453,696 — 44,211 — — — 44,211 

Balance at December 31, 2022 54,228,619 $ 54 $ 2,925,729 $ 575,732 $ (53,430) $ 1,716 $ 3,449,801 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Dollars in thousands

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (11,759) $ 76,278 $ 45,771 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and other impairment charges 219,710 262,919 246,229 
Stock-based compensation expense 38,955 35,350 28,911 
Non-cash interest expense 3,921 4,752 5,739 
Gain on investment in ESAB Corporation (102,669) — — 
Gain on cost basis investment (8,800) — — 
Debt extinguishment charges 20,396 29,870 — 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 6,320 (22,188) (29,218)
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 352 (2,573) (491)
Pension settlement gain — (11,208) — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables, net (45,189) (110,985) 42,688 
Inventories, net (118,791) (129,967) 23,787 
Accounts payable (11,843) 178,467 (30,747)
Other operating assets and liabilities (46,464) 45,384 (30,734)

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (55,861) 356,099 301,935 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangibles (105,450) (104,237) (114,785)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,746 7,033 9,552 
Acquisitions, net of cash received, and investments (73,684) (223,272) (69,846)

Net cash used in investing activities (176,388) (320,476) (175,079)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings on term credit facility 450,000 — — 
Payments under term credit facility (785,000) — (40,000)
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving credit facilities and other 65,000 991,494 860,681 
Repayments of borrowings on revolving credit facilities and other (634,883) (417,526) (938,997)
Repayments of borrowings on Senior notes (300,000) (700,000) — 
Repayments of borrowings on Euro senior notes (386,278) — — 
Distribution from ESAB Corporation, net 1,143,369 — — 
Payment of debt issuance costs (2,938) — (4,560)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net 5,814 745,179 3,500 
Payment of debt extinguishment costs (12,704) (24,375) — 
Deferred consideration payments and other (7,507) (9,866) (12,275)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (465,127) 584,906 (131,651)
Effect of foreign exchange rates on Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted Cash 2,301 (2,228) (3,768)
(Decrease) increase in Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash (695,075) 618,301 (8,563)
Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted Cash, beginning of period 719,370 101,069 109,632 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 24,295 $ 719,370 $ 101,069 

Supplemental disclosures:
Interest payments $ 37,089 $ 85,487 $ 104,620 
Income tax payments, net $ 31,360 $ 47,188 $ 59,377 
Common stock issued for acquisition, net of issuance costs $ — $ 285,680 $ — 
ESAB Corporation shares exchanged for debt, net of fees $ 230,532 $ — $ — 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Nature of Operations
Enovis Corporation (the “Company” or “Enovis”) was previously Colfax Corporation (“Colfax”) until its separation into two differentiated, independent,

and publicly traded companies on April 4, 2022. Colfax was a leading diversified technology company that provided fabrication technology and medical
device products and services to customers around the world, principally under the ESAB and DJO brands. Following the completion of the Separation, the
Company revised its reporting structure and conducts its business through two operating segments, “Prevention & Recovery” and “Reconstructive”. The
segment results were retroactively restated to the current method the Company conducts its business for all years presented.

On April 4, 2022, the Company completed the separation of its fabrication technology business (the “Separation”) through a tax free, pro-rata distribution
of 90% of the outstanding common stock of ESAB Corporation (“ESAB”) to Colfax stockholders. To affect the Separation, Colfax distributed to its
stockholders one share of ESAB common stock for every three shares of Colfax common stock held at the close of business on March 22, 2022, with the
Company initially retaining 10% of the shares of ESAB common stock immediately following the Separation. Upon completion of the Separation, Colfax,
which retained the Company’s specialty medical technology business, changed its name to Enovis Corporation. On April 5, 2022, the Company began trading
under the stock symbol “ENOV” on the New York Stock Exchange.

In connection with the Separation, ESAB issued $1.2 billion of new debt securities, the proceeds from which were used to fund a $1.2 billion cash
distribution to Enovis upon Separation. The distribution proceeds were used by Enovis in conjunction with $450 million of borrowings on a term loan under
the new Enovis Credit Agreement, as discussed below, and $52.3 million of cash on hand to repay $1.4 billion of outstanding debt and accrued interest on the
Company’s prior credit facility, and $302.8 million of outstanding debt and accrued interest on its 2026 Notes, pay a redemption premium at 103.188% of the
principal amount of the 2026 Notes, and pay other fees and expenses due at closing. Additionally, on April 7, 2022, the Company also completed the
redemption of its Euro Senior Notes representing all of its outstanding €350 million principal 3.250% Senior Notes due 2025 at a redemption price of
100.813% of the principal amount.

Immediately following the Separation, the Company effected a one-for-three reverse stock split of all issued and outstanding shares of Enovis common
stock. As a result of the reverse stock split, all share and per share figures contained in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements have been
retroactively restated as if the reverse stock split occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.

The Company completed the divestiture of its 10% retained shares in ESAB in a tax-efficient exchange for $230.5 million of its $450 million term loan
outstanding under the Credit Agreement on November 18, 2022.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements present our historical financial position, results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year
financial information to conform to the current period presentation. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements refer to continuing operations.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the results of (1) ESAB, the Company’s former fabrication technology business; (2)
charges, assets and liabilities for previously retained asbestos contingencies; and (3) divestiture-related expenses associated with our former Air and Gas
Handling business (“Air & Gas”) that was sold in 2019 as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. See Note 4, “Discontinued Operations”, for
further information.

The COVID-19 pandemic, its resulting impact on governments, businesses and individuals, and actions taken by them in response to the situation resulted
in widespread economic disruptions, which significantly affected broader economies, financial markets, and overall demand for the Company’s products in
fiscal year 2020. Other than a surge of COVID-19 cases due to the emergence of COVID-19 variants in the third quarter of 2021, the impacts lessened in 2021
and 2022 due to broadening access to COVID-19 vaccines and gradual relaxing of some government-mandated restrictions.

Sales in our Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments typically peak in the fourth quarter. These historical seasonality trends were disrupted
by the commercial impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. General economic conditions may, however, impact future seasonal variations.
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ENOVIS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Principles of Consolidation

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP and include all majority-owned subsidiaries over which the
Company exercises control and, when applicable, entities or joint ventures for which the Company has a controlling financial interest or is the primary
beneficiary. When protective rights, substantive rights or other factors exist, further analysis is performed in order to determine whether or not there is a
controlling financial interest. The Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of consolidated subsidiaries and the
noncontrolling parties’ ownership share is presented as a noncontrolling interest. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Investments

Investments where the Company has a significant influence but not a controlling interest, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Investments accounted for under the equity method are initially recorded at the amount of the Company’s initial investment and adjusted each period for the
Company’s share of the investee’s income or loss and dividends paid.

The Company accounts for equity investments that do not have a readily determinable fair value as cost method investments under the measurement
alternative under GAAP to the extent such investments are not subject to consolidation or the equity method of accounting as described above. Under the
measurement alternative, these financial instruments are carried at cost, less any impairment, adjusted for changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer. The Company accounts for investments as a noncurrent asset within Other assets
in the Consolidated Financial Statements as the Company does not have the intent and ability to sell such assets within the next twelve months.

All equity investments are reviewed periodically for indications of other-than-temporary impairment, including, but not limited to, significant and
sustained decreases in quoted market prices or a series of historic and projected operating losses by investees. If the decline in fair value is considered to be
other-than-temporary, an impairment loss is recorded and the investment is written down to a new carrying value.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company held investments of $16.5 million in privately held companies, the majority of which are within the Prevention &
Recovery operating segment. These investments represent minority ownership interests and are accounted for under the cost method as the Company does not
have significant influence over the investees. The largest of the Company’s investments consist of a $10.0 million investment in HT Bioimaging Ltd., a
company that has developed a non-invasive cancer scanning technology for veterinarians.

Revenue Recognition

The Company provides a variety of products to its customers with revenue being measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in
exchange for transferring such products. Revenue is recognized at a point in time when we transfer control of our off-the-shelf products to the customer, which
generally occurs when title passes upon shipment. The Company’s contracts have a single performance obligation as the promise to transfer the individual
goods is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and, therefore, not distinct. Revenue recognition and billing typically occur
simultaneously for contracts recognized at a point in time. Therefore, we do not have material revenues in excess of customer billings or billings to customers
in excess of recognized revenues. Refer to Note 6, “Revenue”, and Note 15, “Accrued Liabilities”, for additional information on the Company’s contract
liability balances.

The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services. The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to certain types of variable consideration, including rebates and other discounts. The Company
includes estimated amounts of variable consideration in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable there will not be a significant reversal of revenue.
Estimates are based on historical or anticipated performance and represent the Company’s best judgment at the time. Any estimates are evaluated on a
quarterly basis until the uncertainty is resolved. Additionally, the Company maintains provisions for estimated contractual allowances for reimbursement
amounts from certain third-party payors based on negotiated contracts, historical experience for non-contracted
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payors, and the impact of new contract terms or modifications of existing arrangements with these customers. These allowances are recorded as a reduction to
sales in the same period that the sales are recognized.

The period of benefit for the Company’s incremental costs of obtaining a contract generally have less than a one-year duration; therefore, the Company
applies the practical expedient available and expenses costs to obtain a contract when incurred.

Taxes Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities
 
The Company collects various taxes and fees as an agent in connection with the sale of products and remits these amounts to the respective taxing

authorities. These taxes and fees have been presented on a net basis in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and are recorded as a component of Accrued
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets until remitted to the respective taxing authority.

 
Research and Development Expense
 

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Costs include salaries, wages, consulting and depreciation and maintenance of facilities and
equipment utilized in research, development and engineering activities relating to developing new products, as well as enhancing existing products with the
latest technology and designs, creating new applications for existing products, lowering manufacturing costs and redesigning existing products to increase
efficiency, improve durability, enhance performance and usability. The Company also receives new product and invention ideas from orthopedic surgeons and
other healthcare professionals and seeks to obtain rights to ideas it considers promising from a clinical and commercial perspective through entering into either
assignment or licensing agreements. The Company maintains contractual relationships with orthopedic surgeons who assists in developing products and may
also provide consulting services in connection with our products.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net includes interest income of $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, primarily associated with interest-bearing deposits of certain foreign subsidiaries.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

Cash and cash equivalents include all financial instruments purchased with an initial maturity of three months or less.
Trade Receivables
 

Trade receivables are presented net of an allowance for credit losses. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments as of January 1, 2020. The estimate of current expected credit losses on trade receivables
considers historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Estimated credit losses are
reviewed periodically by management.

Inventories
 

Inventories, net include the cost of material, labor and overhead and are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined under
various methods including average cost and first-in, first-out. The Company periodically reviews its quantities of inventories on hand and compares these
amounts to the expected usage of each particular product. The Company records a charge to Cost of sales for any amounts required to reduce the carrying
value of inventories to its net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment
 

Property, plant and equipment, net is stated at historical cost, which includes the fair values of such assets acquired through acquisitions, and depreciated
by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Repair and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred unless the
repair extends the useful life of the asset. The Company capitalizes surgical implant instruments that are provided free-of-charge to surgeons for use while
implanting its surgical products and the related depreciation expense is recorded as a component of Selling, general and administrative expense.
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Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
 
Goodwill represents the costs in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired through acquisitions by the Company.

The Company evaluates the recoverability of Goodwill annually or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change in the interim that would
more likely than not reduce the fair value of the asset below its carrying amount. The annual impairment test date elected by the Company is the first day of its
fourth quarter. Goodwill is considered to be impaired when the carrying value of a reporting unit or asset exceeds its fair value. The Company currently has
two reporting units: Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive.

 
In the evaluation of Goodwill for impairment, the Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair

value of a reporting entity is less than its carrying value. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not for a reporting unit’s fair value to be greater
than its carrying value, a calculation of the fair value is not performed. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not for a reporting unit’s fair
value to be less than its carrying value, a calculation of the reporting entity’s fair value is performed and compared to the carrying value of that entity. In
certain instances, the Company may elect to forgo the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test. If the carrying value of a
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, Goodwill of that reporting unit is impaired and an impairment loss is recorded equal to the excess of the reporting unit’s
carrying value over its fair value.

When a quantitative impairment test is needed, the Company measures fair value of reporting units based on a present value of future discounted cash
flows and a market valuation approach. The discounted cash flow models indicate the fair value of the reporting units based on the present value of the cash
flows that the reporting units are expected to generate in the future. Significant estimates in the discounted cash flow models include the weighted average cost
of capital, revenue growth rates, long-term rate of growth, profitability of the business, tax rates, and working capital effects. The market valuation approach
indicates the fair value of the business based on a comparison against certain market information. Significant estimates in the market approach model include
identifying appropriate peer companies, market multiples and assessing earnings before interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company performed a quantitative assessment of Goodwill for the Reconstructive and Prevention &
Recovery reporting units, both of which indicated no impairment existed. The carrying amount of Goodwill of the Reconstructive and Prevention & Recovery
reporting units for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $0.9 billion and $1.1 billion, respectively. The Company determined the fair value of the reporting
units by equally weighting a discounted cash flow approach and market valuation approach, and the reporting unit’s fair value exceeded its carrying amount
by approximately 8% and 9%, respectively. Determining the fair value of a reporting unit requires the application of judgment and involves the use of
significant estimates and assumptions which can be affected by changes in business climate, economic conditions, the competitive environment and other
factors. The Company bases these fair value estimates on assumptions the Company’s management believes to be reasonable but which are unpredictable and
inherently uncertain. Future changes in the judgment, assumptions and estimates could result in significantly different estimates of fair value in the future. An
increase in discount rates, a reduction in projected cash flows or a combination of the two could lead to a reduction in the estimated fair values, which may
result in impairment charges that could materially affect the Company’s financial statements in any given year. For sensitivity analysis, the Company
estimated the fair value of the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive reporting units if the Company reduced the long-term revenue growth rate by 25
basis points, and the resulting excess fair value over carrying value decreased by 120 and 130 basis points, respectively.

Upon the Separation and the revision of the Company’s operating segments, the Company evaluated and concluded that it has two reporting units,
Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive. An allocation of goodwill was performed to the new reporting units. A quantitative impairment test of Goodwill
for the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive reporting units was performed for the years ended December 31, 2022, which indicated no impairment
existed.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets Other than Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets primarily represent acquired trade names, customer relationships, acquired technology and software license agreements. Intangible assets
are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which approximates the period of benefit, and ranges from three to twenty years.

The Company assesses its long-lived assets and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying
amounts may not be fully recoverable. To analyze recoverability, the Company projects
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undiscounted net future cash flows over the remaining lives of such assets. If these projected cash flows are less than the carrying amounts, an impairment loss
equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value would be recognized, resulting in a write-down of the assets with a
corresponding charge to earnings. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of the carrying amounts or fair value less cost to sell. Management determines
fair value using the discounted cash flow method or other accepted valuation techniques. The Company did not record any asset impairment charges during
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The Company recorded an asset impairment loss related to a facility closure totaling $1.6 million during the
year ended December 31, 2020, as a component of Restructuring and other charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Derivatives

The Company is subject to foreign currency risk associated with the translation of the net assets of foreign subsidiaries to United States (“U.S.”) dollars
on a periodic basis.
 

Derivative instruments are generally recognized on a gross basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in either Other current assets, Other assets, Accrued
liabilities or Other liabilities depending upon their respective fair values and maturity dates. For all instruments designated as hedges, including net investment
hedges and cash flow hedges, the Company formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, as well as the risk
management objective and the strategy for using the hedging instrument. The Company assesses whether the relationship between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item is highly effective at offsetting changes in the fair value both at inception of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basis. For cash flow
hedges and net investment hedges, unrealized gains and losses are recognized as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets to the extent that it is effective at offsetting the change in the fair value of the hedged item and realized gains and losses are recognized in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations consistent with the underlying hedged instrument.

The Company does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.
 

See Note 17, “Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements” for additional information regarding the Company’s derivative instruments.

Income Taxes
 

Income taxes for the Company are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements and
their respective tax basis. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are reported in Other assets and Other
liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets, respectively. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
generally recognized in Income tax expense (benefit) in the period that includes the enactment date. Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) is
accounted for as a current tax expense in the year the tax is incurred.
 

Valuation allowances are recorded if it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. In evaluating the
need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers various factors, including the expected level of future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies. Any changes in judgment about the valuation allowance are recorded through Income tax expense (benefit) and are based on changes in facts and
circumstances regarding realizability of deferred tax assets.

 
The Company must presume that an income tax position taken in a tax return will be examined by the relevant tax authority and determine whether it is

more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination based upon the technical merits of the position. An income tax position that
meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. The Company
establishes a liability for unrecognized income tax benefits for income tax positions for which it is more likely than not that a tax position will not be sustained
upon examination by the respective taxing authority to the extent such tax positions reduce the Company’s income tax liability. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits in Income tax expense (benefit) in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 

67



ENOVIS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Foreign Currency Exchange Gains and Losses
 

The Company’s financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. The functional currencies of the Company’s operating subsidiaries are generally the
local currencies of the countries in which each subsidiary is located. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of exchange
in effect at the balance sheet date. The amounts recorded in each year in foreign currency translation are net of income taxes to the extent the underlying
equity balances in the entities are not deemed to be permanently reinvested. Revenues and expenses are translated at average rates of exchange in effect during
the year.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the date of each transaction. Differences in exchange rates during the
period between the date a transaction denominated in a foreign currency is consummated and the date on which it is either settled or translated for inclusion in
the Consolidated Balance Sheets are recognized in Selling, general and administrative expense or Interest expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for that period.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized net foreign currency transaction gain of $0.7 million in Interest expense, net and net
foreign currency transaction loss of $0.6 million in Selling, general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, the Company recognized net foreign currency transaction loss of $0.5 million in Interest expense, net and net foreign currency
transaction loss of $2.0 million in Selling, general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Company recognized net foreign currency transaction gain of $1.1 million in Interest expense, net and net foreign currency
transaction loss of $1.6 million in Selling, general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Debt Issuance Costs and Debt Discount

Costs directly related to the placement of debt are capitalized and amortized to Interest expense primarily using the effective interest method over the term
of the related obligation. Further, the carrying value of debt is reduced by an original issue discount, which is accreted to Interest expense, net using the
effective interest method over the term of the related obligation. As of December 31, 2022, $4.5 million and $0.2 million of deferred issuance costs were
included in Other assets and as a reduction of Long-term debt, respectively. As of December 31, 2021, $5.2 million and $7.1 million of deferred issuance costs
were included in Other assets and as a reduction of Long-term debt, respectively. See Note 13, “Debt” for additional discussion regarding the Company’s
borrowing arrangements.

Use of Estimates
 

The Company makes certain estimates and assumptions in preparing its Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP. These
estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the period presented. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentations. The operating results of ESAB, which was separated on
April 4, 2022, are presented as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for all periods presented and the net assets of ESAB and
the other entities that were part of the Separation, including asbestos contingencies, are presented as discontinued operations on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet as of December 31, 2021. See Note 4, “Discontinued Operations” for further information. Amortization of acquired intangibles and Research and
development expense are now separately presented on our Consolidated Statements of Operations; these amounts were previously included in Selling, general
and administrative expense. Note 6, “Revenue” and Note 19, “Segment Information” have been further disaggregated to conform to current year presentation.

3. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The Company evaluates the adoption impacts of recently issued accounting pronouncements as well as material updates to previous pronouncements on
the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. There were no new material accounting standards adopted in 2022 that impacted the Company.
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4. Discontinued Operations

Separation of Fabrication Technology Business

On April 4, 2022, the Company completed the Separation of its fabrication technology business into an independent, publicly traded company: ESAB, a
global organization that develops, manufactures and supplies consumable welding and cutting products and equipment, as well as gas control equipment. The
spin-off was affected through a pro rata distribution of 90% of the 60,034,311 outstanding common shares of ESAB to Enovis stockholders of record at the
close of business on March 22, 2022 (the “Record Date”). Enovis stockholders retained their Enovis shares and received one share of ESAB for every three
shares of Enovis stock they owned on the Record Date. ESAB began “regular way” trading on the New York Stock Exchange on April 5, 2022 under the
symbol “ESAB”. In connection with the Separation, the Company received a one-time tax-free cash distribution from ESAB of $1.2 billion.

In connection with the Separation, Enovis and ESAB entered into various agreements to effect the Separation and provide a framework for ESAB’s
relationship with Enovis after the Separation. These agreements include a separation and distribution agreement, a stockholders’ and registration rights
agreement, an employee matters agreement, a tax matters agreement, a transition services agreement, an ESAB Business Excellence System (“EBS”) license
agreement, and an intellectual property matters agreement (the “Agreements”). These Agreements govern the Separation between Enovis and ESAB of the
assets, employees, liabilities and obligations (including its investments, property and employee benefits and tax-related assets and liabilities) of Enovis and its
subsidiaries attributable to periods prior to, at and after the Separation and will govern certain relationships between Enovis and ESAB after the Separation.
The impact of services to be provided to ESAB and agreed upon charges as part of the Separation are not expected to be material to our consolidated financial
statements.

Asbestos Contingencies

The Company retained certain asbestos-related contingencies and insurance coverages from its previously divested businesses for which it did not retain
an interest in the ongoing operations except for the contingencies. The net costs and cash flows associated with these contingencies and coverages were
reported by the Company as discontinued operations. In conjunction with the Separation, all asbestos-related contingencies and insurance coverages from its
divested businesses were transferred fully to ESAB. The Company has classified asbestos-related charges through the date of Separation in its Condensed
Consolidated Statements of Operations as part of Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes. Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes on the
Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 include pre-tax charges from previously retained asbestos-related
contingencies of $3.2 million, $15.6 million and $10.6 million, respectively. Subsequent to the Separation, the asbestos-related charges and asbestos assets and
liabilities are no longer reflected in the Enovis financial statements.

Divestiture-related Expenses Related to our former Air and Gas Handling Business

The Company sold Air & Gas in 2019. Accordingly, the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements for all periods presented reflect the pre-tax
divestiture-related expenses related to Air & Gas of $1.7 million, $9.1 million and $9.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, as discontinued operations.

Summary of Items Treated as Discontinued Operations

As a result of the Separation and prior sale of Air & Gas, the operating results of (1) ESAB, the Company’s former fabrication technology business, (2)
charges related to the previously retained asbestos contingencies and (3) Air & Gas divestiture-related expenses have been presented as discontinued
operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented. Additionally, the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021
presents the Assets and Liabilities of the fabrication technology business and asbestos contingencies as discontinued operations.
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The carrying value of the assets and liabilities of the Company’s former fabrication technology business and asbestos contingencies amounts presented as
discontinued operations as of December 31, 2021 was as follows:

December 31, 2021
(in thousands)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,118 
Trade receivables, net 383,742 
Inventories, net 420,062 
Prepaid expenses 52,140 
Other current assets 61,552 
Total current assets 956,614 
Property, plant and equipment, net 286,278 
Goodwill 1,533,037 
Other intangibles, net 521,434 
Lease asset - right of use 107,944 
Other assets 289,356 
Total assets associated with discontinued operations $ 3,694,663 

LIABILITIES
Current portion of long-term debt $ 613 
Accounts payable 348,965 
Accrued liabilities 285,706 
Total current liabilities 635,284 
Long-term debt, less current portion 54 
Non-current lease liability 88,777 
Deferred tax liabilities 116,198 
Other liabilities 368,533 
Total liabilities associated with discontinued operations $ 1,208,846 

Total assets and liabilities include asbestos-related contingencies and insurance coverages in connection to the sales of the Fluid Handling and Air & Gas businesses. See
Asbestos Contingencies section above for more information.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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The following table presents the financial results of the former fabrication technology business including all divestiture-related expenses incurred by the
company and allocated interest expense; asbestos charges; divestiture-related expenses related to Air & Gas; and the combined income tax effect of those
items for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(in thousands)
Net sales $ 647,911 $ 2,428,115 $ 1,950,069 
Cost of sales 423,580 1,592,132 1,265,604 
Selling, general and administrative expense 125,529 477,040 434,360 
Restructuring and other charges 5,304 18,954 21,632 
Asbestos charges 3,194 15,578 10,619 
Divestiture-related expenses 46,684 29,668 9,040 
Operating income 43,620 294,743 208,814 
Interest expense 8,035 43,481 51,438 
Pension settlement gain — (11,208) — 
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes 35,585 262,470 157,376 
Income tax expense 9,155 83,939 37,178 
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ 26,430 $ 178,531 $ 120,198 

Divestiture-related expenses include $45.0 million and $20.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, for the Separation.
 Interest expense was allocated to discontinued operations based on allocating $1.2 billion of corporate level debt to discontinued operations consistent with the dividend
received from ESAB and the debt repaid at the time of the Separation.

Total income attributable to noncontrolling interest related to ESAB, net of taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, was $1.0
million, $3.6 million, and $2.5 million, respectively. These amounts are presented as net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued
operations - net of taxes on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table presents further detail into the financial results of the former fabrication technology business:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(in thousands)
Depreciation 7,671 32,452 32,893 
Amortization 9,012 41,954 41,798 
Capital expenditures 5,903 35,584 40,138 

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities related to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was
approximately $(27) million, $224 million, and $302 million, respectively. Cash used in investing activities related to discontinued operations for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $3 million, $35 million, and $35 million.

(1)

(2)

(1) 

(2)
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5. Acquisitions and Investments

2022 Acquisitions

In 2022, the Company completed four asset acquisitions, two business acquisitions, and one investment, which is carried at cost as it does not have a
readily determinable fair value. Two of these transactions were completed by the Company’s Reconstructive segment, and the other five transactions were
completed by the Prevention & Recovery segment. The asset acquisitions broaden the Company’s product offering and distribution network. Aggregate
purchase consideration for the four asset acquisitions was $22.3 million, of which $12.6 million was paid in cash and $9.6 million consists of deferred and
contingent consideration. The investment was acquired for $10.0 million in cash consideration. Pro forma revenues of the aforementioned acquisitions in the
year ended December 31, 2022, if the aforementioned acquisitions were part of the Company since January 1, 2022, were approximately 1% of Enovis
consolidated revenues from continuing operations.

On May 6, 2022, the Company completed a business acquisition in its Reconstructive segment of KICo Knee Innovation Company Pty Limited and
subsidiaries, an Australian private company doing business as 360 Med Care, by acquiring 100% of its equity interests. 360 Med Care is a medical device
distributor that bundles certain computer-assisted surgery and patient experience enhancement programs to add value to its device supply arrangements with
surgeons, hospitals, and insurers. The acquisition is accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements include the financial position and results of operations from the acquisition date. The Company paid $14.3 million for the acquisition, net
of cash received, and recorded estimated contingent consideration at fair value of $12.8 million related to expected results over future revenue targets. The
Company has preliminarily allocated $16.3 million to Goodwill and $18.2 million to intangible assets acquired. Purchase accounting procedures are ongoing
and revisions to contingent consideration, intangible assets acquired, and adjustments for working capital true-ups may be recorded in future periods during
the measurement period. The 360 Med Care acquisition broadens our customer base in Australia and adds to our overall product offerings.

On July 5, 2022, the Reconstructive segment of the Company acquired a controlling interest of Insight Medical Systems (“Insight”). Insight’s flagship
solution, ARVIS, is an FDA-cleared augmented reality solution precisely engineered for the specific needs of hip and knee replacement surgery. The ARVIS
navigation unit consists of a hands-free heads-up display worn by the surgeon which provides surgical guidance at the point of care in a streamlined, space-
conserving, and cost-effective manner compared to traditional robotic offerings. The acquisition is accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting
as a step-acquisition, and accordingly, the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial position and results of operations from the
acquisition date.

Enovis made initial investments in Insight in 2020 and 2021, which were carried at cost. During the third quarter of 2022, the Company acquired an
additional 53.7% interest in Insight for $34.2 million net of cash received, and recorded contingent consideration of $5.0 million, which is the maximum
payable under the agreement based on Insight’s achievement of certain milestones related to ARVIS. As of December 31, 2022, Enovis holds a 99.5% interest
in Insight and recognized $0.3 million noncontrolling equity interest in its financial statements attributed to Insight.

The Company has preliminarily allocated $36.3 million to Goodwill and $38.4 million to intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is primarily driven by
expected synergies between ARVIS’ augmented reality surgical guidance system and our existing customer base and existing products. The Company does not
expect any of the Goodwill to be deductible for tax purposes. Purchase accounting procedures are ongoing and revisions to contingent consideration,
intangible assets acquired, and adjustments for working capital true-ups may be recorded in future periods during the measurement period.

As a result of obtaining control of Insight, the Company remeasured its initial investments to its fair value resulting in a $8.8 million gain.
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Investments

As of December 31, 2022, the balance of investments held by the company without readily determinable fair values was $16.5 million. The investments
are carried at cost minus impairments, if any, plus adjustments for fair value indicators from observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical
or similar investment of the same issuer. There have been no impairments or upward adjustments in the current year or since acquisition of the investments
except for the gain on our previously held equity investment in Insight discussed above. As a result of acquiring control of Insight, Enovis now consolidates
the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of Insight and therefore current year and previous investments in Insight of $16.6 million are no longer recorded
as cost basis investments.

2021 Acquisitions

The Company completed five acquisitions in its Reconstructive segment in 2021, for net cash consideration of $201.6 million and equity consideration of
$285.7 million. The acquisitions are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting, and accordingly, the Consolidated Financial Statements
include the financial position and results of operations from the respective acquisition date. The Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2022 reflects
our estimates of fair value and are subject to adjustment for certain of the acquisitions as discussed below. Pro forma revenues of the aforementioned
acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2021, if the aforementioned acquisitions were part of the Company since January 1, 2021, were approximately
12% of Enovis consolidated revenues from continuing operations. The Company also made three investments during the year ended December 31, 2021 for a
total of $16.8 million. These investments are carried at cost as they do not have a readily determinable fair value.

On January 19, 2021, the Reconstructive segment acquired Trilliant Surgical (“Trilliant”), a national provider of foot and ankle orthopedic implants. The
product technologies of Trilliant support the Reconstructive segment’s focused expansion into the adjacent foot and ankle market. Trilliant has a broad product
portfolio that covers the full universe of foot reconstructive and fixation procedures, and includes the novel Arsenal Foot Plating System, designed for greater
flexibility and speed of implant placement. On April 23, 2021, the Reconstructive segment acquired MedShape, Inc. (“MedShape”), a provider of innovative
surgical solutions for foot and ankle surgeons using its patented superelastic nickel titanium (NiTiNOL) and shape memory polymer technologies. The
acquisition further expands the Company’s foot and ankle platform. These two acquisitions were completed for total consideration, net of cash received, of
$204.1 million, subject to certain adjustments. Net working capital and intangible assets acquired represent 7.3% and 36.5% of the total consideration
exchanged for these two acquisitions, respectively, with the residual amount primarily attributable to Goodwill. The Goodwill acquired in the Trilliant
acquisition of $30 million is deductible for income tax purposes. Expected synergies between Trilliant, MedShape, and DJO through this portfolio of foot and
ankle products and cross-selling to existing and acquired customers are primary drivers of the acquired Goodwill. Pro forma revenue of the Trilliant and
MedShape acquisitions were approximately 3% of Enovis’ consolidated revenues from continuing operations. The purchase accounting related to the Trilliant
and MedShape acquisitions has been completed.

On July 28, 2021, the Reconstructive segment acquired Mathys AG Bettlach (“Mathys”) for total acquisition equity consideration of $285.7 million of
Enovis Common stock, which included cash acquired of $14.7 million. Mathys, a Switzerland-based company, develops and distributes innovative products
for artificial joint replacement, synthetic bone graft solutions and sports medicine. The acquisition expands the Reconstructive segment’s reconstructive
product portfolio with Mathys’ complimentary surgical solutions and broadens its international customer base.

Purchase accounting procedures for this acquisition have been completed and the finalized allocation of the aggregate fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as of the date of the Mathys acquisition are presented below. None of the Goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax
purposes. Goodwill recognized for the Mathys acquisition is primarily attributable to synergies from cross-selling DJO products with the acquired customers
and cost savings through supply chain management. The following table summarizes the final allocation of consideration related to the Mathys acquisition as
of the acquisition date:
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 July 28, 2021
 (In thousands)
Trade receivables $ 19,5
Inventories 76,82
Property, plant and equipment 58,4
Goodwill 92,4
Intangible assets 106,0
Accounts payable (4,80
Other assets and liabilities, net (77,49
Consideration, net of cash acquired $ 271,0

The following table summarizes Intangible assets acquired in the Mathys acquisition, excluding Goodwill, as of the acquisition date:

Intangible Amortization
Asset Period

(In thousands) (Years)

Acquired technology $ 54,000 12
Customer relationships 34,000 16
Trademarks 18,000 20
Intangible assets $ 106,000 

2020 Acquisitions

Our Reconstructive segment completed five acquisitions in 2020 for total consideration, net of cash received, of $67.5 million. Total Goodwill acquired
through the acquisitions was $21.4 million, of which $15.9 million is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisitions in our Prevention & Recovery segment included LiteCure LLC (“LiteCure”), a U.S. leader in high-powered laser rehabilitation products for
human and veterinary medical applications. The acquisition was completed in the fourth quarter of 2020 for net cash consideration of $39.6 million. Net
working capital and intangible assets acquired represent 10% and 69% of the total consideration paid, respectively, with the residual amount primarily
attributable to Goodwill.
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6. Revenue

The Company provides orthopedic solutions, including products and services spanning the full continuum of patient care, from injury prevention to
rehabilitation. While the Company’s sales are primarily derived from three sales channels including dealers and distributors, insurance, and direct to
consumers and hospitals, substantially all its revenue is recognized at a point in time. The Company disaggregates its revenue into the following segments:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Prevention & Recovery:

U.S. Bracing & Support $ 437,287 $ 432,963 $ 379,236 
U.S. Other P&R 255,305 243,051 188,107 
International P&R 335,036 350,015 295,806 

Total Prevention & Recovery 1,027,628 1,026,029 863,150 

Reconstructive:
U.S. Reconstructive 370,173 323,187 245,215 
International Reconstructive 165,300 76,972 12,335 

Total Reconstructive 535,473 400,159 257,550 

Total $ 1,563,101 $ 1,426,188 $ 1,120,700 

The year ended December 31, 2022 includes the unfavorable impact of $30.9 million of currency.

Given the nature of the businesses, the Company does not generally have unsatisfied performance obligations with an original contract duration of greater
than one year.

The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to certain types of variable consideration, including rebates, implicit price
concessions, and other discounts. The Company includes estimated amounts of variable consideration in the transaction price to the extent that it is probable
there will not be a significant reversal of revenue.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments as
of January 1, 2020. The estimate of current expected credit losses on trade receivables considers historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Management elected to disaggregate trade receivables into business segments due to risk characteristics
unique to each segment given the individual lines of business and market. Pooling was further disaggregated based on either geography or product type.

The Company leveraged historical write-offs over a defined lookback period in deriving a historical loss rate. The expected credit loss model further
considers current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts using an adjustment for current and projected macroeconomic factors. Management
identified appropriate macroeconomic indicators based on a tangible correlation to historical losses considering the location and risks associated with the
Company.

A summary of the activity in the Company’s allowance for credit losses included within Trade receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as
follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Balance at

 Beginning
 of Period

Charged to Expense,
net

Write-Offs,
Deductions and

Other, net

Foreign
 Currency
 Translation

Balance at
 End of

 Period

(In thousands)
Allowance for credit losses $ 6,589 $ 2,552 $ (963) $ (213) $ 7,9

(1)

(1) 
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7. Net Income Per Share from Continuing Operations

Net income per share from continuing operations was computed as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Computation of Net income (loss) per share from continuing operations - basic:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Enovis Corporation $ (38,756) $ (103,305) $ (75,119)
Weighted-average shares of Common stock outstanding – basic 54,065,420 51,141,210 45,588,708 
Net income (loss) per share from continuing operations – basic $ (0.72) $ (2.02) $ (1.65)

Computation of Net income (loss) per share from continuing operations - diluted:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Enovis Corporation $ (38,756) $ (103,305) $ (75,119)
Weighted-average shares of Common stock outstanding – basic 54,065,420 51,141,210 45,588,708 
Net effect of potentially dilutive securities - stock options and restricted stock units — — — 
Weighted-average shares of Common stock outstanding – diluted 54,065,420 51,141,210 45,588,708 

Net income (loss) per share from continuing operations – diluted $ (0.72) $ (2.02) $ (1.65)

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Enovis Corporation for the respective periods is calculated using Net income from continuing operations less the
income attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing operations, net of taxes, of $0.6 million, $1.1 million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

As a result of the one-for-three reverse stock split immediately following the Separation, all share and per share figures contained in the Consolidated
Financial Statements have been retroactively restated as if the reverse stock split occurred at the beginning of the periods presented.

For the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the weighted-average shares of Common stock outstanding - basic includes the impact
of 6.1 million shares, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, for the actual or potential issuance of shares from tangible equity unit purchase contracts.

In January 2022, the final remaining amount of tangible equity unit purchase contracts were converted into approximately 1.7 million shares of the
Company’s common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split. All the issued shares are included in the Common stock issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2022. See Note 14, “Equity”, for details.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, conversions of the Company’s tangible equity units resulted in the issuance of approximately 4.4 million shares,
as adjusted for the reverse stock split, of Common stock. All issuances of Common stock related to the tangible equity units were converted at the minimum
settlement rate of 4.0000 shares of Common stock for each purchase contract as a result of the Company’s share price.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the weighted-average shares of Common stock outstanding - diluted includes the impact of an additional
0.3 million potentially issuable dilutive shares, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, related to tangible equity units as a result of the Company’s share price.
See Note 14, “Equity”, for details.

The weighted-average computation of the dilutive effect of potentially issuable shares of Common stock under the treasury stock method for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 excludes 1.1 million, 0.3 million and 1.4 million outstanding stock-based compensation awards, respectively, as
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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8. Income Taxes

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes and Income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020
 (In thousands)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes:    
Domestic operations $ 8,826 $ (129,903) $ (136,455)
Foreign operations (10,895) 8,122 17,449 
 $ (2,069) $ (121,781) $ (119,006)

Income tax expense (benefit):    
Current:    
Federal $ 3,780 $ — $ — 
State 4,957 829 928 
Foreign 3,405 9,862 6,521 
 12,142 10,691 7,449 
Deferred:    
Domestic operations 73,370 (29,801) (37,705)
Foreign operations (49,392) (418) (14,323)
 23,978 (30,219) (52,028)
 $ 36,120 $ (19,528) $ (44,579)

See Note 4, “Discontinued Operations” for the loss from discontinued operations and related income taxes.

The Company’s Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the U.S. federal
statutory rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Taxes calculated at the U.S. federal statutory rate $ (435) $ (25,574) $ (24,991)
State taxes 10,878 (4,473) (439)
Effect of tax rates on international operations (5,106) 681 (5,246)
Changes in valuation allowance (12,126) (4,496) (20,327)
Changes in tax reserves 1,724 (2,332) 2,168 
Research and development tax credits (2,599) (2,392) (2,248)
Net items not deductible in an international jurisdiction 1,859 772 40 
U.S. tax on international operations 4,565 14,865 1,873 
Transaction related costs 27,699 — — 
Withholding taxes 495 556 854 
Non-deductible employee compensation 9,013 2,562 4,450 
Other 153 303 (713)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 36,120 $ (19,528) $ (44,579)
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Deferred income taxes, net reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to reverse. The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities included in
continuing operations are as follows:

December 31,
2022 2021

(In thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Expenses currently not deductible $ 37,159 $ 42,297 
Net operating loss and interest expense limitation carryforward 162,713 285,009 
Tax credit carryforward 37,883 26,960 
Depreciation and amortization 28,659 1,058 
Capitalized R&D expenditures 29,579 23,281 
Non-current lease liability 17,815 21,066 
Other 2,171 1,680 
Valuation allowance (93,542) (111,812)
Deferred tax assets, net 222,437 289,539 
Deferred tax liabilities:   
Depreciation and amortization (237,374) (269,929)
Lease asset - right of use (17,380) (20,702)
Total deferred tax liabilities (254,754) (290,631)
Total deferred tax liabilities, net $ (32,317) $ (1,092)

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its deferred tax assets on a jurisdictional basis by considering whether deferred tax assets will be realized on
a more likely than not basis. To the extent a portion or all of the applicable deferred tax assets do not meet the more likely than not threshold, a valuation
allowance is recorded. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the valuation allowance decreased from $111.8 million to $93.5 million with a net decrease
of $12.1 million recognized in Income tax expense (benefit) and a $6.7 million decrease related to changes in foreign currency rates. Consideration was given
to tax planning strategies and, when applicable, future taxable income as to how much of the relevant deferred tax asset could be realized on a more likely than
not basis.

 
The Company has U.S. net operating loss carryforwards of $31.2 million expiring in years 2023 through 2037 and $26.3 million that may be carried

forward indefinitely and U.S. interest limitation carryforward of $55.7 million that may be carried forward indefinitely. The Company’s ability to use these
various carryforwards to offset any taxable income generated in future taxable periods may be limited under Section 382 and other federal tax provisions. As
of December 31, 2022, the Company had $16.6 million foreign net operating loss carryforwards primarily in Germany, France, and the United Kingdom that
may be subject to local tax limitations including changes in ownership. The foreign net operating losses can be carried forward indefinitely, except in
applicable jurisdictions that make up less than five percent of the available net operating losses. The company has $32.9 million of foreign interest limitation
carryforward primarily in Germany, that may be carried forward indefinitely.

The Company has U.S. foreign tax and R&D tax credits that may be used to offset U.S. tax in previous or future tax periods subject to Section 382 and
other federal provisions. The Company’s $24.3 million foreign tax credit can be carried back one year and carried forward to tax years 2023 through 2031.
The Company’s $9.3 million R&D credit can be carried back one year and carried forward to tax years 2023 through 2042.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are estimated to be $50.9 million, all of which is
permanently reinvested; accordingly, the Company has assessed no deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2022 on such earnings. This is a decrease of
$0.2 million as compared to the deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2021, which was transferred as part of the divestiture of ESAB.
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The Company records a liability for unrecognized income tax benefits for the amount of benefit included in its previously filed income tax returns and in
its financial results expected to be included in income tax returns to be filed for periods through the date of its Consolidated Financial Statements for income
tax positions for which it is not more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the respective taxing authority. A reconciliation of the beginning and
ending amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

 (In thousands)
Balance, January 1, 2020 $ 55,4
Addition for tax positions taken in prior periods 5,9
Addition for tax positions taken in the current period 1,9
Reductions related to settlements with taxing authorities —
Reductions resulting from a lapse of applicable statute of limitations (5,68
Other, including the impact of foreign currency translation 3
Balance, December 31, 2020 58,0
Acquisitions and divestitures 4,4
Addition for tax positions taken in prior periods 22
Addition for tax positions taken in the current period 3,6
Reductions related to settlements with taxing authorities (42
Reductions resulting from a lapse of applicable statute of limitations (3,23
Other, including the impact of foreign currency translation (73
Balance, December 31, 2021 61,94
Acquisitions and divestitures (23,25
Addition for tax positions taken in the current period 4
Reductions resulting from a lapse of applicable statute of limitations (24
Other, including the impact of foreign currency translation (6
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 38,2

 
The Company is routinely examined by tax authorities around the world. Tax examinations remain in process in multiple countries, including but not

limited to Germany, China, the United States and various U.S. states. The Company files numerous group and separate tax returns in U.S. federal and state
jurisdictions, as well as international jurisdictions. In the U.S., tax years dating back to 2009 remain subject to examination, due to tax attributes available to
be carried forward to open or future tax years. With some exceptions, other major tax jurisdictions generally are not subject to tax examinations for years
beginning before 2016.

 
The Company records interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions as a component of Income tax expense (benefit), which was $1.1 million, $0.6

million and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had accrued $4.2
million and $7.5 million, respectively, of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. Due to the difficulty in predicting with reasonable
certainty when tax audits will be fully resolved and closed, the range of reasonably possible significant increases or decreases in the liability for unrecognized
tax benefits that may occur within the next 12 months is difficult to ascertain. Currently, the Company estimates that it is reasonably possible that the
expiration of various statutes of limitations, resolution of tax audits and court decisions may reduce its tax expense in the next 12 months up to $1.7 million.
The gross amount of the unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the Company’s effective tax rate was $26.9 million as of December 31,
2022.
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9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
 

The following table summarizes the activity in Goodwill, by segment during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 

 
Prevention &

Recovery Reconstructive Total
 (In thousands)
Balance, January 1, 2021 $ 1,102,461 $ 658,805 $ 1,761,266 
Goodwill attributable to acquisitions 2,826 187,255 190,081 
Impact of foreign currency translation (16,754) (335) (17,089)
Balance, December 31, 2021 1,088,533 845,725 1,934,258 
Goodwill attributable to acquisitions — 61,241 61,241 
Impact of foreign currency translation (10,897) (1,014) (11,911)
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 1,077,636 $ 905,952 $ 1,983,588 

Includes purchase accounting adjustments associated with acquisitions discussed in Note 5, “Acquisitions”.

The following table summarizes the Company’s Intangible assets, excluding Goodwill: 

 December 31,
 2022 2021

 

Gross
 Carrying

 Amount
Accumulated

 Amortization

Gross
 Carrying

 Amount
Accumulated

 Amortization
 (In thousands)
Definite-Lived Intangible Assets
Acquired customer relationships $ 528,489 $ (215,962) $ 531,838 $ (158,229)
Acquired technology 553,284 (134,967) 504,226 (91,322)
Acquired trade names 414,801 (74,644) 405,087 (53,932)
Software 72,371 (39,202) 43,378 (27,442)
Other intangible assets 9,917 (3,360) 1,699 (1,275)
 $ 1,578,862 $ (468,135) $ 1,486,228 $ (332,200)

 
Amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets, including acquired customer relationships, acquired technology, and acquired trade names, are

presented on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Other intangible assets amortization expense consists primarily of amortization of
software intangibles and is recorded as a component of Selling, general, and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Total
amortization expense is $133.7 million, $125.0 million, and $115.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

See Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for discussion regarding impairment of Intangible assets.

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Expected Amortization Expense
 

The Company’s expected annual amortization expense for intangible assets for the next five years is as follows: 

 December 31, 2022
 (In thousands)
2023 $ 127,187 
2024 126,176 
2025 125,081 
2026 120,011 
2027 111,936 

10. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

  December 31,
 Depreciable Life 2022 2021
 (In years) (In thousands)
Land n/a $ 5,935 $ 6,075 
Buildings and improvements 5-40 36,548 33,170 
Machinery and equipment 3-15 375,441 325,342 
  417,924 364,587 
Accumulated depreciation  (181,183) (129,474)

 $ 236,741 $ 235,113 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, was $69.2 million, $62.0 million and $52.0 million, respectively.

11. Inventories, Net

Inventories, net consisted of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

(In thousands)
Raw materials $ 100,038 $ 66,824 
Work in process 28,164 29,506 
Finished goods 357,143 298,450 

485,345 394,780 
Less: allowance for excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventory (58,702) (38,547)

$ 426,643 $ 356,233 
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12. Leases

The Company leases certain office spaces, warehouses, facilities, vehicles, and equipment. Leases with an initial term of
twelve months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet. Most leases include renewal options, which can extend the lease term into the future. The
Company determines the lease term by assuming options that are reasonably certain of being renewed will be exercised. Certain of the Company’s leases
include rental payments adjusted for inflation. The right-of-use lease asset and lease liability are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, with the current
lease liability being included in Accrued liabilities.

December 31, 2022
(In thousands)

Future lease payments by year:
2023 $ 22,342 
2024 15,364 
2025 10,724 
2026 7,866 
2027 4,658 
Thereafter 14,991 
Total 75,945 
Less: present value discount (6,522)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 69,423 

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
  Operating leases 5.87
Weighted-average discount rate:
  Operating leases 3.8 %

The Company’s operating leases extend for varying periods and, in some cases, contain renewal options that would extend the existing terms. During the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s net rental expense related to operating leases was $23.0 million, $20.2 million and
$22.3 million, respectively.

13. Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:

December 31,
2022 2021

(In thousands)
Term loan $ 219,279 $ 782,435 
Euro senior notes — 395,552 
TEU amortizing notes — 6,501 
2026 notes — 297,906 
Revolving credit facilities and other 40,000 603,932 
Total debt 259,279 2,086,326 
Less: current portion (219,279) (7,701)
Long-term debt $ 40,000 $ 2,078,625 

Debt Redemptions in Connection with the Separation

In conjunction with the Separation which occurred on April 4, 2022, the Company repaid all obligations under its previous credit agreement and entered
into a new credit agreement (the “Enovis Credit Agreement”) with certain of its existing bank lenders. Additionally, on April 7, 2022 after the completion of
the Separation, the Company completed the redemptions of its
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3.25% Euro Senior Notes due 2025 and its 6.375% Senior Notes due 2026. As a result of these changes, the Company recorded Debt extinguishment charges
of $20.1 million in the second quarter of 2022, comprised of $12.7 million in redemption premiums and $7.4 million in noncash write-offs of original issue
discount and deferred financing fees.

Enovis Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

The Enovis Credit Agreement consists of a $900 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolver”) with an April 4, 2027 maturity date and a term loan
with an initial aggregate principal amount of $450 million and an April 4, 2023 maturity date (the “Enovis Term Loan”). The Revolver contains a $50 million
swing line loan sub-facility. Certain U.S. subsidiaries of the Company guarantee the obligations under the Credit Facility.

On November 18, 2022, the Company completed an exchange with a lender under the Enovis Credit Agreement of 6,003,431 shares of common stock of
ESAB, representing all of the retained shares in ESAB following the Separation, for $230.5 million of the $450.0 million in term loan outstanding under the
Credit Agreement, net of cost to sell.

The Enovis Credit Agreement contains customary covenants limiting the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries to, among other things, incur debt or
liens, merge or consolidate with others, dispose of assets, make investments or pay dividends. In addition, the Enovis Credit Agreement contains financial
covenants requiring the Company to maintain (i) a maximum total leverage ratio of not more than 4.00:1.00, with a step-down to 3.75:1.00 commencing with
the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2023, and a step-down to 3.50:1.00 commencing with the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2024, and (ii) a minimum interest
coverage ratio of 3.00:1.00. The Enovis Credit Agreement contains various events of default (including failure to comply with the covenants under the Enovis
Credit Agreement and related agreements) and upon an event of default the lenders may, subject to various customary cure rights, require the immediate
payment of all amounts outstanding under the Enovis Term Loan and the Enovis Revolver. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with
the covenants under the Enovis Credit Agreement.

As of December 31, 2022, the weighted-average interest rate of borrowings under the Enovis Credit Agreement was 5.71%, excluding accretion of
original issue discount and deferred financing fees, and there was $860.0 million available on the Revolver.

The Company has $4.7 million in deferred financing fees recorded in conjunction with the Credit Facility as of December 31, 2022, which is being
accreted to Interest expense, net primarily using the effective interest method over the life of the facility.

Euro Senior Notes

The Company had senior unsecured notes with an aggregate principal amount of €350 million due in May 2025, with an interest rate of 3.25%. The Euro
Senior Notes were redeemed on April 7, 2022 at a 100.813% redemption premium after the completion of the Separation.

Tangible Equity Unit (“TEU”) Amortizing Notes

The Company previously had 6.50% TEU amortizing notes due in January 2022 at an initial principal amount of $15.6099 per note with equal quarterly
cash installments of $1.4375 per note representing a payment of interest and partial payment of principal. The Company paid $6.5 million, $25.0 million, and
$23.4 million of principal on the TEU amortizing notes in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively. The final installment payment
was made on January 15, 2022. Additionally, in the first quarter of 2022, all of the remaining related TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts were converted to
shares of common stock. See Note 14, “Equity” for further information.

2024 Notes and 2026 Notes

The Company had senior notes with a remaining principal amount of $300 million, which were due on February 15, 2026 and had an interest rate of
6.375% (the “2026 Notes”). The 2026 Notes were redeemed on April 7, 2022 at a 103.188% redemption premium after the completion of the Separation.

On April 24, 2021, the Company used the proceeds from its March 2021 equity offering to redeem all of its $600 million 6.0% senior notes due February
14, 2024 (the “2024 Notes”) and $100 million of the outstanding principal of its 2026 Notes for
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$724.4 million. The 2024 Notes were redeemed at a redemption price of 103.000% of their principal amount and the 2026 Notes were redeemed at a
redemption price of 106.375% of their principal amount, plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest through the date of redemption. In the second quarter
of 2021, a net loss on the early extinguishment of debt of $29.9 million was recorded and included $24.4 million of call premium on the retired debt.

Other Indebtedness

In addition to the debt agreements discussed above, the Company is party to various overdraft facilities with a borrowing capacity of $30.0 million. As of
December 31, 2022, there were no outstanding borrowings under these facilities.

The Company is party to letter of credit facilities with an aggregate capacity of $15.0 million. Total letters of credit of $7.1 million were outstanding as of
December 31, 2022.

Contractual Maturities

The contractual maturities of the Company’s debt are as follows:

December 31, 2022
 (In thousands)
2023 $ 219,468 
2024 — 
2025 — 
2026 — 
2027 40,000 
Thereafter — 
Total contractual maturities 259,468 
Debt discount (189)
Total debt $ 259,279 

14. Equity

Common Stock

On March 19, 2021, the Company completed the underwritten public offering of 5.4 million shares of Colfax Common stock, as adjusted for the reverse
stock split, resulting in net proceeds of approximately $711.3 million, after deducting offering expenses and underwriters’ discount and commissions.

On July 28, 2021, the Company issued 2.2 million shares of Colfax Common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, to the former shareholders of
Mathys for acquisition consideration of $285.7 million.

Share Repurchase Program

On February 12, 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $100 million of the Company’s Common stock from time-to-
time on the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The Board of Directors increased the repurchase authorization by an additional $100 million
on June 6, 2018. On July 19, 2018, the Board of Directors increased the repurchase authorization by another $100 million. The timing, amount and method of
shares repurchased is determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased 2,149,808 shares, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, of our Common stock in
open market transactions for $200 million. Since 2018, there have been no repurchases made under this program. As of December 31, 2022, the remaining
stock repurchase authorization by the Company’s Board of Directors was $100 million. There is no term associated with the remaining repurchase
authorization.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table presents the changes in the balances of each component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss including reclassifications out of
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. All amounts are net of tax and noncontrolling interest, if any.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss Components
Net Unrecognized

Pension And
Other Post-
Retirement
Benefit Cost

Foreign Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Unrealized Gain
(Loss) On

Hedging Activities Total
(In thousands)

Balance at January 1, 2020 $ (106,500) $ (421,889) $ 44,544 $ (483,845)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications:
Net actuarial loss (8,169) — — (8,169)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,849) 57,623 3,378 59,152 
Gain on long-term intra-entity foreign currency transactions — 3,289 — 3,289 
Loss on net investment hedges — — (26,268) (26,268)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (10,018) 60,912 (22,890) 28,004 
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3,735 — — 3,735 
Net Other comprehensive income (loss) (6,283) 60,912 (22,890) 31,739 
Balance at December 31, 2020 (112,783) (360,977) 21,654 (452,106)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications:
Net actuarial gain 20,866 — — 20,866 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,339 (146,409) (230) (145,300)
Gain on long-term intra-entity foreign currency transactions — 32,261 — 32,261 
Gain on net investment hedges — — 23,247 23,247 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications: 22,205 (114,148) 23,017 (68,926)
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss 5,019 — — 5,019 
Net Other comprehensive income (loss) 27,224 (114,148) 23,017 (63,907)
Balance at December 31, 2021 (85,559) (475,125) 44,671 (516,013)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications:
Net actuarial gain 12,207 — — 12,207 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 470 (37,953) — (37,483)
Loss on long-term intra-entity foreign currency transactions — (21,779) — (21,779)
Gain on net investment hedges — — 9,028 9,028 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications: 12,677 (59,732) 9,028 (38,027)
Amounts reclassified from Accumulated other comprehensive loss 629 — — 629 
Net Other comprehensive income (loss) 13,306 (59,732) 9,028 (37,398)
Distribution of ESAB Corporation 84,460 469,220 (53,699) 499,981 
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 12,207 $ (65,637) $ — $ (53,430)

Included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost. See Note 16, “Defined Benefit Plans” for additional details.
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During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, Noncontrolling interest decreased by $2.1 million, $1.3 million, and $2.6 million,
respectively, as a result of Other comprehensive income, primarily due to foreign currency translation adjustment.

Share-Based Payments
 

On June 7, 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Company’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the
“2020 Plan”), which was originally adopted by the shareholders of the Company on May 21, 2020. The Amendment authorizes an additional 745,000 shares
of common stock of the Company and did not make any other changes to the 2020 Plan. Upon the approval of the 2020 Plan, no additional ordinary shares
were to be granted under the Company’s previously approved plans, including the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan dated May 13, 2016. All awards
previously granted and outstanding under the prior plans remain subject to the terms of those prior plans. The 2020 Plan provides the Compensation and
Human Capital Management Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (“Compensation Committee”) discretion in creating employee equity
incentives. Awards under the 2020 Plan may be made in the form of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance-based stock, performance-based stock units, dividend equivalents, and other stock-based awards.

 
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense related to share-based payments based on the fair value of the instruments issued, net of an

estimated forfeiture rate. Stock-based compensation expense is generally recognized as a component of Selling, general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, as payroll costs of the employees receiving the awards are recorded in the same line item.
 

The Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations reflect the following amounts related to stock-based compensation:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020
 (In thousands)
Stock-based compensation expense $ 38,955 $ 35,350 $ 28,91
Deferred tax benefit 1,236 2,658 1,80

Stock-based compensation expense includes $2.1 million, $7.7 million and $6.6 million of expense included in Income from discontinued operations on the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $29.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to stock-based awards that will be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.1 years. The intrinsic value of awards exercised or issued upon vesting was $37.2 million, $48.6 million, and $11.5
million during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

 
Stock Options

 
Under the 2020 Plan, the Company may grant options to purchase Common stock, with a maximum term of 10 years at a purchase price equal to the

market value of the Company’s Common stock on the date of grant.
 
Stock-based compensation expense for stock option awards is based upon the grant-date fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The

Company recognizes compensation expense for stock option awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award. The
following table shows the weighted-average assumptions used to calculate the fair value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes option pricing model,
as well as the weighted-average fair value of options granted: 
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 Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020
Expected period that options will be outstanding (in years) 4.77 4.50 4.62
Interest rate (based on U.S. Treasury yields at the time of grant) 2.10 % 0.61 % 1.09 %
Volatility 42.90 % 43.10 % 37.76 %
Dividend yield — — — 
Weighted-average fair value of options granted $ 27.48 $ 27.64 $ 20.22 

The weighted-average fair value of options granted in 2021 and 2020 have been adjusted by a factor of 1.7 due to the Separation and reverse stock split.
.

As a result of the Separation, beginning in April 2022, expected volatility is based on the weighted average historical stock price volatility of a group of
peer companies for the expected term of the option. Prior to April 2022, expected volatility was estimated based on the historical volatility of the Company’s
stock price. The Company considers historical data to estimate forfeitures within the valuation model. Groups of employees that have similar historical
exercise behavior are considered together for valuation purposes. The Company has elected to estimate the expected life of an award based upon the Securities
and Exchange Commission-approved “simplified method” noted under the provisions of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 with the continued use of this
method extended under the provisions of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 110.

 
Stock option activity is as follows:

 
Number

of Options

Weighted-
 Average

 Exercise
 Price

Weighted-
 Average

 Remaining
Contractual

 Term
 (In years)

Aggregate
 Intrinsic

Value
 (In thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2020 2,749,870 $ 53.66 
Granted 363,740 51.78 
Exercised (74,435) 46.98 
Forfeited and expired (334,105) 77.77 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 2,705,070 50.61 
Granted 331,375 65.08 
Exercised (712,810) 48.91 
Forfeited and expired (170,529) 97.46 
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 2,153,106 49.70   
Granted 154,552 70.23   
Exercised (127,261) 45.69   
Forfeited and expired (407,069) 72.53   
Adjustment due to ESAB Separation (425,651) 57.64 
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 1,347,677 59.96 3.68 $ 3,721 

Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2022 1,341,299 59.90 3.67 3,721 

Exercisable at December 31, 2022 1,009,553 56.07 3.12 3,628 

 The outstanding options as of December 31, 2021 and the option activity prior to December 31, 2021 have been adjusted by a factor of 1.7 due to the Separation and reverse
stock split.
The aggregate intrinsic value is based upon the difference between the Company’s closing stock price at the date of the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the exercise price of
the stock option for in-the-money stock options. The intrinsic value of outstanding stock options fluctuates based upon the trading value of the Company’s Common stock.
Reflects the cancellation of outstanding options held by ESAB employees as of April 4, 2022, which were replaced with ESAB options issued by ESAB Corp. as part of the
Separation.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $1.5 million, $21.4 million and $1.1 million,
respectively. The fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $7.4 million, $9.0 million and $11.9 million,
respectively.
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Restricted Stock Units
 
Under the 2020 Plan, the Compensation Committee may award performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”), the vesting of which is contingent

upon meeting service conditions and various performance goals.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company granted certain employees PRSUs, the vesting of which is fully based on the
Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”) ranking among a peer group over a three-year performance period. The awards also have a service requirement
that equals the respective performance periods. The final achievement of all outstanding PRSU awards was determined as of April 4, 2022 based on the
current performance as of the time of the Separation. It was determined that 100% of the TSR metric was achieved for the PRSUs granted during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, while 70% of the TSR metric was achieved for the PRSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2020. The
achievement factors were determined in accordance with the applicable criteria established by the Compensation Committee. While the achievement factor of
the outstanding awards has been determined, they remain subject to the awards’ service period requirements and will therefore continue to vest over the
original term of the award.

PRSUs with TSR conditions are valued at grant date using a binomial-lattice model (i.e., Monte Carlo simulation model). PRSUs with TSR conditions are
recognized on a straight-line basis over the performance periods regardless of the performance condition achievement because the probability is factored into
the valuation of the award. The related compensation expense for each of the awards is recognized, on a straight-line basis, over the vesting period.

Under the 2020 Plan, the Compensation Committee may also award non-performance-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to select executives,
employees and outside directors, which typically vest three years after the date of grant. With limited exceptions, the employee must remain in service until
the vesting date. The Compensation Committee determines the terms and conditions of each award, including the restriction period and other criteria
applicable to the awards. Directors may also elect to defer their annual board fees into RSUs with immediate vesting. Delivery of the shares underlying these
director restricted stock units is deferred until termination of the director’s service on the Company’s Board of Directors.

The activity in the Company’s PRSUs and RSUs is as follows:

 PRSUs RSUs

 
Number

of Units

Weighted-
 Average

 Grant-Date
 Fair Value

Number
of Units

Weighted-
 Average

 Grant-Date
 Fair Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2020 436,103 $ 52.48 383,836 $ 45.
Granted 84,110 86.55 323,526 59.2
Vested (60,958) 50.83 (165,192) 42.
Forfeited and expired (29,019) 47.48 (52,516) 49.
Nonvested at December 31, 2020 430,236 59.70 489,654 55.
Granted 146,322 77.84 464,279 78.
Vested (113,991) 52.75 (248,405) 51.
Forfeited and expired (96,492) 48.30 (60,311) 63.
Nonvested at December 31, 2021 366,075 72.13 645,217 69.4
Granted 192,921 47.89 303,752 67.
Vested (230,310) 49.69 (243,485) 64.
Forfeited and expired (35,516) 46.07 (70,914) 69.2
Adjustment due to ESAB Separation (32,373) 46.07 (131,291) 71.
Nonvested at December 31, 2022 260,797 77.34 503,279 71.

 The outstanding awards as of December 31, 2021 and the award activity prior to December 31, 2021, have been adjusted by a factor of 1.7 due to the Separation and reverse
stock split.
Reflects the cancellation of unvested awards held by ESAB employees as of April 4, 2022, which were replaced with ESAB awards issued by ESAB as part of the
Separation.
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The fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $32.1 million, $18.3 million and $9.7 million, respectively.

TEU offering

On January 11, 2019, the Company issued $460 million in TEUs with a 5.75% interest rate, comprised of 4.6 million units at $100 per unit. Total cash of
$447.7 million was received upon closing. The proceeds from the issuance of the TEUs were allocated 84.4% to equity (the “TEU prepaid stock purchase
contracts”) and 15.6% to debt (the “TEU amortizing notes”) based on the relative fair value of the respective components of each TEU. See Note 13, “Debt”
for additional information on the TEU amortizing notes. The TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts were mandatorily converted into shares of Company
common stock on January 15, 2022, unless previously settled at the holder’s option. All the TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts converted at the minimum
settlement rate. Approximately 1.3 million and 3.3 million TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts were settled into approximately 1.7 million and 4.4 million
shares of Company common stock, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Since the
4.6 million TEU prepaid stock purchase contracts were mandatorily converted into shares of Company common stock at the minimum settlement rate or
greater, 6.1 million shares, as adjusted for the reverse stock split, are included in basic net income per share calculations for all periods presented. See Note 7,
“Net Income Per Share from Continuing Operations” for additional information.

15. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consisted of the following:
December 31,

2022 2021
(In thousands)

Accrued compensation and related benefits $ 51,384 $ 66,290 
Accrued taxes 13,676 12,970 
Accrued freight 3,955 5,299 
Contingent consideration - current portion 8,812 1,816 
Warranty liability- current portion 2,804 2,503 
Accrued restructuring liability - current portion 1,090 2,170 
Accrued third-party commissions 24,958 22,362 
Customer advances and billings in excess of costs incurred 3,560 9,203 
Lease liability - current portion 24,281 21,936 
Accrued interest 2,921 11,066 
Accrued rebates 13,715 12,584 
Accrued professional fees 15,670 13,711 
Accrued royalties 5,777 5,045 
Other 37,689 38,436 

$ 210,292 $ 225,391 

Accrued Restructuring Liability

The Company’s restructuring programs include a series of actions to reduce the structural costs of the Company. A summary of the activity in the
Company’s restructuring liability included in Accrued liabilities and Other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets is as follows:
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Year Ended December 31, 2022
Balance at

Beginning of Period Provisions Payments
Balance at End of

Period
(In thousands)

Restructuring and other charges:
Termination benefits $ 2,470 $ 3,944 $ (5,441) $ 973 
Facility closure costs and other 358 12,864 (13,104) 118 

Total $ 2,828 16,808 $ (18,545) $ 1,091 
Non-cash charges 2,152 

Total Provisions $ 18,960 

Includes severance and other termination benefits, including outplacement services.
Includes the cost of relocating associates, relocating equipment, lease termination expense, and other costs in connection with the closure and optimization of facilities and
product lines.
The Company’s charges include $1.7 million classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
remaining $17.2 million of restructuring expense is recorded as Restructuring and other charges on the Company’s Consolidated statements of Operations for the year ended
December 31, 2022.
As of December 31, 2022, all of the restructuring liability was included in Accrued liabilities.
$9.6 million and $9.4 million of the Company’s total provisions is related to the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments, respectively.

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Balance at

Beginning of
Period Provisions Payments

Foreign Currency
Translation

Balance at End
Period

(In thousands)
Restructuring and other charges:

Termination benefits $ 1,884 $ 4,036 $ (3,441) $ (9) $ 2,4
Facility closure costs 297 4,627 (4,566) — 3

Total $ 2,181 8,663 $ (8,007) $ (9) $ 2,82
Non-cash charges 5,251 

 Total Provisions $ 13,914 

Includes severance and other termination benefits, including outplacement services.
Includes the cost of relocating associates, relocating equipment and lease termination expense in connection with the closure and optimization of facilities and product lines.
 The Company’s charges include $5.2 million classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.The
remaining $8.7 million of restructuring expense is recorded as Restructuring and other charges on the Company’s Consolidated statements of Operations for the year ended
December 31, 2021.
As of December 31, 2021, all of the restructuring liability was included in Accrued liabilities. In the Accrued liabilities table above, $0.4 million and $0.3 million of the
Company’s restructuring liability is included in Accrued compensation and related benefits and Other, respectively.
$11.5 million and $2.4 million of the Company’s total provisions is related to the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive segments, respectively.

16. Defined Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors various defined benefit plans and defined contribution plans for certain eligible employees or former employees. Since the
Separation, all of the Company’s defined benefit plans are based outside of the U.S and the Company does not sponsor any other post-retirement benefit plans.
The Company uses December 31  as the measurement date for all of its employee benefit plans.

As part of the Separation, all plans sponsored by ESAB and certain U.S. defined benefit and other post-retirement plans, formerly sponsored by the
Company, were transferred to ESAB as of March 21, 2022. As a result of the transfer, the related net plan obligations of approximately $70 million are
reflected as discontinued operations within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2021. The impact of transferring the plans to
ESAB is shown as Divestitures in the tables
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below. The following tables include all plans historically sponsored by the Company prior to the transfer to ESAB. See Note 4, “Discontinued Operations” for
further information.

The following table summarizes the total changes in the Company’s pension and accrued post-retirement benefits and plan assets and includes a statement
of the plans’ funded status. The amounts presented as of December 31, 2021 and the changes in benefit obligation and plan assets in 2022 include three
months of activity of the ESAB plans prior to the Separation.

 Pension Benefits Other Post-Retirement Benefits
 Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2022 2021
 (In thousands)
Change in benefit obligation:     

Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 455,067 $ 379,295 $ 12,078 $ 13,344 
Acquisitions — 101,312 — — 
Service cost 4,703 3,719 4 14 
Interest cost 1,821 4,642 61 189 
Actuarial gain (21,586) (11,171) — (650)
Foreign exchange effect (4,844) (6,569) (7) (7)
Benefits paid (5,724) (22,073) (231) (812)
Divestitures (337,045) — (11,905) — 
Other 2,683 5,912 — — 
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 95,075 $ 455,067 $ — $ 12,078 

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $ 91,527 $ 447,275 $ — $ 12,078 

Change in plan assets:     
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 366,820 $ 267,254 $ — $ — 
Acquisitions — 72,263 — — 
Actual return on plan assets (4,193) 27,554 — — 
Employer contribution 3,416 6,531 231 812 
Foreign exchange effect (2,599) (1,374) — — 
Benefits paid (5,724) (22,073) (231) (812)
Divestitures (282,534) — — — 
Settlements — 11,272 — — 
Other 2,510 5,393 — — 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 77,696 $ 366,820 $ — $ — 
Funded status, end of year $ (17,379) $ (88,247) $ — $ (12,078)

Amounts recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31:     
Non-current assets $ — $ 7,733 $ — $ — 
Current liabilities (174) (3,564) — (923)
Non-current liabilities (17,205) (92,416) — (11,155)

Total $ (17,379) $ (88,247) $ — $ (12,078)

Acquisitions for 2021 relate to our acquisition of Mathys. See Note 5, “Acquisitions”, for further information.
The actuarial gains for 2022 and 2021 are primarily due to the increases in discount rates in most markets.
Divestitures are related to the Separation.
Settlements includes $11.2 million classified as Pension settlement gain included in discontinued operations for 2021, when independent trustees of a company pension plan
agreed to merge that plan with another company pension plan and contribute its surplus assets.
 As of December 31, 2021, all of the non-current plan assets are associated with discontinued operations.
 As of December 31, 2021, current pension liabilities and non-current pension liabilities of $3.4 million and $62.2 million, respectively, are associated with discontinued
operations. Additionally, all of the other post-retirement benefits liabilities are associated with discontinued operations.
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As of December 31, 2022, all remaining Enovis plans had projected benefit obligations in excess of the fair value of plan assets. As of December 31,
2021, for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets, the projected benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets were $185.0
million and $87.5 million, respectively.

The projected benefit obligation decreased by $360.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to an increase of $75.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2021. In the year ended December 31, 2022, the single largest driver was a decrease of $337.0 million due to the divestiture of ESAB. In
addition, there was an actuarial gain of $21.6 million. In the year ended December 31, 2021, the single largest driver was an increase of $101.3 million from
the Mathys acquisition. This was offset by benefits paid of $22.1 million, a foreign exchange gain of $6.6 million, and an actuarial gain of $11.2 million, of
which approximately $7.8 million related to domestic pension plans and $3.4 million related to foreign pension plans.

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s foreign pension benefit obligation, which is determined based upon an employee’s
expected date of separation, and plan assets, included in the table above, and includes a statement of the plans’ funded status. The amounts presented as of
December 31, 2021 and the changes in benefit obligation and plan assets in 2022 include three months of activity of the ESAB plans prior to the Separation.

 

 Foreign Pension Benefits
 Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021
 (In thousands)

Change in benefit obligation:   
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 252,739 $ 157,195 
Acquisitions — 101,312 
Service cost 4,703 3,719 
Interest cost 897 1,741 
Actuarial loss (gain) (21,586) (3,449)
Foreign exchange effect (4,844) (6,569)
Benefits paid (1,854) (7,122)
Divestitures (137,663) — 
Other 2,683 5,912 
Projected benefit obligation, end of year $ 95,075 $ 252,739 
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year $ 91,527 $ 244,946 

Change in plan assets:   
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ 165,561 $ 73,114 

Acquisitions — 72,263 
Actual return on plan assets (6,557) 5,665 
Employer contribution 3,378 6,350 
Foreign exchange effect (2,599) (1,374)
Benefits paid (1,854) (7,122)
Divestitures (82,743) — 
Settlements — 11,272 
Other 2,510 5,393 
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ 77,696 $ 165,561 
Funded status, end of year $ (17,379) $ (87,178)

Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2021 relate to our acquisition of Mathys. See Note 5, “Acquisitions”, for further information.
The actuarial gains for 2022 and 2021 are primarily due to the increases in discount rates in all markets.
Divestitures are related to the Separation.
Settlements includes $11.2 million classified as Pension settlement gain included in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Expected contributions to the Company’s pension plans for the year ending December 31, 2023 are $3.3 million. The following benefit payments are
expected to be paid during each respective fiscal year:

 Pension Benefits

 All Plans
 (In thousands)
2023 $ 4,710 
2024 5,120 
2025 5,838 
2026 5,096 
2027 5,055 
2028 - 2031 28,098 

The Company’s primary investment objective for its pension plan assets is to provide a source of retirement income for the plans’ participants and
beneficiaries. The assets are invested with the goal of preserving principal while providing a reasonable real rate of return over the long term. Diversification
of assets is achieved through strategic allocations to various asset classes. Actual allocations to each asset class vary due to periodic investment strategy
changes, market value fluctuations, the length of time it takes to fully implement investment allocation positions, and the timing of benefit payments and
contributions. The asset allocation is monitored and rebalanced as required, as frequently as on a quarterly basis in some instances. The following are the
actual and target allocation percentages for the Company’s pension plan assets:

 
Actual Asset Allocation

 December 31,
 
 Target

 2022 2021 Allocation
U.S. Plans:   

Equity securities:    
U.S. 45 %
International 15 %

Fixed income 38 %
Other — %
Cash and cash equivalents 1 %

Foreign Plans:    
Equity securities 35 % 28 % 25%-43%
Fixed income securities 27 % 27 % 24%-43%
Cash and cash equivalents 2 % 2 % 0%-10%
Other 36 % 43 % 25%-45%

 
As of December 31, 2022, all U.S. plans have been divested as a result of the Separation.
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A summary of the Company’s pension plan assets for each fair value hierarchy level for the periods presented follows (see Note 17, “Financial
Instruments and Fair Value Measurements”, for further description of the levels within the fair value hierarchy):
 

 December 31, 2022

 
Measured at Net

Asset Value
Level

 One
Level

 Two
Level

 Three
 

Total
 (In thousands)
Foreign Plans:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 1,250 $ — $ — $ 1,250 
Equity securities — 27,074 — — 27,074 
Non-U.S. government and corporate bonds — 21,224 — — 21,224 
Other — — 28,148 — 28,148 

 $ — $ 49,548 $ 28,148 $ — $ 77,696 

Represents diversified portfolio funds, reinsurance contracts and money market funds.

 December 31, 2021

 
Measured at Net

Asset Value
Level

 One
Level

 Two
Level

 Three
 

Total
 (In thousands)
U.S. Plans:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ 1,699 $ — $ — $ 1,699 
Equity securities:     

U.S. large cap 52,810 — — — 52,810 
U.S. small/mid cap 21,983 15,501 — — 37,484 
International 31,094 — — — 31,094 

Fixed income mutual funds:     
U.S. government and corporate 77,084 — — — 77,084 

Other — 1,088 — — 1,088 
Foreign Plans:     

Cash and cash equivalents — 3,029 — — 3,029 
Equity securities — 46,475 — — 46,475 
Non-U.S. government and corporate bonds — 45,480 — — 45,480 
Other — — 70,577 — 70,577 

 $ 182,971 $ 113,272 $ 70,577 $ — $ 366,820 

Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the NAV have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. These investments, consisting primarily of
common/collective trusts, are valued using the NAV provided by the Trustee. The NAV is based on the underlying investments held by the fund, that are traded in an active
market, less its liabilities. These investments are able to be redeemed in the near-term.
The weighted-average interest crediting rates received in Cash and cash equivalents of U.S plans are immaterial relative to total plan assets.
Represents diversified portfolio funds, reinsurance contracts and money market funds.
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The following table sets forth the components of Net periodic benefit (income) cost and Other comprehensive (gain) loss of the Company’s defined benefit
pension plans and other post-retirement employee benefit plans:

 

 Pension Benefits Other Post-Retirement Benefits
 Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
 (In thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Benefit (Income) Cost:       

Service cost $ 4,703 $ 3,719 $ 1,933 $ 4 $ 14 $ 8 
Interest cost 1,821 4,642 7,454 61 189 313 
Amortization 1,187 5,953 4,960 (36) (109) (231)
Settlement (gain) loss — (11,157) 99 — — — 
Other (20) 2 143 — — — 
Expected return on plan assets (4,789) (12,819) (12,773) — — — 

Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ 2,902 $ (9,660) $ 1,816 $ 29 $ 94 $ 90 
Change in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in
Other Comprehensive (Gain) Loss:       

Current year net actuarial (gain) loss $ (14,728) $ (27,385) $ 10,379 $ — $ (651) $ 1,143 
Current year prior service cost 221 — 74 — — — 
Less amounts included in net periodic benefit (income) cost:       

Amortization of net (gain) loss (1,135) (5,899) (4,914) 36 109 231 
Settlement/divestiture/other gain — (51) (177) — — — 
Amortization of prior service cost (52) (65) (46) — — — 

Total recognized in Other comprehensive (gain) loss $ (15,694) $ (33,400) $ 5,316 $ 36 $ (542) $ 1,374 

Net periodic benefit (income) cost of $0.3 million, $(9.9) million, and $2.4 million, for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively
are included in Income from discontinued operations. Each component of Net periodic benefit (income) cost from continuing operations is included in Selling,
general and administrative expense.

95



ENOVIS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The following table sets forth the components of Net periodic benefit (income) cost and Other comprehensive (gain) loss of the foreign defined benefit
pension plans, included in the table above:

 Foreign Pension Benefits
 Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020
 (In thousands)
Components of Net Periodic Benefit (Income) Cost:  

Service cost $ 4,703 $ 3,719 $ 1,933 
Interest cost 897 1,741 2,315 
Amortization 273 1,223 747 
Settlement (gain) loss — (11,157) 99 
Other (20) 2 143 
Expected return on plan assets (2,425) (3,015) (2,397)

Net periodic benefit (income) cost $ 3,428 $ (7,487) $ 2,840 

Change in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive (Gain) Loss:    
Current year net actuarial (gain) loss $ (14,728) $ (7,577) $ 6,226 
Current year prior service cost 221 — 74 
Less amounts included in net periodic benefit (income) cost:    

Amortization of net (gain) loss (221) (1,169) (701)
Settlement/divestiture/other gain — (51) (177)
Amortization of prior service cost (52) (65) (46)

Total recognized in Other comprehensive (gain) loss $ (14,780) $ (8,862) $ 5,376 

The components of net unrecognized pension and other post-retirement benefit cost included in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets that have not been recognized as a component of Net periodic benefit (income) cost are as follows:

 Pension Benefits
Other Post-Retirement

 Benefits
 December 31, December 31,
 2022 2021 2021
 (In thousands)
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ (16,620) $ 72,612 $ (2,573)
Prior service cost 488 412 — 
Total $ (16,132) $ 73,024 $ (2,573)

 
The key economic assumptions used in the measurement of the Company’s pension and other post-retirement benefit obligations are as follows:

 Pension Benefits
Other Post-Retirement

 Benefits
 December 31, December 31,
 2022 2021 2022 2021
Weighted-average discount rate:     

All plans 2.2 % 1.7 % — % 2.6 %
Foreign plans 2.2 % 1.2 % — % — %

Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation levels for active foreign plans 1.5 % 0.9 % — % — %
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The key economic assumptions used in the computation of Net periodic benefit (income) cost are as follows: 

Pension Benefits Other Post-Retirement Benefits
 Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Weighted-average discount rate:       

All plans 1.7 % 1.7 % 2.5 % 2.6 % 2.1 % 3.0 %
Foreign plans 1.2 % 1.4 % 1.9 % — % — % — %

Weighted-average expected return on plan assets:       
All plans 4.3 % 5.2 % 5.7 % — % — % — %
Foreign plans 2.8 % 3.6 % 4.1 % — % — % — %

Weighted-average rate of increase in compensation levels
for active foreign plans 1.7 % 0.6 % 0.8 % — % — % — %

 
In determining discount rates, the Company utilizes the single discount rate equivalent to discounting the expected future cash flows from each plan using

the yields at each duration from a published yield curve as of the measurement date.
 
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was based on the Company’s investment policy target allocation of the asset portfolio between

various asset classes and the expected real returns of each asset class over various periods of time that are consistent with the long-term nature of the
underlying obligations of these plans.

The Company maintains defined contribution plans for its employees. The Company’s expense in continuing operations for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020 was $6.6 million, $5.4 million and $4.8 million, respectively.

17. Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

The Company utilizes fair value measurement guidance prescribed by accounting standards to value its financial instruments. The guidance establishes a
fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels as follows:

Level One: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level Two: Inputs to the valuation methodology include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, and inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full
term of the financial instrument.

Level Three: Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The carrying values of financial instruments, including Trade receivables, other receivables and Accounts payable, approximate their fair values due to
their short-term maturities. The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt of $0.3 billion and $2.1 billion as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively,
was based on current interest rates for similar types of borrowings and is in Level Two of the fair value hierarchy. The estimated fair values may not represent
actual values of the financial instruments that could be realized as of the balance sheet date or that will be realized in the future.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company held $22.8 million in Level Three liabilities arising from contingent consideration related to acquisitions. The
fair value of the contingent consideration liabilities is determined using unobservable inputs and the inputs vary based on the nature of the purchase
agreements. These inputs can include the estimated amount and timing of projected cash flows, the risk-adjusted discount rate used to present value the
projected cash flows, and the probability of the
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acquired company attaining certain targets stated within the purchase agreements. A change in these unobservable inputs to a different amount might result in
a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement at the reporting date due to the nature of uncertainty inherent to the estimates. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, the company recorded contingent consideration of $20.1 million in conjunction with current acquisitions as well as an adjustment to
reduce contingent consideration by $3.3 million from a prior acquisition, which was reflected in Selling, general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. The gross range of outcomes for contingent consideration arrangements that have a fixed limit is zero to
$11.7 million. There are two contingent consideration arrangements that have no limits and are based on a percentage of sales in excess of a benchmark over a
one-year period and five-year period, respectively.

There were no other transfers in or out of Level One, Two or Three during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

A summary of the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis for each fair value hierarchy level for the periods
presented is as follows:

December 31, 2022
Level

 One
Level

 Two
Level

 Three Total
(In thousands)

Assets:
 Deferred compensation plans $ — $ 10,324 $ — $ 10,324 

$ — $ 10,324 $ — $ 10,324 

Liabilities:
 Foreign currency contracts - not designated as hedges $ — $ 35 $ — $ 35 
 Deferred compensation plans — 10,324 — 10,324 
 Contingent consideration — — 22,808 22,808 

$ — $ 10,359 $ 22,808 $ 33,167 

December 31, 2021
Level

 One
Level

 Two
Level

 Three Total
(In thousands)

Assets:
 Foreign currency contracts - not designated as hedges $ — $ 5 $ — $ 5 
 Deferred compensation plans — 11,213 — 11,213 

$ — $ 11,218 $ — $ 11,218 

Liabilities:
 Foreign currency contracts - not designated as hedges $ — $ 260 $ — $ 260 
 Deferred compensation plans — 11,213 — 11,213 
 Contingent consideration — — 5,000 5,000 

$ — $ 11,473 $ 5,000 $ 16,473 

Deferred Compensation Plans

The Company maintains deferred compensation plans for the benefit of certain employees and non-executive officers. As of December 31, 2022 and
2021, the fair values of these plans were $10.3 million and $11.2 million, respectively. These plans are deemed to be Level Two within fair value hierarchy.

Derivatives

The Company periodically enters into foreign currency derivative contracts. As the Company has manufacturing sites internationally in Europe, Africa,
and Asia and sells its products globally, the Company is exposed to movements in the exchange rates of various currencies. As a result, the Company enters
into foreign currency swaps and forward contracts to mitigate this exchange rate risk. As the Company’s borrowings under the Credit Facility include variable
interest rates, the
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Company may periodically enter into interest rate swap or collar agreements to mitigate interest rate risk. Commodity derivative contracts can be used to
manage costs of raw materials used in the Company’s production processes. There were no changes during the periods presented in the Company’s valuation
techniques used to measure asset and liability fair values on a recurring basis.

 
Foreign Currency Contracts

Foreign currency contracts are measured using broker quotations or observable market transactions in either listed or over-the-counter markets. The
Company primarily uses foreign currency contracts to mitigate the risk associated with customer forward sale agreements denominated in currencies other
than the applicable local currency, and to match costs and expected revenues where production facilities have a different currency than the selling currency.

 
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had foreign currency contracts related to purchases and sales with notional values of $0.8 million and

$7.6 million, respectively.

The Company recognized the following in its Consolidated Financial Statements related to its derivative instruments:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Contracts Designated as Hedges:
Unrealized gain (loss) on net investment hedges $ — $ 23,247 $ (26,268)
Contracts Not Designated in a Hedge Relationship:
Foreign Currency Contracts:
  Unrealized gain (loss) (35) (255) — 
  Realized gain (loss) (577) (104) — 

 The unrealized gain (loss) on net investment hedges is attributable to the change in valuation of Euro denominated debt. In 2022, the Euro denominated debt was
extinguished upon the Separation.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade accounts receivable.
Concentrations of credit risk are considered to exist when there are amounts collectible from multiple counterparties with similar characteristics, which could
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly impacted by economic or other conditions. The Company performs credit evaluations of its
customers prior to delivery or commencement of services and normally does not require collateral. Letters of credit are occasionally required when the
Company deems necessary. There are no customers that represent more than 10% of the Company’s Accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2022, 2021,
and 2020.

18. Commitments and Contingencies

General Litigation

The Company is involved in various pending legal proceedings arising out of the ordinary course of the Company’s business. None of these legal
proceedings are expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flow of the Company. With respect to these
proceedings and the litigation and claims described in the preceding paragraphs, management of the Company believes that it will either prevail, has adequate
insurance coverage or has established appropriate accruals to cover potential liabilities. Legal costs related to proceedings or claims are recorded when
incurred. Other costs that management estimates may be paid related to the claims are accrued when the liability is considered probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated. There can be no assurance, however, as to the ultimate outcome of any of these matters, and if all or substantially all of these legal
proceedings were to be determined adverse to the Company, there could be a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash
flow of the Company.

(1)

(1)
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $162.0 million of unconditional purchase obligations with suppliers, the majority of which is expected to be
paid by December 31, 2023.

19. Segment Information

The Company conducts its continuing operations through the Prevention & Recovery and Reconstructive operating segments, which also represent the
Company’s reportable segments.

• Prevention & Recovery - a leader in orthopedic solutions and recovery sciences, providing devices, software and services across the patient care
continuum from injury prevention to rehabilitation after surgery, injury, or from degenerative disease.

• Reconstructive - innovation market-leader positioned in the fast-growing surgical implant business, offering a comprehensive suite of
reconstructive joint products for the hip, knee, shoulder, elbow, foot, ankle, and finger.

The Company’s management, including the chief operating decision maker, evaluates the operating results of each of its reportable segments based upon
Net sales and Adjusted EBITDA, which excludes from Net loss from continuing operations the effect of restructuring and certain other charges, MDR and
related costs, acquisition-related intangible asset amortization and other non-cash charges, strategic transaction costs, stock-based compensation, insurance
settlement gain, and inventory step-up charges from the operating income of the Company’s operating segments.

The Company’s segment results were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Net sales:

Prevention & Recovery $ 1,027,628 $ 1,026,029 $ 863,150 
Reconstructive 535,473 400,159 257,550 
Total Net sales $ 1,563,101 $ 1,426,188 $ 1,120,700 

Segment Adjusted EBITDA :
Prevention & Recovery $ 141,344 $ 133,500 $ 112,562 

     Reconstructive 94,726 72,496 48,973 
Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 236,070 $ 205,996 $ 161,535 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment
     Prevention & Recovery $ 104,458 $ 97,898 $ 108,174 
     Reconstructive 98,507 89,091 59,729 

Total depreciation, amortization and impairment $ 202,965 $ 186,989 $ 167,903 

Capital expenditures:
     Prevention & Recovery $ 25,140 $ 19,514 $ 31,953 
     Reconstructive 74,407 49,077 42,671 
     Total capital expenditures $ 99,547 $ 68,591 $ 74,624 

(1)

(1)
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The following is a reconciliation of Income from continuing operations before income taxes to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (GAAP) $ (2,069) $ (121,781) $ (119,006)
    Restructuring and other charges 18,960 13,914 23,314 
    MDR and other costs 16,709 7,949 6,900 
    Strategic transaction costs 61,024 23,448 2,800 
    Stock-based compensation 31,493 25,737 22,500 
    Depreciation and other amortization 76,664 70,069 64,597 
    Amortization of acquired intangibles 126,301 116,920 103,306 
    Insurance settlement gain (36,705) — — 
    Inventory step-up 12,802 10,758 4,300 
    Interest expense, net 24,052 29,112 52,824 
    Debt extinguishment charges 20,396 29,870 — 
    Gain on investment in ESAB Corporation (102,669) — — 
    Gain on cost basis investment (8,800) — — 
    Other income (2,088) — — 

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP) $ 236,070 $ 205,996 $ 161,535 

Restructuring and other charges includes $1.7 million, $5.2 million and $6.6 million of expense classified as Cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
Primarily related to costs specific to compliance with medical device reporting regulations and other requirements of the European Union MDR. These costs are classified as
Selling, general and administrative expense on our Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Insurance settlement gain is related to the 2019 acquisition of DJO.

December 31,
2022 2021

(In thousands)
Total assets:
    Prevention & Recovery $ 2,470,917 $ 2,966,646 
    Reconstructive 1,802,331 1,854,603 

Total $ 4,273,248 $ 4,821,249 

Represents assets from continuing operations including allocation of centrally managed cash and cash equivalents. Total assets related to discontinued operations was $3.7
billion.

The detail of the Company’s operations by geography is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(In thousands)
Net sales by origin :

United States $ 1,062,765 $ 1,030,440 $ 839,972 
Foreign locations 500,336 395,748 280,728 
Total $ 1,563,101 $ 1,426,188 $ 1,120,700 

The Company attributes revenues from external customers to individual countries based upon the country in which the sale was originated.

(1) 

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(1)

(1) 

(1)

(1) 

101



ENOVIS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

December 31,
2022 2021

(In thousands)
Property, plant and equipment, net :

United States $ 157,897 $ 153,073 
Switzerland 41,113 47,721 
Germany 16,450 15,440 
 Mexico 6,605 4,085 
Australia 3,528 3,002 
Other foreign locations 11,148 11,792 
Total $ 236,741 $ 235,113 

As the Company does not allocate all long-lived assets (specifically intangible assets) to each individual country, evaluation of long-lived assets in total is impracticable.

(1)

(1) 
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20. Selected Quarterly Data—(unaudited)

Provided below is selected unaudited quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
 Quarter Ended

 
April 1,

2022
July 1,
2022

September 30,
2022

December 31,
2022

 (In thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $ 375,457 $ 395,117 $ 383,814 $ 408,71
Gross profit 205,900 215,906 215,824 231,75
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (38,055) 120,651 (65,949) (54,836
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes 54,356 (43,666) (527) 16,26
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing
operations - net of taxes 267 130 136 34
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued
operations - net of taxes 966 — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Enovis Corporation 15,068 76,855 (66,612) (38,603

Net income (loss) per share - basic
Continuing operations $ (0.76) $ 2.23 $ (1.22) $ (1.0
Discontinued operations $ 1.04 $ (0.81) $ (0.01) $ 0.3
Consolidated operations $ 0.28 $ 1.42 $ (1.23) $ (0.7

Net income (loss) per share - diluted
Continuing operations $ (0.76) $ 2.21 $ (1.22) $ (1.0
Discontinued operations $ 1.04 $ (0.80) $ (0.01) $ 0.3
Consolidated operations $ 0.28 $ 1.41 $ (1.23) $ (0.7

The results for the quarter ended July 1, 2022 include the impact of a $135.5 million gain on the Company’s investment in ESAB, an insurance settlement gain of $33.0
million and debt extinguishment charges of $20.1 million.
 The results for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 include the impact of a $63.1 million loss on the Company’s investment in ESAB and an $8.8 million gain on the
Company’s investment in Insight.
 The results for the quarter ended December 31, 2022 include income tax expense of $52.3 million which includes tax impacts associated with transaction costs, a $30.3
million gain on the Company’s investment in ESAB, and an insurance settlement gain of $4.6 million.

(1) (2) (3)

(1) 

(2)

(3)
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 Quarter Ended

 
April 2,

2021
July 2,
2021

October 1,
2021

December 31,
2021

 (In thousands, except per share data)
Net sales $ 311,083 $ 356,124 $ 359,923 $ 399,058 
Gross profit 171,282 200,593 197,876 207,924 
Net loss from continuing operations (31,854) (42,127) (13,578) (14,694)
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 52,094 71,829 40,435 14,173 
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from continuing
operations - net of taxes 290 355 191 216 
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest from discontinued
operations - net of taxes 876 705 818 1,170 
Net income (loss) attributable to Enovis Corporation 19,074 28,642 25,848 (1,907)

Net income (loss) per share - basic
Continuing operations $ (0.69) $ (0.83) $ (0.26) $ (0.28)
Discontinued operations $ 1.10 $ 1.39 $ 0.75 $ 0.24 
Consolidated operations $ 0.41 $ 0.56 $ 0.49 $ (0.04)

Net income (loss) per share - diluted
Continuing operations $ (0.69) $ (0.83) $ (0.26) $ (0.28)
Discontinued operations $ 1.10 $ 1.39 $ 0.75 $ 0.24 
Consolidated operations $ 0.40 $ 0.56 $ 0.49 $ (0.04)

The results for the quarter ended July 2, 2021 include a $29.9 million impact from debt extinguishment charges.

(1)

(1) 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2022. Based
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report on Form 10-K,
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective in providing reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)) identified in connection with the evaluation
required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the period covered by this report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Enovis Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

(i)    pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s
assets;

(ii)    provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with the authorization of management and directors of the Company; and

(iii)    provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with existing policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on this assessment, our
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is engaged to express an opinion on our internal control over financial reporting, as stated in its report,
which is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K under the caption “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm—Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting.”
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Item 9B. Other Information
None

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our Executive Officers is set forth in Part I of this Form 10-K under the caption “Information About Our Executive Officers”.
Additional information regarding our Directors, Audit Committee and, if required, compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act is incorporated by
reference to such information included in our proxy statement for our 2023 annual meeting to be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal
year covered by this Form 10-K (the “2023 Proxy Statement”).

As part of our system of corporate governance, our Board of Directors has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all employees, including our principal
executive officer, our principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or other persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code of ethics is
available on the Corporate Governance page of the Investor Relations section of our website at www.enovis.com. We intend to satisfy any disclosure
requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of our code of ethics by posting such information on our
website at the address above.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information responsive to this item is incorporated by reference to such information included in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information responsive to this item is incorporated by reference to such information included in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information responsive to this item is incorporated by reference to such information included in our 2023 Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information responsive to this item is incorporated by reference to such information included in our 2023 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(A)    The following documents are filed as part of this report.

(1) Financial Statements. The financial statements are set forth under Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report on
Form 10-K.

(2) Schedules. An index of Exhibits and Schedules begins on page 109 of this report. Schedules other than those listed have been omitted from this
Annual Report because they are not required, are not applicable or the required information is included in the financial statements or the notes
thereto.

(3) Exhibits: See exhibits listed under Part (B) below.

(B)    Exhibits.
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, SUPPLEMENTARY DATA AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

Schedule:  Page Number in Form
10-K

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 116

EXHIBIT INDEX

Explanatory Note: On April 4, 2022, the Company changed its corporate name from “Colfax Corporation” to “Enovis Corporation”. References to
“the Company” in the exhibit index below refer to “Colfax Corporation” with respect to periods prior to the date of the name change, and to Enovis
Corporation with respect to periods after the date of the name change.

Exhibit
 No.

  
 Description

  
 Location

2.1 Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated April 4, 2022,
between the Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022.

2.2 Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2017, by and
between the Company and CIRCOR International, Inc.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on September 25,
2017

2.3 Equity and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 15,
2019, by and among the Company, the entities set forth on
Schedule I-A thereto, Granite Holdings US Acquisition Co.
International, Inc. and Brilliant 3047, GmbH

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 17, 2019

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.01 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on January 30,
2012

3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Company

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Form 8-
K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8,2022

3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.02 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on December 15,
2022

4.1  Specimen Common Stock Certificate  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Form S-
1 (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on May 1, 2008

4.2 Description of Securities registered under Section 12 of the
Exchange Act

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.1  2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan*  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
S-1 (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on April 23, 2008

10.2  2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended and restated April 2,
2012*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.07 to the Company’s Form
10-Q (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on August 7,
2012

10.3 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to the Company’s Form
10-Q (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on July 28, 2016

10.4  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for officers *  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.5 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for officers
with retirement provision *

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

109

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000119312522100359/d284834dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000156761917002049/s001898x1_ex2-1.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000119312519150551/d746282dex21.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000134100412000124/ex3-01.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000119312522100359/d284834dex31.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000142080015000025/exhibit302colfaxcorporatio.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000119312508098023/dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000142080020000005/exhibit48descriptionof.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000119312508087272/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000114420412043169/v315386_ex10-07.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000142080016000073/exhibit1001colfaxcorporati.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000142080017000004/exhibit105formofnon-qualif.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420800/000142080020000005/exhibit106formofnon-qu.htm


Exhibit
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10.6 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-

officers *
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.7 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for non-
officers with retirement provision*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.8  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement*  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.9 Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement with retirement
provision*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

 10.10 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.11 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement with retirement
provisions*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.12  Form of Outside Director Deferred Stock Unit Agreement*  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.13  Form of Outside Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (no
deferral)*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.14  Form of Outside Director Deferred Stock Unit Agreement for
deferral of grants of restricted stock *

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.15  Form of Outside Director Deferred Stock Unit Agreement for
deferral of director fees*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.16  Form of Outside Director Non-Qualified Stock Option
Agreement*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 14,
2017

10.17 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.18 First Amendment to 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on June 13, 2022

10.19 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement – Chief
Executive Officer (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.20 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement – Officer (w/
Retirement) (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.21 Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement – Outside
Director (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.22 Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement – Chief Executive
Officer (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.23 Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement – Officer (w/
Retirement) (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020
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10.24 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement – Chief Executive
Officer (2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.25 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement – Officer (w/ Retirement)
(2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.26 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement – Outside Director
(2020 Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on May 27, 2020

10.27 Form of Retention Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (2020
Plan)*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-3405) as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021

10.28  Amended and Restated Excess Benefit Plan, effective as of
January 1, 2013*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 19,
2013

10.29 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Excess Benefit
Plan, dated December 12, 2018*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.30 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, as effective January
1, 2016*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 16,
2016

10.31 Amendment No. 1 to Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan, effective as of February 13, 2017*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.32 Amendment No. 2 to Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan, dated December 12, 2018*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 24,
2020

10.33 Amendment No. 3 to Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan, effective as of December 1, 2020*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 22,
2022

10.34 Amendment No. 4 to Nonqualified Deferred Compensation
Plan, effective as of January 1, 2022*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File. No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 22,
2022

10.35 Employment Agreement between Matthew L. Trerotola and the
Company*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on July 23, 2015

10.36  Retirement Transition Agreement, dated December 31, 2022,
between the Company and Christopher Hix*

 Filed herewith

10.37  Employment Agreement between the Company and Daniel A.
Pryor*

 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.04 to the Company’s Form
10-Q (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on August 7,
2012

10.38 Letter Agreement between the Company and Phillip Benjamin
Berry, dated December 31, 2022*

Filed herewith

10.39 Employment Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2016, by
and between DJO Global, Inc. and Brady Shirley*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 19,
2021

10.40 Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and
each of its directors and executive officers*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form
S-1 (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on May 1, 2008

10.41 Form of Change in Control Agreement* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.01 to the Company’s Form
10-Q (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on October 29,
2020
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10.42 Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated April 3, 2020* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 9, 2020

10.43 Executive Officer Severance Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to the Company’s Form
10-Q (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on July 23, 2015

10.44 Director Deferred Compensation Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Form
S-1 (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on April 23, 2008

10.45 Amendment No. 1 to the Director Deferred Compensation
Plan*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on February 16,
2018

10.46 Credit Agreement, dated April 4, 2022, by and among the
Company, as the lead borrower, certain subsidiaries of the
Company identified therein as guarantors, each of the lenders
from time to time party thereto, Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Goldman
Sachs Bank USA, Citizens Bank, N.A., BNP Paribas, Bank of
Montreal and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as co-
syndication agents, and joint bookrunners and joint lead
arrangers named therein

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.47 Transition Services Agreement, dated April 4, 2022, between
the Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.48 Tax Matters Agreement, dated April 4, 2022, between the
Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.49 Employee Matters Agreement, dated April 4, 2022, between
the Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.50 Intellectual Property Matters Agreement, dated April 4, 2022,
between the Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.51 Registration Rights Agreement, dated May 30, 2003, by and
among the Company, Colfax Capital Corporation, Janalia
Corporation, Equity Group Holdings, L.L.C., and Mitchell P.
Rales and Steven M. Rales

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form
S-1 (File 333-148486) as filed with the SEC on March 11, 2008

10.52 Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Rights Agreement, by
and among the Company and Mitchell P. Rales and Steven M.
Rales, dated February 18, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 19,
2013

10.53 Amendment No. 2 to the Registration Rights Agreement, by
and among the Company and Mitchell P. Rales and Steven M.
Rales, dated February 15, 2016

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 16,
2016

10.54 Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Rights Agreement, by
and among the Company and Mitchell P. Rales and Steven M.
Rales, dated February 21, 2019

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 21,
2019

10.55 Amendment No. 4 to the Registration Rights Agreement, by
and among the Company and Mitchell P. Rales and Steven M.
Rales, dated February 21, 2022

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the Company’s Form
10-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on February 22,
2022
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10.56 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2012,
between the Company and Mitchell P. Rales

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.02 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on January 30,
2012

10.57 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2012,
between the Company and Steven M. Rales

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.03 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on January 30,
2012

10.58 EBS License Agreement, dated April 4, 2022, between the
Company and ESAB Corporation

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-34045) as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2022

10.59 Retention Agreement, dated March 5, 2021, by and between the
Company and Matthew Trerotola*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-3405) as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021

10.60 Retention Agreement, dated March 5, 2021, by and between the
Company and Christopher Hix*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-3405) as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021

10.61 Retention Agreement, dated March 5, 2021, by and between the
Company and Daniel Pryor*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-3405) as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021

10.62 Retention Agreement, dated March 5, 2021, by and between the
Company and Brady Shirley*

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form
8-K (File No. 001-3405) as filed with the SEC on March 5, 2021

10.63 Retention Agreement, dated March 5, 2021, by and between the
Company and Patricia Lang*

Filed herewith

10.64 Letter Agreement between the Company and Patricia Lang,
dated December 17, 2018*

Filed herewith

21.1 Subsidiaries of registrant Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Filed herewith
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-

14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-
14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document Filed herewith
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed herewith
101.CAL Inline XBRL Extension Calculation Linkbase Document Filed herewith
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

Document
Filed herewith

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document Filed herewith
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101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document

Filed herewith

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page from this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 is formatted in Inline XBRL (included as
Exhibit 101).

Filed herewith

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

114



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 1, 2023.

                                    ENOVIS CORPORATION

                                    By: /s/ MATTHEW L. TREROTOLA
                                     Matthew L. Trerotola
                                     Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Date:     March 1, 2023

/s/ MATTHEW L. TREROTOLA
Matthew L. Trerotola
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ PHILLIP B. BERRY
Phillip B. Berry
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ JOHN KLECKNER
John Kleckner
Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ MITCHELL P. RALES
Mitchell P. Rales
Chairman of the Board

/s/ BRADY R. SHIRLEY
Brady R. Shirley
President and Director

/s/ DR. CHRISTINE ORTIZ
Dr. Christine Ortiz
Director

/s/ ANGELA S. LALOR
Angela S. Lalor
Director

/s/ LIAM J. KELLY
Liam J. Kelly
Director

/s/ A. CLAYTON PERFALL
A. Clayton Perfall
Director

/s/ BARBARA BODEM
Barbara Bodem
Director

/s/ RAJIV VINNAKOTA
Rajiv Vinnakota
Director

/s/ SHARON L. WIENBAR
Sharon L. Wienbar
Director

/s/ PHILIP OKALA
Philip Okala
Director
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ENOVIS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II–VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at
 Beginning
 of Period

Charged to Cost
and

 Expense

Charged to
Other

 Accounts

Write-Offs Write-
Downs and

 Deductions

Foreign
 Currency
 Translation

Balance at
 End of

 Period

(Dollars in thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2022:

Allowance for credit losses $ 6,589 $ 2,552 $ — $ (963) $ (213) $ 7,965 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 111,812 (12,126) 537 — (6,681) 93,542 

Year Ended December 31, 2021:
Allowance for credit losses 6,849 1,040 — (1,245) (55) 6,589 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 112,129 (4,496) 1,352 2,827 — 111,812 

Year Ended December 31, 2020:
Allowance for credit losses 4,758 3,376 — (1,718) 433 6,849 
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 83,931 (20,327) 48,525 — — 112,129 

Amounts charged to expense are net of recoveries for the respective period.
Represent fair value adjustments related to acquisitions, as well as amounts charged to Goodwill and reclassifications to deferred tax asset accounts.
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December 31, 2022

Mr. Christopher M. Hix
[Address on file with the Company]

Re:    CFO Retirement Transition Agreement

Dear Chris:

This Transition and Retirement Agreement (this “Agreement”) sets forth the understanding between you and Enovis
Corporation (the “Company”) regarding your continued employment as Chief Financial Officer of the Company and your planned
retirement and transition. On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, I want to thank you for your years of leadership as
Chief Financial Officer and your willingness to provide continued service as a Special Advisor.

1. Retirement from Position as Chief Financial Officer and Continued Service as Special Advisor

(a)Your service as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company will continue until
December 31, 2022. After your successor assumes the role of CFO on January 1, 2023, you will continue to be employed by
the Company and serve as a Special Advisor to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”). As Special Advisor,
you will be based out of your South Carolina home, will report to me, and agree to make yourself reasonably available to
provide transitional employment services to the Company. Such services will include assistance with respect to transition of
your existing employment responsibilities to your successor, providing support and guidance to the CEO and new CFO, and
such other related duties as reasonably requested by the Company.

(b)Retirement Date. Your service as an employee with the Company will end on December 31, 2023 (the “Retirement Date”).

2. Compensation

(a) Salary. From January 1, 2023 until the Retirement Date (the “Transition Period”), you receive an annual base salary of
$300,000, payable in accordance with the Company’s regular payroll cycle.

(b) Annual Bonus. The execution of this Agreement will not affect your eligibility to receive an annual bonus for 2022, which
will be paid based on actual performance when 2022 bonuses are generally paid to senior executives of the Company subject
to and in accordance with the terms of the Company’s annual incentive plan. You will not be eligible to receive a bonus for
fiscal year 2023.



(c) Long-Term Incentive and Equity Awards. All of your outstanding long-term incentive awards, including stock options,
restricted stock, and performance-based restricted stock units will continue to vest, be earned and be payable (and, for stock
options, be exercisable) subject to and in accordance with their current terms. You will not receive any further equity or
long-term incentive cash awards under the Company’s long-term incentive plans.

(d) Benefit Plans and Programs. During the Transition Period, subject to your continued service, you will continue to remain
eligible to participate in the Company employee benefit plans and programs in which you currently participate on the same
terms and conditions as other senior executives of the Company.

(e) Existing Severance Entitlements. You and the Company agree that your voluntary retirement does not constitute “Good
Reason”, as such term is defined under your Employment Letter Agreement, and accordingly does not entitle you to any
additional severance benefits thereunder.

3. Ongoing Obligations and Other Terms

(a)Ongoing Obligations. You agree and acknowledge that your non-solicitation covenants and obligations under the final
paragraph of your Employment Letter Agreement will continue in accordance with their terms, and that the restrictions
imposed by such covenants and obligations are reasonable in both duration and scope.

(b) Tax Withholding. The Company may withhold from any and all amounts payable under this Agreement such federal, state
and local taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(c) Governing Law. The validity, interpretation, construction, and performance of this Agreement will be governed by the laws
of the State of Delaware without regard to its conflicts of law principles. You and the Company agree that any suit, action or
other legal proceeding that is commenced to resolve any matter arising under or relating to any provision of this Agreement
will be commenced only in a court of the State of Delaware (or, if appropriate, a federal court located within the State of
Delaware), and the parties consent to the jurisdiction of such court. You and the Company accept the exclusive jurisdiction
and venue of those courts for the purpose of any such suit, action or proceeding. You and the Company each hereby
irrevocably waive any right to a trial by jury in any action, suit or other legal proceeding arising under or relating to any
provision of this Agreement.

(d)Severability; Counterparts. The provisions of this Agreement will be deemed severable, and the invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision will not affect the validity or enforceability of the other provisions hereof. This Agreement
may be executed in several counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original but all of which together will
constitute one and the same instruments.



(e) Section 409A of the Code. This Agreement is intended to comply with or be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (“Section 409A”) with respect to amounts, if any, subject thereto and shall be
interpreted, construed and performed consistent with such intent. If and to the extent that any payment under this Agreement
is determined by the Company to constitute “non-qualified deferred compensation” subject to Section 409A (because a
payment is not a “short-term deferral” and not an involuntary severance payment under Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii))
and that is payable to you by reason of your termination of employment, then (1) such payment or benefit shall be made or
provided to you only upon a “separation from service” as defined for purposes of Section 409A under applicable regulations
and (2) if you are a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Section 409A and as determined by the Company), such
payment will not be made or provided before the date that is six months after the date of your separation from service (or
your earlier death or a change in ownership or effective control within the meaning of Section 409A). To the extent
applicable, each payment under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A.

***

Thank you again for your years of dedicated leadership, your many contributions and your continued service to the Company.

[Remainder of page left intentionally blank]



To indicate agreement with the foregoing, please sign and return this Agreement to me.

                        On behalf of the Company:

                            By: /s/ Matthew L. Trerotola

                            Name: Matthew L. Trerotola

                            Title: Chief Executive Officer

Accepted and agreed:

/s/ Christopher M. Hix

Name: Christopher M. Hix

Date: December 31, 2022



 

December 31, 2022

Mr. Phillip Benjamin (Ben) Berry
Via Email

Strictly private and confiden�al

Dear Ben,

Congratula�ons! We are very pleased to offer you a promo�on to the posi�on of Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Enovis
Corpora�on, repor�ng directly to me. This offer has been approved by the Compensa�on and Human Capital Management Commi�ee of the
Board of Directors.

We look forward to having you as a part of our execu�ve leadership team, adding your skills, experiences and talent to our group. We believe
Enovis is the type of organiza�on that has the vision, culture and opportuni�es to further your career success and a tremendous opportunity
to build long-term wealth in the growth and profitability of Enovis.

Date of Appointment    Your appointment is effec�ve on January 1, 2023.

Base Salary    Your annual salary will be US $500,000 payable bi-weekly. You will be eligible for an annual merit increase based on benchmark
and company merit increase guidelines, beginning in March 2024.

Annual Cash Bonus    You will be eligible to par�cipate in our Management Incen�ve Compensa�on Plan (MIP) with a target annual MIP bonus
payout of 75% of your base salary. The actual MIP payout is based on the achievement of Enovis financial
performance against pre-set threshold, target, and maximum levels (the “financial factor”), as well as your
individual performance factor, which is a mul�plier that ranges from 0 to 1.5 �mes the financial factor. The
maximum payout is 250% of target.

Equity Awards    You will be eligible for annual equity grants star�ng in 2023 based on your posi�on and performance in accordance with our
equity guidelines. The current target for your posi�on is $1,200,000. The effec�ve grant date is expected to be in
February at the same �me as the Enovis annual grant process occurs. Annual equity awards are currently
delivered in a combina�on of stock op�ons, restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units, as
determined from �me to �me by the Compensa�on and Human Capital Management Commi�ee.

The terms and condi�ons of equity awards will be in accordance with the Enovis' 2020 Omnibus Incen�ve Plan
or successor plan.

401(k)    You will con�nue to be eligible to par�cipate in the Enovis 401(k) Savings Plan Plus with matching contribu�ons. Enovis matches
100% of the first 4% that you contribute, and these matching contribu�ons vest immediately.

NQ Deferred Comp    You will have the opportunity to defer up to 50% of base salary and 75% bonus in the nonqualified deferred
compensa�on and op�mize the company matching contribu�on above the IRS thresholds in 401(k). Enovis
matches 100% of the first 4% that you contribute, and these matching contribu�ons vest immediately.



Health Benefits    You and your family will con�nue to be eligible to par�cipate in the health & welfare benefits including medical, dental,
vision, short term and long-term disability, life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance.

Perquisites    You will be eligible for a reimbursement of up to $10,000 annually for financial planning and tax prepara�on expenses on your
behalf.

Vaca�on & Holidays    You will be eligible for four weeks of vaca�on, plus four floa�ng holidays and any company-paid holidays.
Number of floa�ng holidays is determined annually.

Severance    You are eligible for the current Enovis Execu�ve Officer Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”). However, notwithstanding any
provision to the contrary in the Severance Plan, in the event your employment is terminated involuntarily, not for
cause, you will instead receive one �mes your current base salary and one �mes your target annual bonus.

 
    In the event your employment is terminated within two years a�er a Change in Control, your severance benefit will be determined in

accordance with the Company’s Change in Control Agreement for execu�ve officers, which you will enter into in
with the Company on the date of your appointment as Chief Financial Officer.

Restric�ve Covenants    The confiden�ality, non-compete, non-solicita�on and other covenants contained in your exis�ng Confiden�ality,
Intellectual Property, Non-Compe��on and Non-Solicita�on Agreement, dated March 10, 2020, that you entered
into upon the commencement of your employment with DJO, LLC will remain in effect, and by signing this le�er
below, you hereby acknowledge that you are in receipt of such agreement.



Ben, we also want to confirm that your employment is “at will”. This means that your employment is for no definite period of �me, and either
you or the company may terminate your employment at any �me, with or without cause or no�ce.

Congratula�ons again on your promo�on. I look forward to working together as we take the business to the next level of growth and success!

Sincerely,    ACKNOWLEGED & ACCEPTED:

    /s/ Ma�hew L. Trerotola

Ma�hew L. Trerotola                /s/ Phillip B. Berry        12/31/2022
Chief Execu�ve Officer    Phillip Benjamin (Ben) Berry    Date Enovis Corpora�on



March 5, 2021

Patricia Lang
 420 National Business Parkway

5  Floor
Annapolis Junction, MD 20701

Re: Retention Agreement

Dear Patty:

In light of the strategic decision Colfax Corporation (“Colfax”) has made to separate its ESAB and DJO businesses into two
independent, publicly-traded companies (the “Transaction”), Colfax considers your continued services to be essential to protecting
and enhancing the best interests of Colfax and its stockholders. For this reason Colfax would like to extend the following offer to
you, in order to encourage your continued employment during the period prior, and immediately following the completion of the
Transaction. Except as otherwise provided in this Retention Agreement, your acceptance of this offer (the “Retention Agreement”)
shall rescind and replace all prior and contemporaneous understandings, discussions, agreements, representations, and warranties,
both written and oral, with respect to any retention payment or benefit; provided, however, that this Retention Agreement shall not
supersede any other agreements between Colfax and you, and any employment letter, severance agreement, change in control
agreement, and/or restrictive covenant agreement to which you and Colfax are a party shall remain in full force and effect. Further,
this Retention Agreement does not supersede or effect your ability for benefits under any severance plan.

1.    Retention Bonus.    In the event that you remain employed with Colfax or a Successor through the twelve (12) month
anniversary of the (i) consummation of the Transaction or (ii) End Date in the event that the Transaction is not consummated on or
before the End Date (either, the “Retention Date”), subject to the conditions provided in this Retention Agreement, then you shall
receive a payment of $765,000 (your “Retention Bonus”), less applicable withholdings, to be paid in a lump-sum on the first regular
payroll following the earlier of the six (6) month anniversary of (i) the consummation of the Transaction or (ii) the End Date (either,
the “Payment Date”), subject to any applicable requirements of Internal Revenue Code §409A. However, in the event that you
receive the Retention Bonus but, prior to the Retention Date, (y) your employment is terminated by you without Good Reason or
without mutual consent by Colfax or a Successor or (z) Colfax or a Successor terminates your employment for Cause, then you will
be required to repay fifty percent (50%) of the Retention Bonus, less applicable withholdings (the “Repayment Amount”) to Colfax
or a Successor, within thirty (30) days following your separation from employment with Colfax or a Successor. You agree that
Colfax or a Successor may deduct the Repayment Amount from any compensation or expenses owed to you.

2.    Payment of Retention Bonus Upon Termination. In the event that, prior to the Payment Date, (a) your employment is
terminated by you with Good Reason after the consummation of the Transaction or with mutual consent by Colfax or a Successor,
(b) Colfax or a Successor terminates your employment without Cause, or (c) upon your death, then Colfax

th
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shall pay you (or your estate) the Retention Bonus, less applicable withholdings, to be paid in a lump-sum within sixty (60) days
following your separation from employment. The payment of the Retention Bonus pursuant to this paragraph 2 shall be subject to
and conditioned upon you (or your estate) delivering to Colfax or a Successor an executed copy of a general release of any and all
claims you may have against Colfax or a Successor, its successors, assigns, affiliates, employees, officers, and directors, in form and
substance satisfactory to Colfax or a Successor (the “Release”), the revocation period required by applicable law expiring without
your revocation of the Release, and the Release becoming effective, enforceable, and irrevocable in accordance with its terms on or
before the 60th day after the date of termination of employment.

3.    Restricted Stock Unit Grant.    Prior to April 30, 2021, Colfax will grant you an additional 9,292 Restricted Stock Units
that will vest ratably over the three-year period from the date of grant (the “Retention Units”) and will be subject to the terms and
conditions of the Colfax 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan and applicable award agreement thereunder. This grant will be subject to you
executing the award agreement and being employed by Colfax or a Successor on the date of grant.

4.    Equity.     In connection with the Transaction and in accordance with the agreements related thereto, all outstanding
awards of Colfax equity held by you will be adjusted in accordance with the terms of the applicable long-term incentive
compensation plan and applicable law. Performance Stock Units that are unvested and outstanding on the date of the consummation
of the Transaction will either (i) be earned at target if the performance period is less than fifty percent (50%) complete as of the
Transaction date or (ii) be earned at the then current performance (as of the Transaction date) if the performance period is fifty
percent (50%) or more complete as of that date. Performance Stock Units will not fully vest until the end of the applicable
performance period. In the event that (a) your employment is terminated by you with Good Reason after the consummation of the
Transaction or with mutual consent by Colfax or a Successor, (b) Colfax or a Successor terminates your employment without Cause,
or (c) upon your death, then, subject to your execution and non-revocation of a Release, (A) all unvested Non-Qualified Stock
Options and unvested Restricted Stock Units will immediately become one hundred percent (100%) vested, and (B) you (or your
estate) will be eligible to continue to vest all outstanding Performance Stock Units as if you were still employed by Colfax or a
Successor.

5.    Early Termination Provisions. You further understand that this Retention Agreement shall immediately terminate (an
“Early Termination without a Retention Benefit”), and Colfax shall be relieved of any obligation to provide the Retention Bonus or
the Retention Units (to the extent they have not already been granted) to you or your estate if, except as otherwise provided in this
Retention Agreement, any of the following occurs prior to the Payment Date:

i. you voluntarily terminate your employment with Colfax or a Successor, except for a termination for Good Reason that
occurs after the date of the Transaction or with mutual consent by Colfax or a Successor;

ii. your employment is terminated by Colfax or a Successor as a result of your refusal to accept employment in a new or
different position with Colfax or a Successor, except if such change in position would give rise to you having Good Reason
to terminate your employment that occurs after the date of the Transaction;

iii. you violate the confidentiality provisions contained in this Retention Agreement; or
iv. Colfax or a Successor terminates your employment for Cause.

    Page 2 of #NUM_PAGES#
010-9177-6020/1/AMERICAS

 



6.    Termination of Retention Agreement. This Retention Agreement shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the twelve (12)
month anniversary of the date the Transaction is consummated; (ii) the date on which an Early Termination without a Retention
Benefit occurs; or, (iii) if the Transaction has not been consummated prior to the End Date, the twelve (12) month anniversary of the
End Date; provided, however, that the confidentiality provisions of this Retention Agreement shall survive the termination of this
Retention Agreement.

7.    Assignment. You understand and agree that Colfax shall assign this Retention Agreement to any successor in interest to
Colfax, whether by merger, reorganization, acquisition, sale or otherwise, to which you become employed (a “Successor”), and
thereby require such Successor to expressly assume and agree to perform this Retention Agreement.

8.    Employment. This Retention Agreement does not, in any way, constitute a contract or agreement guaranteeing your
continued employment. Colfax reserves the right to terminate your employment at any time, with or without Cause or notice.

9.    Confidentiality. You agree that you shall keep the terms of this Retention Agreement completely confidential, and that
you shall not disclose any information concerning this Retention Agreement to anyone except your immediate family, financial
advisor and/or attorney, each of whom shall be required to agree in advance to keep this information confidential and not disclose it
to others.

10.    Change in Control Agreement. You agree that for purposes of any Change in Control Agreement to which you are a
party with Colfax, a “Change in Control” as defined in such agreement shall not be deemed to have occurred by virtue of the
consummation of the Transaction and such Change in Control Agreement will remain in effect in accordance with its terms after
consummation of the Transaction.

11.    Modification. This Retention Agreement may be modified or amended only by a writing signed by both parties.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Colfax may unilaterally change the definition of the End Date by providing written notice to you at
any time prior to the End Date.

12.    Governing Law. This Retention Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the substantive
laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws, except to the extent governed by federal law in
which case federal law shall govern.

13.    Definitions. For purposes of this Retention Agreement, the term:

“Cause” means you shall have committed: (i) an intentional act of fraud, embezzlement or theft in connection with your
duties or in the course of your employment with Colfax; (ii) intentional wrongful damage to property of Colfax or a Successor; (iii)
intentional wrongful disclosure of secret processes or confidential information of Colfax or a Successor; (iv) an act or
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omission resulting in conviction of a criminal offense (other than minor traffic offenses); (v) intentional wrongful engagement in
any competitive activity which would constitute a material breach of the duty of loyalty; or (vi) any such act which shall have been
materially harmful to Colfax or a Successor taken as a whole.

“End Date” shall mean December 31, 2022.

“Good Reason” shall be defined as (i) a material reduction in the nature or scope of the responsibilities or duties attached to
the position or positions with Colfax which you held immediately prior to entering into this Retention Agreement, a material
reduction in the aggregate of your base salary and incentive pay opportunity to which you were entitled immediately prior to
entering into this Retention Agreement or the termination of your rights to any material employee benefits to which you were
entitled immediately prior to the entering into this Retention Agreement or a material reduction in scope or value thereof without
your prior written consent; (ii) Colfax or a Successor (whichever you are employed by) shall relocate its principal executive offices,
or Colfax or a Successor shall require you to have your assigned principal location of work changed, to any location which shall be
in excess of fifty (50) miles from the location thereof immediately prior to entering into this Retention Agreement or Colfax or a
Successor shall require you to travel away from your office in the course of discharging your responsibilities or duties significantly
more (in terms of either consecutive days or aggregate days in any calendar year) than was required of you prior to you entering
into this Retention Agreement without, in either case, your prior written consent; or (iii) without limiting the generality of or the
effect of the foregoing, any material breach of this Retention Agreement by Colfax or a Successor; provided, that Good Reason
shall not exist unless and until you provide Colfax or a Successor with written notice of the act(s) alleged to constitute Good Reason
within thirty (30) calendar days of the occurrence of such act(s) and describing such act(s) in reasonably sufficient detail to allow
Colfax or a Successor to cure the act(s), and Colfax or a Successor fails to cure such act(s) within thirty (30) calendar days of
receipt of such notice. Further, you must then exercise your right to terminate your employment for Good Reason within sixty (60)
calendar days thereafter, in order for the termination to be for Good Reason.

If you agree with the foregoing, please sign and date this Retention Agreement in the space provided for your signature, and
return a signed copy to Brad Tandy prior to March 12, 2021.

We look forward to your continued employment with Colfax.
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                        Sincerely,

                        Colfax Corporation

By: /s/ Matthew L. Trerotola
Name: Matthew L. Trerotola
Title: President and Chief Executive

Officer

Agreed to and accepted by:

/s/ Patricia Lang

Name: Patricia Lang
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December 14, 2018

Ms. Pa�y Lang Via Email

Strictly private and confiden�al

Dear Pa�y,

Congratula�ons! We are very pleased to extend you an employment offer for the posi�on of Chief Human Resource Officer and Senior Vice
President, Colfax Corpora�on, repor�ng to Ma�hew Trerotola, President and CEO, Colfax Corpora�on. This offer has been approved by the Board

of Directors and is valid un�l December 31st, 2018.

We look forward to having you as a part of our team, adding your skills, experiences and talent to our group. We believe Colfax is the type of
organiza�on that has the vision, culture and opportuni�es to further your career success and a tremendous opportunity to build long-term
wealth in the growth and profitability of Colfax.

Date of Employment    We an�cipate that you will begin employment by 21 January 2019.

Base Salary    Your star�ng annual salary will be US $440,000 payable bi-weekly. You will be eligible for an annual merit increase based on
benchmark and company merit increase guidelines, effec�ve April 1, 2020.

Annual Cash Bonus    You will be eligible to par�cipate in our Management Incen�ve Compensa�on Plan (MIP) with a target of 65% of your
base salary. The actual MIP payout is based on the achievement of Colfax financial performance against pre-set
threshold, target, and maximum and your individual performance factor of up to 1.5 �mes the financial factor.
The maximum payout is 250% of target. Your 2019 MIP award will be pro-rated for a par�al year of employment
based on your start date.

Equity Awards    You will be provided a new hire equity award of $650,000. The effec�ve grant date will be in February at the same �me as the
Colfax annual grant process occurs.

The grant will follow the 2019 approved alloca�on and ves�ng for execu�ve officers: 50% in stock op�ons to be
vested 33% on the 1st – 3rd anniversaries of grant and 50% in performance-based restricted stock units with 100%
ves�ng on the 3rd anniversary of grant if earned. If the threshold performance is achieved in the performance
period, you are eligible to vest in 50% of the units according to the ves�ng schedule. If the threshold performance
is not met within the performance period, all the units will be forfeited.
Performance over threshold will result in ves�ng units against a linear payout formula up to 200% of the target
number of units with a limit of 400% total value as compared to target value. The 400% cap is determined by the
number of units earned �mes the stock

Colfax Corpora�on
2711 Centerville Road Suite 400

Wilmington, DE 19808 colfaxcorp.com
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price at ves�ng divided by the original value of the grant. There is a one-year hold on sale of 50% of the net a�er
tax shares delivered at ves�ng.

The strike price of the stock op�ons will be determined by the Fair Market Value of Colfax Corpora�on common
stock on the effec�ve date of the grant a�er you start with Colfax. Op�ons are valued based on Black Scholes
model for your grant date prepared by management. Specific numbers of performance-based restricted stock will
be determined based on the accoun�ng valua�on at the �me of grant.

In addi�on, you will be eligible for future annual equity grants star�ng in 2020 based on your posi�on and
performance in accordance with our equity guidelines. The current target for your posi�on is $650,000. Annual
equity awards are currently delivered in 50% stock op�ons and 50% performance-based restricted stock units.

The terms and condi�ons of equity awards will be in accordance with the Colfax's 2016 Omnibus Incen�ve Plan
or successor plan. You will receive a copy of our equity brochure including illustra�on.

401(k)    You will have the opportunity to par�cipate in the Colfax 401(k) Savings Plan Plus with matching contribu�ons. Colfax matches 100%
of the first 4% that you contribute, and these matching contribu�ons vest immediately. In addi�on, at its
discre�on, Colfax will make non-elec�ve contribu�ons of 2% into your account. These non-elec�ve
contribu�ons vest over five years

NQ Deferred Comp    You will have the opportunity to defer up to 50% of base salary and 75% bonus in the nonqualified deferred
compensa�on and op�mize the company matching contribu�on above the IRS thresholds in 401(k). Colfax
matches 100% of the first 4% that you contribute, and these matching contribu�ons vest immediately. In
addi�on, at its discre�on, Colfax will make non-elec�ve contribu�ons of 2% into your account as long as you
contribute at least 1% of base salary. These non-elec�ve contribu�ons vest over five years

Transi�on Bonus    You will receive a transi�on bonus of US $400,000. If you resign from the company within the first two years of employment,
you are required to reimburse a prorated share of this amount based on number of months employed as a
percent of 24 months.

Reloca�on    You will be eligible for Colfax’s reloca�on managed by our reloca�on vendor Lexicon. You have two years from your hire date to
complete your reloca�on, unless an excep�on is approved. You will receive 3 months of temporary living and
household goods storage in addi�on to selling services. Part of your reloca�on is taxable and part of it is non-
taxable in accordance with IRS guidelines. Colfax does not provide gross-ups other than for customary reloca�on
expenses such as temporary living and movement of household goods per policy disclosed in the proxy. Your
gross-ups will be done at your effec�ve tax rate versus the standard 22%. Officers of the company may not
receive loans.

Colfax Corpora�on
2711 Centerville Road Suite 400
Wilmington, DE 19808
colfaxcorp.com
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Addi�onally, if you resign from the company within the first 2 years of employment, you are required to
reimburse the company for amounts paid on your behalf at a rate of 100% of the total costs paid by the company
within one year and 50% of total costs a�er that up to the end of year two. Please see our reloca�on guide for
more informa�on on the program.

Health Benefits    You and your family will be eligible to par�cipate in the health & welfare benefits including medical, dental, vision, short
term and long term disability, life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance. The benefits start on
the 1st of the month following your start date.

Perquisites    You will be eligible for a reimbursement of up to $10,000 annually for financial planning and tax prepara�on expenses on your
behalf.

Vaca�on & Holidays    You will be eligible for four weeks of vaca�on, plus three floa�ng holidays and any company-paid holidays.

Severance    You are eligible for the current Colfax Execu�ve Officer Severance Plan (the “Severance Plan”). However, notwithstanding any
provision to the contrary in the Severance Plan, in the event your employment is terminated involuntarily, not for
cause, you will instead receive one �mes your current base salary and one �mes your target annual bonus. In the
event your employment is terminated within three months before or two years a�er a Change in Control, you will
instead receive an amount equal to the severance plan benefit plus an amount equal to your current base salary
and your target annual bonus. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” means any of the following:
(a) a takeover bid (within the meaning of the Securi�es Act); (b) any consolida�on, merger or amalgama�on of the
Company with or into any other corpora�on whereby the vo�ng shareholders of the Company immediately prior
to such event receive less than 50% of the vo�ng shares of the surviving corpora�on; (c) a sale by the Company of
all or substan�ally all of the Company’s undertakings or assets; (d) a proposal by or with respect to the Company
being made in connec�on with a liquida�on, dissolu�on or winding up of the Company; (e) any reorganiza�on,
reverse stock split, transac�on, or recapitaliza�on of the Company that would result in a Change of Control as
otherwise defined herein.

Colfax Corpora�on
2711 Centerville Road Suite 400
Wilmington, DE 19808
colfaxcorp.com
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Pa�y, we also want to confirm that your employment is “at will”. This means that your employment is for no definite period of �me, and either
you or the company may terminate your employment at any �me, with or without cause or no�ce. In accordance with Colfax policy, this offer
is con�ngent upon acceptance of the confiden�ality agreement and code of conduct. You agree that during your employment, and for two
years a�er termina�on of your employment, you will not directly or indirectly, for yourself or on behalf of any other person, partnership,
company, corpora�on, or other en�ty, solicit, induce, recruit, encourage, or otherwise endeavor to cause or a�empt to cause any employee or
consultant of Colfax, or any independent contractor providing services to Colfax, to terminate his or her rela�onship with Colfax. You agree
that the harm caused to Colfax by viola�on of this provision would amount to irreparable harm jus�fying entry of a temporary restraining
order and/or a preliminary injunc�on and an award of a�orney fees to Colfax.

We look forward to having you join us. It will be an excellent opportunity to work together to take the business to the next level of growth and
success!

Sincerely,    ACKNOWLEGED & ACCEPTED:

Ma�hew L. Trerotola                /s/ Pa�y Lang            12/17/2018
President and Chief Execu�ve Officer    Pa�y Lang    Date Colfax Corpora�on

Colfax Corpora�on
2711 Centerville Road Suite 400
Wilmington, DE 19808
colfaxcorp.com



EXHIBIT 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Entity Name Jurisdiction
360 EPPA Pty Ltd Australia

360 Hip Systems Pty Limited Australia

360 Knee Systems (NZ) Limited New Zealand

360 Knee Systems Pty Ltd Australia

360 Med Care Pty Ltd Australia

Athena Finance Limited Barbados

Cefar-Compex Medical AB Sweden

Chattanooga Europe, B.V. Belgium

Colfax (Wuxi) Pump Company Limited China

Colfax Group GmbH Germany

DJ Orthopedics de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico

DJ Orthopedics Services, SA de CV Mexico

DJO Asia-Pacific Ltd. Hong Kong

DJO Benelux B.V. Belgium

DJO BRASIL LTDA. Brazil

DJO Canada Inc. Ontario

DJO Consumer, LLC Delaware

DJO FINANCE LLC Delaware

DJO France S.A.S. France

DJO Global India Healthcare Private Limited India

DJO Global Pty Ltd Australia

DJO Global Switzerland SARL Switzerland

DJO Global, Inc. Delaware

DJO Iberica Productos Ortopedicos S.L. Spain

DJO Italia SRL Italy

DJO Medical Device Trading (Shanghai) Ltd. China

DJO Motion Ireland Limited Co. Dublin

DJO Nordic Aktiebolag Sweden

DJO Tunisie SARL Tunisia

DJO UK Ltd. England and Wales

DJO, LLC Delaware

Elastic Therapy, LLC North Carolina

Empi, Inc. Minnesota

Encore Medical GP, LLC Nevada

Encore Medical Partners, LLC Nevada

Encore Medical, L.P. Delaware

Enovis Athena Limited Bermuda

Enovis Corporation Delaware

ENOVIS SERVICES KFT. Hungary

Enovis South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa

Insight Medical Systems, Inc. Delaware

KICO Knee Innovation Company Pty Limited Australia

Labindia Liteforce Private Limited India

Litecure (Shanghai), LLC China

Litecure Asia Limited Hong Kong

LiteCure LLC Delaware

LT Technology Ltd China

Mathys (Schweiz) GmbH Switzerland

Mathys AG Bettlach Switzerland



Mathys Immobilien GmbH Germany

Mathys KK Japan

Mathys Ltd. New Zealand

Mathys Medical Device Trading Co., Ltd. China

Mathys Orthopadie GmbH Germany

Mathys Orthopadie GmbH Austria

Mathys Orthopaedics Belux Belgium

Mathys Orthopaedics BV Netherlands

Mathys Orthopaedics Limited England and Wales

Mathys Orthopaedics Pty Limited Australia

Mathys Orthopedie SAS France

Mathys Ortopedia Srl Italy

Medireha GmbH Produkte f✔r die medizinische Rehabilitation Germany

MEDSHAPE, INC. Delaware

Mo Milling Pty Ltd Australia

Motion Parent, Inc. Delaware

MT Central Finance SARL Switzerland

Ormed GmbH Germany

Ortho Pros Express, Inc. North Carolina

Orthomed Medizintechnik GmbH Austria

Quantum Ops, Inc. Delaware

Rikco International LLC Wisconsin

Speetec Implantate AG Switzerland

Speetec Implantate GmbH Germany

Surgi-Care, Inc. Massachusetts

Trilliant Surgical, LLC Texas



Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-150710) pertaining to the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
(2)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-173883) pertaining to the Company’s 401(K) Savings Plan Plus,
(3)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-183115) pertaining to the Company’s 2008 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended

and restated April 2, 2012,
(4)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-211357) pertaining to the Company’s 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
(5)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-238564) pertaining to the Company’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
(6)    Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-266526) pertaining to the Company’s 2020 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended

June 7, 2022, and
(7)    Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-253236) of the Company

of our reports dated March 1, 2023, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Enovis Corporation and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Enovis Corporation included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
Enovis Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2022.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 1, 2023



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Matthew L. Trerotola, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Enovis Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 1, 2023

/s/ Matthew L. Trerotola
Matthew L. Trerotola

 President and Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Phillip B. Berry, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Enovis Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: March 1, 2023
/s/ Phillip B. Berry

Phillip B. Berry
 Senior Vice President and

 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

I, Matthew L. Trerotola, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Enovis Corporation (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2022 (the "Report"), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 1, 2023

/s/ Matthew L. Trerotola
Matthew L. Trerotola

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

I, Phillip B. Berry, as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Enovis Corporation (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 (as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002), that to my knowledge:

1. the annual report on Form 10-K of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2022 (the "Report"), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 1, 2023
/s/ Phillip B. Berry

Phillip B. Berry
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


